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KPls

22. |

VISITORS -67.0%
REVENUE

Reported growth -63.9%
Like for like growth -64.2%

GUEST SATISFACTION

This is based on guest satisfaction surveys; our arget

is a score over 0%, Woe are proud that we maintained

the same high score of $4% as in 2019, despitc having

e introduce a number of measures in respect of socia!

distancing and other COVID-19 related safety
protocols, to help lkeep our guests safe, See more on
page 7.

How we report our results

ANMNUAL REPCGR™ AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Details on the period under review and the performance measures used are set out in the Financial and
Operating Review on page [5. Terms used throughout this document are defined in the Glossary on pages

9% o 100.

During 2019 Merlin disposed of its Australian ski resorts, which have been accounted for as discontinued
operations. Within this document the figures shown below for 2019 therefore reflect the continuing
operations of the Group excluding the ski fields. The Group alsc adopted IFRS {6 in that year, the new
accounting standard for leasing. adopting the ‘fully retrospective’ approach. Both years are therefore

reported under IFRS 16,

£(319)n

UNBERLYING
OPERATING LOSS

Reported growth -193.2%

HEALTH AND SAFETY

In 2020 we helped lead the location based
entertainment industry in implementing new
measures to enable us to trade safely during the
COVID-19 pandemic. The Medical Treatment Case
(MTC) rate captures the rate of guest injuries
requiring externaf medical treatment relative 1o
10,000 guest visitations. This key measure remained
constant with 2019 and is an improvement on 2018
See more on pages 23 to 24,

£(426)n

TOTAL
OPERATING LOSS

£(648)n

" EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

~ Weare proud of our global team of employees and

i now. more than ever, employee engagement

! continues to be ocne of the key elements of our

* business model. In 2020 we relaunched the

¢ "MyMerlin’ intranet and introduced a fortnightiy

company digital newsletter, which provide digital

. content including the latest reassuring health and

. safety information, updates from senior leaders and

. celebratory content from our atwractions, to help

' ensure our glabal teams cantinue to feel engaged
and connected with the business.

In 2020. as a result of COVID-19 related closures,
many of our staff were on furlough and therefore
we did not run cur annual employee engagement
survey that for many years showed results
consistently above our target score of being over
80% (2019 87%, 2018. 86%). In 2021 we look
forward to new engagement and feedback tools
being launched See more on page 22,
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A GLOBAL LEADER IN LOCATION
BASED, FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT

MERLIN IS EUROPE'S NUMBER ONE AND THE WORLD'S SECOND-LARGEST
VISITOR ATTRACTION OPERATOR AND OPERATES 129 ATTRACTIONS.
21 HOTELS AND SIX HOLIDAY VILLAGES IN 24 COUNTRIES AND ACROSS

FOUR CONTINENTS.

Qur vision
Our purpose

Qur strategy

To be the global leader in location based enterminment by number of visitors.
To deliver memorzble experiences to our millions of visitors,

Merlin's strategy since its inception in 1999 has been to create a high growth, high return farmily entertainment company based on strong

brands and a globat portfolio that is naturally balanced against the impact of external factors.

Merlin operates two distnct types of visitor attraction, organised into three
Operating Groups.

Midway Attractions are high quality, branded, predominantly indaor
attractions with a typical one to two hour dwell time located in city centres,
shopping malls or resorts. We have high quality, chainable brands and are the
only company to successfully operate the Midway model on a global scale.

Theme Parks are larger multi-day outdoor destination venues, incorporating
on-site therned accommodation.

. LEGOLAND Parks are aimed at families with younger chiidren and have
LEGO as the central theme. Highly themed accommedation is central to
our strategy to develop the customer offering. Merlin holds the global,
exclusive rights to the LEGOLAND brand.

. Resort Theme Parks are national brands aimed at families, reenagers and
young adults, with themed accommodation at all locations. They have high
brand and customer awareness in their local markets and include the
Jeading theme parks in the UK, laly and Noithenn Gennany.

Our three Cperating Groups are supported by our unique in-house business
development, creative, project management and production group, Merlin
Magic Making, which includes teams across Europe, North America and the
Asia Pacific region. Merlin Magic Malung is responsible for driving innovation
across our Group and creating compelling propositiens for our attractions;
developing new concepts into commercially viable attractions; producing
compelling content such as LEGO models, wax figures and attraction theming;
and construcung new atoractions and investment projects, including new hotels
and rides.

Our portolio of assets and brands 15 highly civersified across geography.
attraciion type, brand and customer demographic and welt balanced between
indoor and outdoor attractions and international and domestic visitation. We
also partner with third party intellectual property owners to create new
brands which complement the portfolio and broaden our appeal across all key
target demographics.

Qur footprint across 24 countries provides a high degree of diversity and a
strong platform to benefit from leng term grawth in leisure spending.

We have demonstrated the strength of this diversified business model over

many years, where the drivers of our performance have been:

. investment In our existing estate Lo increase capacity, provide compeliing
new propositons to guests, and improve customer satisfaction;

. rolling out new Midway attractions to drive revenue growth, often
with a ‘cluster’ focus and in locations that continue our geographic
diversification;

s developing new LEGOLAND parks under a combination of operating
models. ¥ea have parks currenty under constructen in Asia and in
the USA;

. transforming our theme parks into destination resorts by adding a broad
range of themed accommodaticn and other second gate attractions to
improve customer satisfaction and drive multi-day visication;

. leveraging strategic synergies by generating revenue from promotions and
marketing; improving our customers’ online ‘digital journey”; operating
more efficiently; and securing procurement savings:

. acquisitions, ranging from large scale transformational transactions o
smaller add-on deals.
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A GLOBAL LEADER IN LOCATION
BASED, FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT

A GLOBAL PORTFOLIO OF ATTRACTIONS AND ACCOMMODATION, REACHING
ALL TARGET DEMOGRAPHICS

Continental Brand
UK Europe Americas Asia Pacific Total Demographics
MIDWAY ATTRACTIONS
Global brands
SEA LIFE 1 18 3 10 46 Farmulies and
C\t)‘ CEnte Tourists
I
Madame Tussauds 2 4 7 9 22 Families and
City Centre [oursts
Teenagers and
Dungeons 6 3 | 1 young adults and
City Centre tourists
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre 2 3 12 & 23 Families
Eye 2 - - ! 3 City centre tourists
Peppa Pig World of Play - - 2 1 3 Pre-school familes
Crther 2 ! - 4 7
Total 24 29 30 32 15
LEGOLAND PARKS
Windsor, UK Billung, Brenmark Caiformm, USA
i ! i A
(209 rooms) (578 rooms}) (500 rooms) Duta. UAE
Giinzburg, Germany Florida, USA Johor, Malaysia
{461 rooms} {468 rooms) {263 rooms})
Nagoya, Japan
(252 rooms)
8 parks

Total

2,731 rooms

Familcs

RESORT THEME
PARKS

Total

Alton Towers

Resort, UK
(694 rooms)

Chessington World
of Adventures
Resort, UK

(254 rooms)

Warwick Castle,
UK (67 rooms)

THORPE PARK
Resort, UK
{90 rooms})

Gardaland Resort,
laly
{475 rooms)

Haide Paric Resort,
Germany
(329 rooms)

& parks
1,909 rooms

Farmitlies,
teenagers
and young adults

Farrulres

Teenagers and
young adults
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RESPONDING TO THE

CHALLENGE

2020 overview

We have all had to respond to the unprecedented challenge of the COVID-19
pandemic, and no one could have predicted the ways i which it has impacted
our lives. | am particularly proud of Merlin's response to this difficult period and
the way our teams have adapred to this new environment, whilst still ensuring
that we deliver the ‘magic we are known for.

Qur primary objective at Merlin throughout thes period has been to protect the
wellbeing of our employees and guests, and as such, we have always followed
scientific and government advice, often going above and beyond these
requirements to ensure our actions have been safe and socially responsible.

Merlin's global footprint of 129 attractions in 24 countries around the world
meant we got experience of the pandemic early, as it was emerging across Asia
in the latter part of 2019. YWe swiftly responded to protect the business by
taking multiple steps to safeguard our attractions and teams, minimise our cost
base and protect cur operating cash flows.

When we were able to open our aturactions, it became ciear that there is still
demand for high quality days out with family and friends. despite the restrictions
imposed by social distancing. Qur COVID-secure attractions, adopting Merlin's
best in class health and safety protocols, have allowed the public to enjoy
quality time together, which after the stresses of the pandermic are so crucial to
pecple’s mental health and wallbeing. Now more than ever. we recognise we
have an important role to play in the worldwide recovery from the

COVID-19 pandemic.

2029 trading

Despite the impact of COVID-| 9 forcing attraction closures and reducing our
trading days to far fewer than normal, we still welcomed 22 million visitors to
our attractions n 2020 (201 % 67 miflion) and reported revenue of £629 miflion
{2019 £1,740 milfien).

When the vast majority of our artractions closed early in 2020, swift action had
to be taken early in the crisis to protect the business in the medium term. This
mcluded accessing employee furlough schemes and equivalents around the
waerld, managing our costs and cash flows, and promptly raising €500 million in
addivional liguidrty on the public markets to ensure we remained on a stable
financial footing,

As restrictions lifeed, we were well prepared for opening, afthough there was
stiff a significant challenge in adapting to new operating procedures, both for swaff
and our guests. As restrictions were relaxed, we opened swiftly and safely
where we were permitted to and flexed our operations with local demand.

Although trading has varied significantly around our estate, since recpening we
have seen strong consumer demand from domestc visitors, with a clear
‘staycation’ benefit which has been evident in our short break and hotel
bookings. Our hotels, Resort Theme Parks and LEGOLAND parks have
benefited from the staycation impact, with those in Europe and the UK
performing particularly well. Our SEA LIFE Centres, especially in coastal areas,
also saw strong demand.

Cur tearns took every opportunity to engage with potential guests and we saw
a number of entrepreneurial developments and new. creative ideas across our
business. These included "Making Magic With Merlin® digital acuvity created for
guests to enjoy virtually during lockdown, new online shops, retail-only
attraction openings and adaptations to focus on new markets to drive volume.

Unfortunately a small number of our most significant locations had to remain
closed for the majority of the year and some that had opened were forced to
close again. Furthermore, towards the end of the year additional lockdewns and
restricuons were implemented in several key geographies. in many cases
continuing into 2021,

Primarily because of these closures, the potential for continued social distancing
measures and restrictions on international tavel, the corresponding reduction in
revenue in the near term has resulted in accounting impairment charges totalling
£94 million 1201 % £38 mulion) within the finandal statements.

Ve are currently complying with and expect to continue to comply with the
covenants contained within our debt facilities, which are monitored on a
regular basis,

Outlool

Despite the many short term challenges presented by COVID- 19, we remain
confident in the opportunities for the future that cur diverse business has. As we
report we are pleased to see trading restrictions asing as vaccine roll outs
progress and virus transmission rates reduce, with approximately 60% of our
actractions currently open. The roll out of vaccines will, we hope. help people
stay safe and feel safe.

As restricpons are lifred. we expect the business to return 1o growth,
underpinned by a recovery in sales levels and an engoing focus on efficient
operating pracuces. We look forward to previding more safe. magical
experiences to our guests, as well as much-needed Iifts to local economies.

Strategic developments

During 2020 we continued to manitor the situation around our current and
planned investments in new business development. As a result of the COVID-19
outbreak, we decided to delay the grand opening of LEGOLAND New York

o 2021, albeit we completed a large part of the construction of the park by the
end of 2020. The construction of LEGOLAND Korea also continued through
the pericd.

We also maintarned ongoing dialogue with a number of potential partners to
develop new LEGOLAND parks in China, with a focus on developing and
operating these parks under management contracts. An important milestone was
reached in November 2020 when we announced that we had entered into a
formal co-operation agreement to develop a LEGOLAND rescrcin the [inshan
District of Shanghai, China. VWe alse have two further prajects where we have
signed development agreements; one in Sichuan and another in Guangdong
Province in southern China, where design development is well progressed.

Although advancement on certain projects has been delayed by the events of
2020, both Merlin and our selected partners conunue to pursue opportunities w
expand cur global estate.

Health, safety and security

The health, safety and security of our guests and employees remains our number
one priority. Qur industry leading ream created enhanced hygiene and safety
measures that were rolled out across each of our geographical markets, to help
guests stay safe whilst still enjoying a memorable day out.

These measures met, and in many cases exceeded, government guidelines and
duly received positive feedback from customers, local authorities, and heaith
agencies. Our staff alse had rigorous training and we have been highlighted by
government and our industry as leading the way with our health and safety
pracedures and guest communications.
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Despite all the challenges associated with COVID-19, we were especially proud
that to the best of our knowledge there were no on-site COVID transmission
cases reported for any of the 22 million guests thar visited our attractions in
2020. In addition, our key guest accident rate KP! also remained consistent with
2019, which was again very pleasing.

Guest satisfaction

Our guest satisfaction scores have remamed strong and reflect our relentless
focus on delivering the very best experience to our guests despite the impact of
social distancing and other COVID-related measures. These efforcs helped
maintain our guest satisfaction scores at 94%. COur ‘Top Box' scores increased
by i%. We also implemented a programme to extend custemers’ annual and
season passes, and to enable customers with advanced bookings o easily re-
book where our attractions were forced to close.

Employee engagement

During 2020 it was often not possible to get out and see our fantastic teams
delivering memorable experiences to our guests, so to maintain regular contact
we refaunched our intranet and our company newsletter into easy-access digital
formats. The new, mobile-accessible ‘MyMerlin® intranet includes dynarmc
creative content and news updates, and the Executive Committee and | keep
celleagues up 10 date via the relaunched fortmghtly digital newsletter ‘The
Wizard's News', which was previously a quarterly paper magazine. These digrtal
forums enable us to keep spirits and staff engagement high through regularly
showcasing the great work from our teams as they ook after our guests, care
for our animals and support wider local communities.

COne consequence of the shorter trading period and reduced levels of activiry in
2020 was the need to place staff members on furiough. Vwhile it was the right
thing to do, it was frustrating that for often extended periods, so many of our
team were unable to do the jobs they do so well, Furthermore, we were forced
to delay and reduce the recruitment of our teams of seasonal staff who work
for Merlin over the peak trading period, including many that have been part of
the business over several seasons. We hope that they will be able o re-join the
Merlin team as vading gets back more to normal.

I have a huge sense of pride when | reflect on our achievements over the last
12 months and how hard our reams have worked under challenging
circumstances, I've seen so many of our people going above and beyond,
taking on responsibilities outside of their usual roles and showing a clear
dedication to get back to creating magica! memories for cur guasts.

This level of dedication, the experience of our leadership team, ang the ongoing
commitment of our shareholders all combine to ensure that Merfin is well
placed for future growth.

Nick Varney
Chief Executive Officer
I5 April 2021
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS AND
A STRONG CULTURE

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS IN A LONG TERM
ATTRACTIVE MARKET ENVIRONMENT

A unique portfolio of strong brands and iconic assets

Ve operate a unique global portfolio of brands and icanic assers whirh are
widely recognised by consumers, enabling us to differentiate our attractions
from unbranded operartors. Qur Midway attractions portfolic includes chamable
brands while the Resort Theme Parks attractions are rypically number ane or
two in their respective markets, Qur LEGOLAND parks also benefit from a
mutually synergistic relationship with LEGO, the world's leading toy brand.

Together, the strength and breaddh of this portfolic enable us to offer
compelling propositions through a wide variety of visitor experiences across a
broad range of geographies. This allows us to atrract target demaographic groups
ranging from families with young children, teenagers, young adults to older
adults. It also provides a degree of resilience to short term trading shocks arising
from a particular geography, brand or demographic.

Intellectual Property (IP) partnerships

Meriin's global reach and multi-format expertise means we are well placed o
benefit from the growing opportunities to partner with leading owners of
intellectual property {IP) content. enabling us ro deliver memorable experiences
to our visitors and offer our partners opportunities to increase engagement
with their customers.

Most significant is our core global, multi-product and exclusive relzuonship with
the LEGO Group, where we hold the global, exclusive rights to the
LEGOLAND brand under the ficencing and co-operation agreement with
KIRKB, one of our major shareholders {see page 7).

We have muluple other IP agreements ranging from local relationships for
specific atrractions, to global, multi-product refatnonships with some exclusivicy
as we establish and continue t develop, giobal, regional and local IP
partnerships with brands such as Ghostbusters, The Gruffalo, Shrek, Kung fu
Panda and CBeebies, the latter through our partnership with BBC Swdics. We
continue to develop and strengthen new IP partnerships, most notably through
our relationship with Hasbro, where we have a multi-rerritory exclusivity
arrangement to develop a range of attractions based on the Peppa Pig brand,
one of the most well-known pre-school IP's in the world.

Unigue portfolio of skills

Qur three Operating Groups are supported by other teams including our in-
house inncvation and product delivery group, Merlin Magic Making (MMM},
which includes teams across Europe, North America and the Asia Pacific region.
Together they capture a unque combination of skills, including research,
creative, production and project management, We have resources dedicated to
researching future opportunities — dedicated teams within the Operating
Groups search for locations for potential new attracdons and negotate with
loczl fandlords, developers and civic bodies.

MMM create world class, compeliing propositions and develop new concepts
into commercially viable ateractions. Our in-house production capabilities
include bespoke content such as wax figures, attraction theming and LEGO
model production. thereby creating efficiencies and reducing costs. Cur
operating teams in Merlin have world class amimal welfare experuse and ethical
animal husbandry skills.

We manage any scale of construction project ranging from indiwidual rides and
attractions in our existing estate, new Midway attractions across the globe,
through to the development of full-scale LEGOLAND parks, the latter led by 2
senior management team whao pursue new lecatiens for potentiat parks through
multiple ownership models.

Long term attractive market environment

Natwithstanding the severe short term impact of the COVID- |9 pandemic, we
continue to believe that Merlin operates in an attractive marketplace, benefiting
from underlying growth characteristics and favourable dynamics. At its heartare
long term increases in dispesable income, including in emerging economies, for
example such as China.

During 2020 we reacted swiftly tc re-engineer how we can operate flexibly in a
changing environment and under a number of challenges and restrictions. The
positive results we saw once our sites were able to trade gives us confidence that
this mere dynamic operating model will suppart us operating successfufly as the
external environment evolves. Ve contnue to see long term growth
opportunities from tourism; this benefits our resorts and drives visitation to our
gateway city lacations, where we operate our Midway attraction clusters.

We also expect 1o see the growth in domestic short break holidays to continue.
We are increasingly well-positioned to meet this demand through our offering of
themed, on-site accommodation and second gate artractions that extend the
duration of our visitors® stay. Accommodation offerings also enable greater cross-
selling opportunities, drive improved levels of guest satisfaction, and lead to
increases in pre-bookings, revenue visibility and positive working capital. Qur
domesticatly focused resort posrtioning also provides a hedge against the impact
of macro-economic volatility on tourist flows.

OUR CULTURE

Merlin's business medel is underpinned by our entrepreneurial cuiture, a focus on
surong and effective corporate governance, and how we operate as a responsible
business. ‘The Merlin VWay' sets out these values which are embedded
throughcut the business. We are proud of the inclusive environment we create
tor all the people who work at Merlin and focus significant effort in driving a
culture of accountability and fairness.

Corporate governance

Merfin believes that effective corporate governance is the foundation of a weil-
run company and maintains bigh standards of governance, We recognise thata
strong governance framework is fundamerzal to the execution of Mertin's
strategic objectives, underpinned by a clear purpose and well understood culture
and values. More details are set out on pages 27 to 31

Health, safery and security

Merlin is dedicated to delivering best in class health, safety and security {HSS)
standards that are clearly understood and impiemented across the Group. This
involves adopting industry leading standards, reinforcing a rigoraus safery culture
and demanding complete commitment from our teams.

These principles have underpinned cur respense to the COVID-19 pandemic.
We have been instrumental in developing best practice enhanced hygiene and
safety measures for the hospitality and leisure industry, including i numerous
territories helping government agencies to develop sector specific COVID
guidance. Our robust COVID safety protocols and procedures have been rolled
out across each of our geographical markers and have received posiuve feedback
from customers, local authorivies and health agendies. More details on HSS are on
pages 23 to 24.
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS AND
A STRONG CULTURE

Business responsihility

Merlin has an ethical operating culture and high animal welfare standards. with a
commitment to managing environmental impacts. Cur attractions operate
responsibly at the heart of their communities and contribute to the locat
econormy. Ve partner with two charities. Merlin's Magic YWand provides
memorable experiences to children faced with the challenges of serious iliness,
disability, and adversity. The SEA LIFE Trust warks to protect the marine
environment, More details are set out on page 26.

DELIVERING FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Customers

We constantly monitor the views of our guests and engage with them diectly
and on social media to measure the quaiity of their experience and drive
improvements. Ve mmeasure the results of this engagement through a
combinauon of guest satisfaction and ‘Top Box' scores from touchscreen data at
our attractions, and ‘Net Promoter” scares thar measure whether a guest would
recommend our attractions. We are proud that we maintamed the same high
guest satisfaction score as in 2019, again weil ahead of our 30% benchmark, and
that the Top Box measure increased by |%. The Group's average Net Promoter
score remained above the 50% level which 15 considered ‘world class’. These
resuits are despite introducing a number of measures to help keep our guests
safe n response to the operating restrictions required in 2020.

Ermployees

Our many thousands of employees are committed to delivering memorable
experiences, and now more than ever, employee engagement continues to be
one of the key elements of our business model. In 2020 we utilised several new
and existing resources to help ensure our global teams continue to feel engaged
and connected with the business. In a pormal year we run our staff survey. "The
Wizard Wants to Know', which for many years has shown results consistently
above our target score of being over 80%. This was not completed in 2020
because of the COVID-12 pandemic. See more on how we maintained
employee engagement through the pandemic on page 22

Investors

Merlin was listed on e London Stack Exchange fram November 2013 untl
November 2019, when a consortium of three long term investors joined forces
to take Merlin back into private ownership, with the capability to support
Merlin's growth ambitions, The consertium work together 1n accordance with
the principles set out at the time of the transaction. Their investrment is held in
Merlin's ultimate parent company, Motion J¥co Limited.

Details of the investor consortium are set out below and details of their
representation on Merlin's Board of Directors are set out on pages 30 to 31.

. ¥IRKBI — the private holding and investment company of the Kirk
Kristiansen family, founded to manage, protect and develop the LEGO
brand and its activities under long term family ownership. KIRKBI's
strategic activities indlude a 75% ownership of the LEGO Group, a 100%
ownership of the LEGO and LEGOLAND wrademarks, and investments in
renewatle energy suppordng the LEGO Group's commitment to balance
global consumption of energy with renewable energy. KIRKBI manages an
international, diversified investment pordolic with a long term investment
profile and is a responsible Investor with high environmental, social and
governance standards. At the end of 2020, KIRKBI's investment activities
amournted to approximately EUR [0 billion. KIRKB] was a strategic
investor in Mertin while the Group was listed, helding 29.6% of Merlin's
listed equity. Following the transaction in 2019 KIRKEI's ownership in the
Group increased, now being held through their investment in Motion
|Vce Limited.

- Blackstone — one of the world’s leading investment firms, that seeks to
create positive economic impact and long term value for investors, the
companies in which it mvests, and the communities in which it works.
Blackstone's asset management businesses had $619 billicn in assets under
management as at 3| December 2020 across a range of investment
vehicles. Blackstone has long-standing experience: investing in location based
entertainment businesses, like Merlin, as weli as the wider hospitality, travel
and leisure sector. Blackstone's investment in Merlin has been made
through its long-dated Core Private Equity Strategy, which invests in high-
qualicy businesses for typically ten to {5 or more years.

e Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPP Investments) - a professional
investrnent management organisation that manages the CPP Fund in the
best interest of the more than 20 million contributors and beneficiaries of
the Canada Pension Flan. CPP Investments is governed and managed
independently of the Canada Pension Plan and at arm’s length from
governments. At 31 December 2020, the Fund totalled C$476 billion,
including approximately C$20 billion of assets invested in the United
Kingdom, and net investments of (120 billion in private equity. CPP
Investments’ private equity team is a committed long term investor with
permanent capital. a focus on sizeable investments alongside aligned
partners, the ability to invest across the full spectrum of ownership, and the
ability to shape the duration and underwriting approach of investments to
support longer-date returns on investment. initiatives.

n May 2020, Merlin’s ultimate parent company, Motion JVeo Limited, issued
shares to a new minority investor for proceeds of £150 million.
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GROWTH DRIVERS

HOW WE DRIVE
GROWTH

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Existing estate

Part of Merlin's growth strategy is to make regular, targeted investments to
update and refresh the existing estate in order to grow vISIEaon tO attractions,
providing somathing new to nmakat and 4 degree of pricing power.

Each attraction has a planned investment cycle with varying capex levels over a
number of years. These help to smooth overall expenditure across the portfalio
and ensure investments are funded from operating free cash flow. Midway
attractions require relatively lower capital expenditure due to the smaller scale
of the attractions and the higher proportion of ‘first-ume’ tourist visitors, while
cur theme paris require relatively higher capital expenditure due to the scale
and nature of new rides and artractions and the drive to atuact repeat visitors.

AMMUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNT: 2020

New business development

Our growth strategy has historically involved the redl out of our chainable
Midway attractions in new locations and countries, aften creating ‘clusters’,
where we develop multiple attractions in one location. ¥YVe continue to see the
opportunity to open new Midway attractions, especially using IP as a central
element of the attraction.

New business development capex also includes the expansion of our theme
parks into destination resorts, and the development of new LEGOLAND parks.
These are described in more detaii below.

TRANSFORMATION OF THEME PARKS TO DESTINATION RESORTS

We continue to transform our theme parks into destination resorts, extendmg
visitor market reach and enhancing revenues from a number of sales channels.
These include primary admissions (including multi-day tickets and second gate

admission fees), and commertial spend such as the sale of food and beverages,
retail merchandise and souvenirs such as photos.

The themed accommodztion offerings in our hatels and holiday villages continue
to be very successful. They provide an integral contribution to the overall
customer experience, helping te drive pre-bookings, increase multi-day ticker
sales and improve guest satisfaction.

There are also ongeing opportunities to add visitor attractions that are located
next to theme parks and for which additional admission fees are charged. These
attractions, such as waterparks, are referred to as second gate attractions. This is
an increasing area of focus across the two theme park Operating Groups.

LEGOLAND PARK DEVELOPMENTS

We have a proven track record of developing and operating LEGOLAND parks
globally, where we have three operating and investment models.

Firstly. in mare prowen larations, we fellow an ‘owned and operated” model,
securing the land and developing the infrastructure ourselves, LEGOLAND
New York and LEGOLAND Korea are being developed in this way, with
construction continuing during 2020 on both parks. As a resulc of the COVID-
19 outhbreak, we decided to delay the grand cpening of LEGOLAND New York
to 2021, zlbeit we completed a large part of the construcnon of the park by the
end of 2020.

Secondly, we might work with a local partner, marrying their capabilities and
expertise with our strengths and experience to both parves’ mutual benefit.
Typically. the funding for the capital investment is provided by a third party and
we operate the park under a rmanagement contract.

in November 2020 we announced that we had entered into a formal co-
operation agreement with the Shanghai Jinshan District Government, CMC Inc.
and KIRKBI to develop a LEGOLAND resort in the Jinshan District of Shanghai,
Chira. This followed the signing of a framework agreement in November 2019,
All parties will form a joint venture company and contribute funding to the
construction and development of LEGOLAND Shanghai.

In September 2019, we announced that we had entered into an agreement (o
partner 1t the development of LEGOLAND Sichuan and operate it under a
management contract arrangement, with the resort scheduled to open by the
e ol 2023,

Design development is well progressed on a third LEGOLAND park project in
Guangdong Province in southern China.

We maintain ongoing dialogue with a number of other potential partners to
develop several LEGOLAND parks in China. with a focus on developing and
operating these parks under this model. We currently operate LEGOLAND
Malaysia and LEGOLAND Dubai under this model.

Thirdly, we can operate parks under a 'leased and operated’ model, where the
acquisition of the park site, the development of the infrastructure and the basic
construction is funded by a third-party partner. We fund and build the rides and
the necessary theming, lease the site on a long term basis, and operate the
LEGOLAND park. LEGOLAND fapan, for example, was developed using this
approach, with a KIRKB! subsidiary as the lessor.
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GROWTH DRIVERS

HOW WE DRIVE
GROWTH

LEVERAGING STRATEGIC SYNERGIES

WWe aim to simphfy our operations, maximise the synergies afforded by our scale
and leverage relationships with our shareholders.

Strategic initianves nclide:

. Operational etficency ~ we continue to focus on operational excellence.
as we streamline how we work while still delivering memorable
experiences for our guests. In 2020, in response to COVID- 19, we have
made significant changes 1o how our attractions operate and continued
the transformation of our support functions through shared service centre
initiatives. An example is our ‘Finance 21" transformation project, that
continued its roll out during the year, underpinned by a new cloud-based
finance system.

. Merlin Anr..al Pass and Mevlin Pass Manthly Membership — where we
offer customers a pass that enables them to visit all attractions within 2
particular country.

ANMIUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 20

Accesse tickeong — the accesso”™ 'Passport’ ticketing system helps
imprave the customer ‘digital journey’ to access our tickets and other
offerings. as the shift towards advance booking continues.

Promations and marketng —where we apply flexible pricing and
promotional strategies to manage visitor numbers through periods of high
and low attendance volume, extend the length of stay, encourage repeat
visits and erhance overall revenue.

Pracurement synergies — our scale combined with the support and
knowledge of our shareholders allows us to explot procurement cost

1

efficiencies within a country or region, and where pracucal across clusters.

LEGO relationship — we continue to benefit from the mutually synergistic
relationship with LEGQ, the world's leading toy brand.

STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS

We continue to consider acquisitions of, or investments in, visitor attracuions,
sites and brands that could strategically enhance our portfolio and enable us to
grow into new geographies, and believe that there remain further attractive
acquisition opportunities that would meet our investment critera in the future.

e}
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Taoral Underlying Underlying
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended Underlying
26 December 26 December 28 December growth
2020 2020 2019 (actual
£m £m fm currency)
Revenue 629 629 1,740 (63.9) %
EBITDA (89) (76} 569 (113.3)%
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment {337) (243) (227) (7.0)%
Operating (loss)profit {426) (319) 342 (193.2)%
Net finance costs {222) (222) (108) (106.7)%
{Loss)/profit before tax (648) {541) 234 (330.9)%
Taxation 124 96 (67) 242.9%
{Loss)/profit for the year {524) (445} 167 (366.3)%
Operating hee ash fow (159) 406

See 'How we rebort obr results” on page 15 for details of how we report owr finanaal performance

Introduction

In 2020 Merlin, like every business, has had to respond to the challenges
presented by the COVID- |9 pandemic. Having started the year with strong
early trading, the geographic diversity of our business alerted us to the potenual
impact of COVID- (9 early in China and we started taking broader decisive
actons as the pandemic impacted across global markets.

We acted swiftly to preserve cash flow while also creating a ground up cost
plan, restructuring our activites to maximise profitabilicy once attractions were
able to open. We were encouraged by the Group's ability to trade in an
environment of social distancing and reduced customer demand.

We have actively engaged to access government support in a number of areas,
most notably in relaton to the costs of furtoughed staff in qualifying jurisdictions.
We temporarily reduced our planned capital expenditure programme and
actively engaged with our landlords to seek rent abatements.

Working together with the investor consortium, Merlin's parent companies
raised €500 million in senior notes on the public markets to provide
extra liquidity.

Our new business development programme continued to make progress, with
construction ongoing at two new LEGOLAND parks. We also progressed
further Midway attractions, developments in China, and other opportunities for
the future.

Presentation of results

As noted on page 7, Merlin Entertainments Limned (MEL) {formerly Merlin
Entertainments plc} was acquired by a consortium of investors in November
2019. The acquisition was financed through a combination of investor equity and
external debt finance arranged by new companies set up for that purpase and
which sit above MEL in the enlarged group structure.

Certain accounting related mateers affect how our results are reported and

these are set out below.

. Australian sk resorts — during 2019 the Group disposed of its two
Awustralian ski resorts. These have been accounted for as discontinued
operations in that period and accordingly cur resules relate to the
continuing operations of the Group excluding the sk resorts.

. Undertying results and excepucnal items — in order to present the
undertying performance of the business more accurately, the impacts of
certain activities are reported within exceptional items. More details on
exceptional items can be found on page 13. Unless otherwise stated, the
commentary below refers to underlying resuits, that 1s. before the impact
of exceptional items. The impact of COVID- 19 on our trading has all
been reflected within our underiying resuls.

. Alternative performance measures — on page |5 we ser out in more derail
explanations of how we adopt certan alternative performance measures
to help present cur trading performance in the most helpful and
meaningful way.

Performance summary

During March substantially all of our ateractions either closed or did not open for
the 2020 trading season, which caused a severe decline in revenues compared to
2019 In the second half of Q2, attractions reopened where possible and by the
end of September, nearly $0% of our attractions, |9 of 21 hotels and five out of
six holiday villages were open. Unfortunately, a small number of our most
significant locations had to remain closed for the majority of the year and some
that had opened were forced to close again.

The performance of individual attractions has varied significantly depending on a
number of factors, including the nature of ongoing local restrictions and their
impact on both consumer demand and attraction capacity. In general, where an
attraction typically sources its visitors fron local domestic markets, and the
perception of the risk of infection has been low, attendance has been
encouraging, with demand exceeding capacity in some attractions at points in
peak season.

Conversely, attractions with a higher propartion of tourist visitation have seen a
greater impact on dernand, particutarly where those attractions normally have a
significant element of international tourist visitation. This has affected both
Midway city centre clusters and resorts in more tourist-driven markets.
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Overall, revenues for the year reduced by £1.1 |} millen from £1,740 million in
2049 o £629 million. Visitation and revenues both benefited to some extent
from the temporary reduction in VAT rates in the UK and Germany.

Cost of sales reduced by £185 million from £317 million because of the fall
in revenue,

Since the global COVID-19 pandemic began, we have implemented a number of
operating cost and cash control measures at various stages throughout the
crisis. These included initially defaying the hiring of seasonal staff; implementing
temporary voluntary salary reductions; reducing marketing and advertisement
spend; and reducing other variable costs wherever possible. Where available, we
accessed government schemes to support employees placed on furlough.

V¥We have also taken steps to adjust how we operate in the future and reduce
our ongoing fixed cost base in line with our reduced revenues. The cost base at
our attractions has histerically been relatively fixed, with increases and
decreases in revenue normally flowing through to the operating result. Cur
actions this year have created a more flexible rost base with 2 higher proportion
of costs that flex with visitor volumes.

These cost reduction activities augmented projects that were already underway
o improve our operating efficiency against the backdrop of ongoing, significant
cost pressures. We have continued ta rationalise a number of our central
functions and invest in our Shared Service Centre in Basingstoke, UK, changing
the way finance supports the business, underpinned by our new cloud-based
finance system.

Operating Group margins are also affected by the source and mix of revenue in
the existing estate and the dilutive effect of new artractions and accommodation,
which typically have lower margins than the existing estate and ncur costs in the
pre-opening period,

Staff expenses reduced by £170 mullion from £459 million to £289 million as
savings initiatives were implemented to respond to reduced trading. The
reported figure 1s stated net of government support in respect of furloughed
swaff in qualifying jurisdictions. Marketing expenses reduced by £60 million from
£30 milion to £3U milbon as marketing activities were scaled back. Other
operating expenses reduced by £51 million fram £305 million to £254 miilion.
This reflected lower spend on repairs and maintenance, where savings could be
made in a period of lower than normal ride usage while still ensuring that high
standards of guest and ride safety were maintained. Ocher costs such as
performance-based rental payments, rates and yulities were also lower than

in 2019,

The combined effect of the above factors was a decrease in EBITDA from
£569 miillion 1o negative £76 million.

Within our central functions, as in the Operating Groups, we reduced the level
of underlying ongoing expenditure, However, lower revenues in respect of
consultancy agreemnent contracts, the write off of certain project costs as a
result of COVID-19, and other one-off expenses, meant that net central costs of
£55 million were £ 13 million higher than in 2049

Foreign exchange

Merlin is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on
wransactions and the translation of our non Sterling earnings. Retranslating 2020
performance at 2019 rates would result in a £2 million increase in revenue and a
£2 million increase in EBITDA, We ser this out in mere detil by major currency
on page 101,

Operating profit/(loss)

Depreciation and amortisation increased by £16 miltion from £227 million o
£243 million. This increase was primarily due to the continued investment in
our estate that took place up to the end of 2019, Operatng earmings fell from a
profit of £342 million o a loss of £319 million.

Exceptional items relating to operating activities totalled £13 nullion (2019
£73 million). Together with a further £94 million of impairment related charges
{2019 £38 million}, these resulted in a total operating loss of £426 million (2019:

profit of £231 million). Mare details on exceptional items can be found on page 13.

Profit/(loss) before tax
In 2019 there were exceptional net gains of £10 million within financing costs
relating to the sale to the investor consortium.

As a result of the factors noted above, underfying loss before tax was

£541 milkion 1201 9: profit of £234 million) while the total loss before tax was
648 milon (201 9: profit of £133 million).

Midway Attractions

Grawth Like

(actual for like

2020 2019 currency) growth
Visitors {m) 12.7 40.2 {6B.4)%

Revenue (£m) 228 674 (66.2)% (66.5)%
Underlying EBITDA (£m} (8) 240 (103.3)%

EBITDA margin (%) (3.5) 357

Underlying operating (120) 127 (1875)%

(loss)/profit (£m)

Substantially all of the attractions in the Midway Attractions Cperating Group
lusesd before the end of March as the COVID-19 pandemic developed across
the world. Attractions gradually reopened following the local relaxation of
restrictions. Midway attractions are generally indoors and therefore their ability
to reopen, and the restrictions imposed once open, have varied significantly
depending on the differing local regulations. Towards the end of the year
restrictions were reimposed in some locations, particularly in the UK and
continental Europe.

Midway Artractions contains a mix of brands and a wide geographic spread,
and therefore the impact of the pandemic has varied significantly across the
estate. The largest Midway attraction clusters are typically located in
international gateway cities, which have seen a significant decline in
international tourist visitation.

However, attraction brands that are primarily focused on resident markets (as s
the case for many local SEA LIFE Centres for example) have performed
signdicantly better.

To offset the impact of lower revenues we made operating costs savings where
passible, particularly in staffing costs and marketing expenses. While for most of
the year, the proportion of closed attractions meant EBITDA remained negative,
in Q3 more attractions could open. In that pericd we saw more positive
volumes, which, combined with the cperational changes in our attractions,
helped generate EBITDA of £1 | million despite lower revenues compared to
previous years.
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LEGOLAND Parks

Growth Like
(actual for like
2020 2019 currency) growth
Visitors (m 50 15.7 (6B.2)%
Revenue {(£m) 228 669 (65.99% (66.5)%
Underlying EBITDA {£m) (21 243 (108.7)%
EBITDA margin (%) 9.3) 363
Underlying operating o
(loss)/profit (£m) {85) 183 (146.2)%

Resort Theme Parks

Growth Like
{actual for like
2020 2019 currency) growth
Visitors {in) 4.4 1.1 160.5) %
Revenue (£m) 169 388 156.5)% 156.3)%
Underlying EBITDA (£m) 8 128 {94.1)%
EBITDA margin (%) 45 329
Underlying operating (46) 76 (161 31%

{loss)/profit (£m)

Merlin's two LEGOLAND parks in the US, and LEGOULAND Japan, are normally
open all year round. Of these, the parks in Florida and California closed in mid-
March. LEGOLAND Florida reapened at the start of June, while LEGOLAND
Califormia has remained closed. LEGCLAND Japan has been able to largely
remain open. Both LEGOLAND Fiorida and LEGOLAND Japan have seen
demand impacted by local perceptions of COVID-19 transmission rates.

Cur three seasonal European parks normally trade from the spring onwards but
were closed in March, thereby missing the Easter holiday trading period and
certain May national holidays. The attractions in Germany and Denmark
reopened n late May and early June respectively. LEGOLAND Windsor
reopened in early July. Overall, the European resorts saw a steady increase in
consumer demand following recpening and enjoyed encouraging levels of
visitation cver the peak summer season.

All resorts have lost a significant portion of ther wading perods, especially
LEGOLAND California. The resorts that have reopened have been operating
with reduced capacities because of local regulations and social distancing
restrictions. These factors, combined with lower overall demand, have resulted
in very significantly lower revenues than would be typically expected.

The Operatng Group has made operaring costs savings where possible,
particularly in staffing costs and marketing expenses. These mitigated the impact
of the lower revenues. Underlying EBITDA was negative for the year as a whole,
albeit the improved visitation over the summer period together with operational
changes in our attractions helped generate EBITDA of £24 million in Q3.

The main trading period for the Resort Theme Parks attractions, zll of which are
located in Europe. normally starts during the early spring. As a result of the
developing COVID-19 pandemic the resorts either closed in March or did not
open as planned. They therefore missed the Easter holiday trading period and
certain May national holidays. The two parks in Germany and ltaly recpened in
late May and mid-June respectively, while the UK parks remained closed uncil
early July.

Following reapening, the resorts saw an increasing level of consumer demand
in1o peak season, parncularly in the UK. Several of the UK resorts traded close
to their new {reduced) capacities on multiple days over peak season and
benefited from higher admissions revenue per guest.

Al attractions operated with significantly reduced capacities because of focal
regutations and socral distancing restrictions. These restrictions, combined with
lower overall demand, particularly where exposed to international tourism, and
the limited operating season, have suppressed trading, This has resulted in
significantly lower revenues than would be typically expected.

The Operating Group has made operating costs savings where possible,
particularly in staffing costs and marketing expenses. These, together with
operational changes in our attractions, mitigated the impact of the lower
revenues. Resort Theme Parks delivered a positive EBITDA in Q3 of £52 million
and a positive EBITDA of £8 miliion for the year,
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Financing and tax
Finance costs
Net finance costs of £222 million were incurred in 2020 {2019 £108 midion,.

The acquisition of the MEL Group i November 2019 was financed through a
combination of investor equity and external debt finance arranged by new
coMpanies sk up for that purpose and which sit above MEL in the enlarged
group structure. These new companies made loans to the MEL Group partly to
enable repayment of cerrain elements of the MEL Group's external debt.

The overall increase in finance costs in 2020 accordingly arises from a full year of
interest on those intra-group balances, which more than offset lower interest
charges on external debt, following those repayments in late 209

The increased leve! of financing therefore means that interest charges are
consequentially higher than in previous periods.

Taxauen
The toral tax credic of £124 miliion represents an effective tax rate (ETR) of
19.1% of loss before tax.

The difference between the reported ETR of 19.1% and the UK standard tax
rate of 19.0% is largely attributable to the Group’s geographic mix of profits and
the benefit derived from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief. and Economic Security
(CARES} Act in the US, offset by the Group's inabifity to obtain relief for
interest expenses and the impact of non-deductible preference share dividends.
The Group's geographic mix of profits includes the effect of the exceptional
irnpairment of assets held by overseas Group companies. When the effect of the
exceptional items is removed the underlying ETR is 17.7%.

The Group has benefited from certain reliefs available in the CARES Act in the
US. This allows operating losses gererated in 2020 to be carried back five years.
As the US corporate tax rate was higher in the earlier years the Group has
obtained a permanent benefit from the carry back.

Significant factors impacting the Groug’s future ETR include the Group's
geographic mix of profits, the ability to obtain effective relief for interest
expenses and changes to local o intermational tax laws.

The impact of the European Commission's finding relating to the UK's
Controlled Foreign Company rules is further detaiied in note 5.4.

The Group has a tax policy that sets out our approach in the areas of
governance, risk management, tax planning and how we deal with tax

authorities. This is available on the Merlin website,

Further detail on taxation is provided in note 2.4 to the financial statements,

Exceptional items

2020 2019
fm im
Underlying (loss)/profit for the year (445) 167
Excepn’onai ftems;
Within operating expenses (13) (73)
Within depreciation, amortisation, and impairment (%4) (38)
Within finance income and costs - 10
Income tax credit on exceptional items above 28 14
(Lass)praofit for the year (524} 80

To present the underlying performance of the business more accurately, the
impact of certain activines s reported within exceptional items as set out below.

Exceptional items reported within operating expenses totailed £13 million before
tax credits (2019 £73 million). This reflects pre-tax costs primarily assocated with
restructuring activities as we take steps to reduce our ongoing fixed cost base,
offset by pre-tax credits of £2 million as final costs were calculated in respect of
the sale of the MEL Group to the investor consortium in fate 2019, In 2019
exceptional items within operaung expenses included expenses incurred in
connection with the sale of the Group; certain staff related costs chat primarily
related tc employee share schemes that vested upon the sale; and productivity
programme related expenses.

Exceptional wems reparted within depreciation, amartisation and inpairment
totalled £24 million before mx credits (20/ ¢ £38 milion). These impairment
charges refiect the impact of COVID-19 on short term trading, which is
therefore taken into account in the discounted cash flows that underpin cur value
in use caiculations. The charges relate to property, plant, and equipment

{£78 mullion, 2019 £32 million] as well as right-of-use assets (£16 million, Z0!9:
£6 miflion),

In particular, these imparrment charges include consideration of LEGOLAND
New York, where the opening has been delayed and where we are expecting
shorter term headwinds, limiting our ability to launch the awraction and build
momentum in an environment where social distancing may well be in operation
and an uncertain economic environment will prevail. We remain confident in the
longer term future of this third LEGOLAND park in North America, that will add
to the already successful parks in California and Florida.

Impairment charges in respect of certain of the Group's Midway attractions arise
from a review of marker and eccnomic conditions at those locations, also

reflecting the impact of COVID-19.

Exceptional net gans of £10 million in 2019 within financing costs related to the
sale to the investor consortium.

Further details can be found in note 2.2 of the financial stacements.
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Cash flow

2020 2019

£m £m

Underlying EBITDA (76) 569
Exceptional items {13) (73)
Working capital and other movements 50 37
Tax pad (16) (73)
Net ca§h (out-ﬂ(-)\-N).finflow from 55) 460
operating activities
Capital expenditure — exisung estate (83) (163}
Capital expenditure — new business
development (NBD) (223) (21€)
Grants received - 41
Disposal of subsidiaries - 92
Proceeds from share capital - 30
Interest pard, nat c_)f interest received and (163) 97)
settlernent of Interest rate swaps
Dividend paid (56)
Other | 7
Net cash (outﬂow).'inﬂc?w before (523) 98
proceeds from borrowings
Proceed_s from / (repayment of) . (793)
borrowings {net)
Proceeds from parent company loans (net) 519 800
Capital repayment of leases (16) (48)
Net cash {outflow)/inflow for the year {13) 57

Operating cash flow

Despite the activities referred to previously as we sought to maximise our
available liquidity, net cash fiow from operating activities for the year was
negative £55 million (2019 positive £460 million).

Operating free cash flow (being underlying EBITDA less existing estate capital
expenditure) was negative £159 milkon in 2020 (20! 9: positive £406 million).

Investing activites
A total of £306 million was incurred on capita expenditure in 2020.

New business development (NBD) investment of £223 million represented
£175 million on the lorger term investments of developing new LEGOLAND
parks, substantially all relating to LEGOLAND New York and LEGOLAND
Korea. A further £23 million related to new accommodation development
across our theme park estate, and £25 miillion was in respact of new

Midway attractions.

NBD capital expenditure investment is slightly higher in 2020 than in 2019,
primarily in respect of costs incurred developing the new LEGOLAND parks. it
is. however, lower than planned. This is a result of delays to new Midway sites
ariginally planned for 2020 and 202 openings, and our decision to reschedule
the LEGOLAND New Yorl construction programme and delay the grand
opening to 2021. The construction of LEGOLAND Korea has continued through
the year.

Existing estate capital expenditure of £83 million for the year was significantly
lower than in 2019, reflecting site closures and the volume of trading.

During 2019 we received the second and final instalment of £41 million in respect
of grants relating to LEGOLAND Korea, where the local government has agreed
o support direct funding for the project. Grants received total KRV 80 billion
(see note 3.4).

Disposal of subsidiares totalled £92 million in respect of the Australian ski
resorts transaction that completed in April 2019.

During 2019 the Company received £30 million in relation to the issue of
14.5 million new shares and the vesting of share awards.

A final dividend of 5.5 pence per share was paid in May 2019 in refation to the
year ended 29 December 2018.

Financing actreities

Interest on debt is greater than in 2019, This reflects the increased level of debt
within the MEL Group following the acquisition of the Group in late 2019,
relating to borrowings from parent companies which are greater than the
external debt held while the MEL Group was listed. Higher interest payments on
this debr are offset by lower payments to landlords for leases where rent
deferrals have been agreed (which is alsa reflected in the lower levels of capital
repayments of leases).

In February 2020, one of the new companies sitting above MFI in the new
enlarged group structure (following the acquisition of the Group in late 2019)
received £133 rullion ($173 million) under a defayed draw down term facility. In
Apri 2020 another of those companies completed the issue of a further

€500 million of 7.0% senior secured notes due 2025,

Both of these receipts were subsequently lent down to the MEL Group. The
recept of the €500 million above enabled the repayment of £370 million
revolving credr facility (RCF) drawings that had been made n QI by the MEL
Group (within the enlarged group's financing facilities) in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, The cash flows in respect of the RCF have been offset in
the cash flow statemenc.

In 2019 the Group received loans of £800 million from the new companies set up
for the acquisition and used the proceeds to repay €700 million of bonds issued
in 2015 and 2017, drawings from the Group's £600 million RCF and transaction
costs. The MEL Group'’s £600 million RCF was subsequently cancelled. In
September 2019 MEL announced that its solicitation of consents from holders of
the $400 million 2026 notes issued by MEL in 2018 had been successful and as a
result the notes remain outstanding.
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Net assets
2020 2019 Property, plant, and equipment increased by £90 mullion, primarily reflecting the
£m £m capital addivons referred to previously, offset by depreciation and impairment
charges, together with the rewranslation of those assets at different foreign
Property, plant, and equipment 2,353 2263 exchange rates.
Right of-use assets 950 976
. The reduction in investments primarily relates to a negative adjustment to the
Goodwill and inzangible assets 1038 1012 Group’s investment in Big Bus Tours Group Holdings Limited, which was
Investments 19 63 reflected in other comprehensive income (see note 5.1},
Working capical (333} (285) Further analysis of the working capital mevements of £68 million is provided in
Cash and cash equivalencs 155 160 note 3.4 to the financial statements.
Interese-bearing loans and barrowings (324) (312} ,
Changes in capital resources
Amounts owed to parent company (1.384) (774) Since 28 December 2019 the changes in net external debr, parent company loans,
Lease liabilities {1,203) (1,158) and preference shares treated as liabilities reflect the financing activities described
- ahave. Further details on movements in net debt are provided in note 4.1.
Corporate and deferred rax (6) (150)
Employee benefits () (7) Further detalls are provided in the consclidated statemeant of financial positon on
A page 43 and the notes to the financial staterments on pages 46 o 91.
Other assets and liabilities {110 (109)
Net assets {excfuding preference I 144 1 699
shares treated as liabilities) ! ' Sunmimary
e 2020 has been an incredibly challenging year. Ve have responded to the
Preference shares treated as liabilities (2.132) (2,120 COVID-19 pandemic by taking a number of swift and decisive actions to adjust
Net liabilities (988) @21y how we operate in a challenging ang uncertain environment, maintain liquidicy,

and continue to invest in projects that we believe will support future growth.

Alistair Windybanl¢
Chief Financial Officer
15 April 2021

How we report our results

financial KPls and Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) — we adopt certain APMs that in our view hefp present our trading performance in the maost helpful and

meaningful way, and that we use consistently each year. These can be summarised as follows:

. We refer to EBITDA as it is o profit measure we use internally to measure the performance of our attractions. It is the KPI that we fee! most appropriately coptures the ongoing
ability of our attractions to generate operatng cash flows. Reflecting IFRS 16, this measure does not include the cost of meeting the obligations under our leases, with the
exception of performance-based rentals which continue to be reparted within EBITDA,

e We refer to operating free cash flow, which is underlying EBITDA less existing estate capital expenditure and which is then avalable to contribute to capital reinvestment to
support further growth, meet the obligations under our feases, service the Group’s debt fadities, settie our tax obligations and provide a return 1o our shareholders. We
therefore also refer to operating free cash flow conversion, which calculates operating free cash flaw as a percentage of underlying EBITDA, thereby providing insight as to our
cash conversion performance.

. We refer 1o ‘underlying’ resufts, which remave the impoct of any exceptional tems and provide a more direct comparisan of trading performance. Details of exceptional iterms
are provided in note 2.2 to the financial stotements.

. To provide a more direct comparison of trading performance in the extsting estate, we refer to ‘fike for ke’ performance This represents growth between two years at constant
currency and accounting standards, including afl businesses owned and operated before the start of the earlier year.

Period under review — in most years we report on a 57 week period. In certain yeors on addiional week is induded to ensure that the reporting date stays in fine with the end
of December.

Reference to financial statements — further information regarding the Group's segmental analysis, geographical revenues and ossets, ond cerlgin operating costs are provided i
note 2.1 to the finandial statements on pages 49 to 52 Those areas requiting significant judgement in the preparation of the financial statements dre summarised on page 48,
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

internal cantrol and risk management

Merlin maintains effective internal control and risk management systems, with
the Board sub-committees and executve management keeping them under
regular review. These activities are supported by “The Merlin Way', cur
corporate values, which we believe should drive good behaviours and actions by
all employees.

1 2020, the changing parterns of business activicy, and availability of resourees, as
a result of governmental COVID restrictions, meant it was impractical 1o always
operate these internal control and risk management processes in the normal
way. Significant investment was made in ensuring that addicronal health and safety
protocols and controls were put in place at all attractions that remained open to
keep all our staff and guests COVID safe; to protect corporate resources; and o
remain agile during the various lockdown occurrences.

Where required, we flexed our operational and financial control frameworks
maintain adequate control effectiveness despite the restrictions in place. The
Audit Committee and Health, Safety and Security Committee kept the
effectiveness of these revised framewarks under regular review.

Should governmental responses to the impact of the virus in the coming months
continue to affect the ability of our attractions to operate normally, the Board
and the sub-committees will consider the resuiting risks and the required
responses to ensure that internal cantrol and risk management systems

remain effective.

Internal control framework

The creation of an effective internal control framework helps ensure:

. proper financial records are maintained;

. the Group's assets are safeguarded;

. compliance with laws, regulations, policies and procedures including those
relaung to health and safety matters; and

«  effective and efficient operation of business processes.

Merlin's internal control framework is designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the Group's objectives and can only
provide reasonable, but nat absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The key elements of the internal control framework are described below:

. Management structure — clearly defined reporung lines, accountabilites,
and autharicy levels.

. Strategic planning, risk management and business performance
monnoring — reviewed by the Board annually, with our pipefine for the
delivery of new attractions reviewed regularly to:

(i) assess whether new compelling expertences and attracoons in
development are progressing according to schedule.

(i) identify new ideas and assess fit with our brand portfolio; and

{ii) assess the expected commercial returns.

Business objectives and performance measures are set annually together

with budgets and forecasts, Regular business performance reviews are

conducted at both Operating Group and individual attraction level,

*  Policies and procedures — a partfolic of policies and procedures 1s in place
for zll areas of the business, The appropriateness and applicanon of these
15 continuously monitored 1o ensure they are proportionate to the risk
and complied with. Assurance comes from several sources that include
HSS. financial and operational audit activities and self-certification.
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Qur key control activities include:

. Operatonal — there are a range of control measures and performance
indicators in place to ensure the effective and efficient operation of our
attractions and to give our guests safe and memorable visits.

. Health, safery and security — all our sites cperate using a well-established
Safety Management System designed to ensure that they operate in
compliance with relevant regulatory and legislative requirements. Regular
HSS internal audits are undertaken to confirm this is the case, ensuring that
any safety and security matters are understood and dealt wich prompty.

[] Informanon technology — the Group has a wide range of IT technical.
security, and disaster recovery controls to ensure that it has a stable
infrastructure platform from which to operate.

» Financial — our controls are designed to prevent and derect financial
misstatement or fraud and operate at three levels, Oversight controls are
typically performed by senior managers at Group and business unit level.
Month end and year end procedures are performed as part of our regular
financial reporting. Transactional level controls operate on a day-to-day
basis. To specifically address potential fraud risks ar a transactional level, a
group of profit protection professionals are employed to support
management in addressing these risks at an attraction levei.

. Business continuity planning — disaster recovery plans and ¢risis
management protocols are in place w allow atcractions to reinstate
performance in the event of adverse events.

Risk management frameworlk

The risk management framework sets out responsibilities together with the
oversight, monitoring. reporting and management processes that support their
fulfilment. The framework looks at both ‘top down’ and ‘battom up’ approaches
to risk management whereby the Board retains overall responsibility for risk
management. while sites are responsible for identifying, assessing and mitigating
operational risks.

Risk oversight and monroring is the responsibility of the following Committees:
. Health, Safety and Security (H3S) Committee - oversight and guidance on
management of HSS risks. Responsible for ensuring compliance with

legislation or industry standards in sefeguarding guests, employees, visitors.
and contractors.

. Audit Comimitces — oversight and guidance on financial process risk.
Responsible for assessing the effectiveness of the Group’s overall approach
1o risk management and internal control.

. Commercal and Straregic Risk Management Committee — oversight and
guidance on management of commercial and serategic risk. Responsible for
the treatment of animals in our care.

Each Committee reviews on a regular basis the principal risks and considers
whether material changes in the external landscape or recent trading trends
require alternative approaches to monitaring and managing risk, Committee
members regularly receive deep dive updates on topics related to significant
risks as well as regular reporting from internal and external assurance providers.
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RISKS AND
UNCERTAINTIES

Risk appetite

The Group's risk appetite falls into twa distinct categories:

e Compliance risk — the requirement to comply with legislative or
regulacory requirements in all territories where the Group operates. It
includes, but is not timited to, ride safety, accounting practicas, fraud and
bribery. as well as ensuring compliance with the Group's values and ethical
principles. In these areas we are risk averse and do not countenance any
breaches in compliance abligations.

. Cormmercial risk - commercial risks are taken to maximise profitable
growth and sustainable returns, without compromising the health, safety
and security of guests, employees, contractors, animals or other visitors.
They must be aligned wath the Group's policies on sustainability and the
environment. The Group manages these commercial risks through an
appropriate analysis of threats and opportunities together with structured
review processes, independent expert opinions and decision making
authority levels. Factors such as the scale of possible commercial upside.
the potential marker size, the quantum of downsidc risk and timescales
involved may all be relevant to commercial risk decisions.

Quanutative and qualitative measures ensure effecuve governance of the
Group's risk appetite. Quantitative measures include defined financial and non-
financial targets such as EBITDA, operating profit, and customer sausfaction
scores, Qualtative measures consider items such as reputational impact and
compliance with laws and reguiations.

Brexit

While we are headquartered in the UK. many of our trading activities are in
other countries and Merlin's business modet does not require a significant level
of cross border trading, As such, our ability to provide services to our
customers in the countries in which we operate, inside o outside the EU,
remains largely unaffected by Brexic,

Ahead of the conclusion of the Brexit negotiations, we acted to minimise rigks in

the areas that could affect the Group's operations. The actions taken looked to

mitigate risks relating

*  Strucwural issues requiring bilateral or multiateral governmental agreement
un taxation, wrade tariffs and restrictions on workforce migration of
potential employees; and

. Transitory issues arising from administrative, process or market changes.
which will unwind i the short term (for example delays in the movement,
or restrictions on the actual availabiity, of goods and products).

We continue to keep the consequences of the UK exit from the EU under
review 1n refation to the social and economic impacts it may have on our guests
ravelling to the countries in which we operate and will act to address significant
future risks if they emerge,
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Effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems

Based on its review of risk management systems, both throughout the year and

annually, the Board is satisfied that the risk management and internal conuol

systems that were in place during 2020 were effective and confirms that:

¢  thereis an ongoing process for identifying, assessing, managing and
maonitoring the Group’s principal risks;

. management's assessment of the principal risks is appropriate and those
risks that have the potential to impact liquidity have been considered:

. the principal risks and internal control processes have been in place and
considered by management and the Board throughout the year and up to
the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts; and

. no significant failings or wezknesses in internal contral processes have
been identified.

Plans for 2021

In 2021 we plan to simplify the risk management processes with forus applied to
the most significant issues. YWe will continue the existing focus on sandardising
and automating transactional activities, to improve the consistency of busimness
processes and strengthen the internal control frameworle
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Risk factors
COVID-19 nmpacts
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Mertin has adapted its operatng model to help protect guests and staff whilst at the same time re-shaping the overall customer experience through revised operating
procedures and the use of personal protecove equipment (PPE). Where roles permitted, we supported our staff in worlang remotely so they could perform their

roles in a safe, effective, and efficient way.

COVIR-i9 has had a signficant impact on all location based entertainment businesses. We responded quickly to protect the business as the pandemic unfolded by
ensuring there was enough liquidity and obtaining all available government support in the countries in which we operate. Global vaccination programmes offer cause
for optimism but we continue to be watchful and agile in our approach, reflecting the evelving nature of the virus and the variety of possible responses by authorities

in the event of further outbreaks,

Specific COVID-related risk factors and Merlin’s respanse are set out below. The assessment of each continuing principal risk is set out on pages |9 to 21. After
careful consideration, the Board concluded that these ongoing principal risk categories would be retained as they accurately describe the risks that could impact the

longer term outlook for the business.

COVID-19 risk factor

I, Without appropriate safety protocols and adherence to socil distancing
guidelines, there s a risk of COVID-19 wansmission at cur attractions.

2. The COVID-19 pandemic has signficantly impacted trading and for part
of the year required the closure of substantizlly all our artractions. This
caused reduced or negative operating cash flows, resulung in
lower hiquidiry.

3. Operating visitor actractions under social distancing and COVID-related
restrictions could negatively impact the guest experience.

4. Many office based employees were asked to work from home, increasing
demands on security for [T systems and data,

Merlin response

-

The implementation of strong health and safety protocols to ensure a
‘COVID-secure’ environment for guests and staff, with active management
and monitoring by dedicated teams to encourage guest adherence.
Ensuring sufficient PPE was available and used appropriately.

The geographic spread of our attractions provided an element of mitigation.

Early and decisive action to minimise non-essential expenditure, negotiate
payment holidays and deferrals, obtain government support and delay or
cancel capital projects has supported cash flow and maximized availlable
liquidity during the periods of mandated closure.

We have made significant changes to how we operate our attractions and
the business more broadly w reduce both fixed and variable costs. These
changes have maximised the financial conwribution made where attractions
have been permitted to open, in an environment of social distancing
restrictions and reduced demand.

Artraction staff worked tirelessly 1o meet exacting health, safety and
security standards and to help guests understand how to safely enjoy their
visit whilsUr emninding them of their role w ensuring the overall safety of all
guests and staff.

Acceleration in roll out of user applications with greater security features,
whilst at the same time infrastructure changes were made to help manage
cyber security risks.
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Principal risks

Management has identified Merlin's principal risks as set out below. The gross risk trend reflects the exposure before mitigation and is used to compare to the previcus
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year as to whether significant risks are stable, increasing or decreasing and take no account of the impact of COVID-19 on the underlying risk.

Increasing risk

Risk

. Safery

2. Security

3. Commercal impact of
external threats to
location based
entertainment
operations

Decreasing risk

Description

Serious incidents leading to guests, saff members or
contractars being harmed or becoming ill because of:

a failure to follow health and safety management
SysTems.

inadequate maintenance and management of
buildings, infirastructure and vegetation; or
substandard build quality, asset degradation, fire,
flood, storm or utility failure,

Reduction in guest confidence to visit the Group's

atrractons because of sabotage or a terrorst attack on a

ride or attraction leading to a guest or staff member or
anirial in our care baing harmed.

Personal health and security concerns that flow
from terrorist activity, public health pandemics or
climate change events, resulting in falling visitation
to a location in whirh the Group operates, with
displacement of both international and domestic
tourists.

In extremis, such events may lead to governmental

or other regulatory instructions to close our
attractions, including over multiple geographies.
Exchange rate volatility can have a positive or
adverse impact on inbound rourism. If exchange
rates work against a country in which the Group
generates significant revenue, this can adversely
impact visitation.

Stable

How risks are managed

Regular performance reviews by Board Committee with a
specific mandate for this area.

Ownership of HSS risks by line management.

Competent operational and engineering seaff monitor and
inspect facilities in accordance with a planned programme,
backed up by professional H5S teams.

Annual risk register review and action planning processes.
Regular internal and independent external auditing and review
regimes,

Contractor selection, approval and menitoring by n-house
qualified project managers.

Detailed secunty protocols before individuals access an
attraction (e.g. bag searches).

Regular infrastructure reviews to reduce the opportunity for
physical threats te guests, staff or animals.

Extensive use of CCTV.

Regularly tesced major incident management plans.

Current events vigilanty monitored to identify emerging risks.
Co-operation with lacal and national security forces.
Appropriate insurance cover,

Board Committee established with specific mandate for this risk
area.

Increased geographical hedging as a result of further global
diversification.

Ability to reduce variable expenditure, for example in staffing,
property and marketing costs.

Ability to defer non-essential capital expenditure.

Crisis managerent procedures for each attraction that set out
the appropriace response.

Ability to direct marketing and promotional activity towards
domestic or international audiences depending on tourism
trends.

Ability to promote access to a wide portfolio of attractions
using annuzl pass or cluster ticketing,
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8.

Riske

Innovation, brand
development and
customer satisfaction

People availability and
expertise

Competition and
Intellectual Property (IP)

Awvailability and delivery
of new sites and
attractons

Animal welfare
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Description

Our growth potential could be impacred if guests:

. consider our offerings are outdated, ne longer
relevant or enjoyable; or

. provide negative social media comments that
adversely influence the likelihood of a customer to
VISIL an attraction.

The challenge of attracting and retaining appropriately
experienced and well-motivated customer service
crientated staff, especially in locations with significant
upwards wage pressures. This could impact

*  guest satisfaction; or

*  the successful delivery of planned future expansion.

. Competition — for leisure time; from new or
existing providers of location based entertainment:
and for IP around which compelling propositions
are created.

s VWithdrawal of permission to use third party IP
comtent where contractual obligations are not met
or partner relanonships are not managed
effectively.

The ability of the Group to grow in line with strategic
abjectives could be inhibited by the lack of:

¢ economically viable sites to locate Midway
attractions and LEGOLAND parls; and

*  timely approval of planning consent required for

building new rides, attractions and accormmodation.

Incidents or staff behaviours leading to animals n our
care being harmed as a result of:
*» 2 failure to follow prescribed welfare protocols; or

. inadequate maintenance and management of
buildings, infrastructure and vegetation.
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How risks are managed

Customer feedback collected at every location and analysed
against challenging satisfaction targets. Actions then taken
accordingly.

Ongoing investment in our attractions to continually refresh
the customer experience,

Engagement with the public and on social media to take any
requisite action.

Driving greater productivity to ensure more motivated, better
rewarded employees.

Personal development pizns across the business to encourage
long term employment stability.

Proactively managed succession planning processes embedded
across the Group.

Annual employee survey to monitar employee engagement and
identify opportunities to develop HR policies and processes.

Diversification of the porticlio.

Ongoing investment to ensure continued appeal o visitors.
Competitor research and montoring.

Dedicated in-house creative team to deliver new and innovative
compelling propositions and {P.

Proactive management of IP partnerships.

Experienced site search and business development teams,
working several years in advance to masntain a strong pipeline
of opportunities.

Sites regularly update devefopment masterplans and work
closely on fostering links with local communities and planning
authorfties.

Dedicated resources used to support the Group's rolf out

strategy.

Exrernal zco licence audits.

An internal ethics commuittee and the SEA LIFE Conservation.
Welfare and Engagement team monitor the treatment of
animals.

A comprehensive range of policies, standards, procedures and
guidelines.

Training programmes for all staff who interacc with animals.
Planned preventative maintenance programmes to ensure
buildings. infrastructure and vegetation remain suitable for
displaying the animals in our care.
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Riske

9. IT robustnass,
technological

developments and cyber

security

19. Antr-bribery and
corruption

I'l. Liquidity/eash flow risk

12, Foreign exchange
wanslaton risk

Description

The Group operates various IT systems and applications,
the obsolescence or falure of which could impede
trading or the ability to operate an attraction,

YWithout the technical developmenss necessary to meet
consumer or business expectations, the Group may fail
to deliver the growth required by the business strategy.

Failure to put in place adequate preventative measures, if
attacked, could lead to data loss or inability to use the IT
systems for a prolonged period or loss of personal data
resulting in a GOPR compliance investigation.

While Meriin's business madel 1s lower risk as the
majority of transactions are of low value and typically
from individual customers, a number of the territories in
which Merlin is operating or considering entering have a
greater historic propensity for incidents of bribery and
carrupticn.

Any such incident could kad ta criminal or avil
prosecution, fines and cause reputational damage to the
Group.

A lack of liquidity could inhibit the ability of the Group to

grow in line with the strategic objectives if:

. insufficient cash is generated during peak trading
periods to cover fixed costs, interestand tax
payments and capttal investrnents {including
strategic acquisitions, the roll out of Midway
artractinns, rhe development of new LEGOLAMD
parks znd new accommodation offerings); and

= changes in the global credit market impact the
Group's fong term ability to meet current growth
targets.

In extremis, adverse events may lead to a requirement
1o seek extra sources of liguidicy.

Merlin generates its main profits in Sterling, Euros and
US Dollars and has debt in Euros and US Dollars.

Merhin reports its results in Sterling and is therefore
subject to translation risk from exchange rate
fluctuations when reporting its consolidated results.
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How risks are managed

Strategic focus to ensure the fong term stability of operating
systems and data security, whilst keeping pace with changing
consumer |T expectations.

Increasing resilience and stabifity of IT infrastructure and
security through an expanded use of secured hosting partners
and penetration testing regimes.

Further security measures to mitigate the increasing threat of
cyber security risk.

A number of data protection policies are in place to protect the
privacy rights of individuals in accordance with relevant data
protection legislation.

Independent assessment of compliance arrangements.

A well-embedded corporate cultre in which fraud and bribery
at any level are not tolerated.

Global fraud and bribery training programmes and a fraud poficy
sign-off for all staff.

Effective financial and contractual controls with regard to
procurement activities.

Internal audit monitors purchasing procasses on a rotational
basis.

A separate profit protecton team monitors for theft or other
crimiral activity across the Group and ensures best practice for
protection is shared between sites.

A whistleblowing policy is in place together with an
independently operated employee hotline,

A committed £400 million mutti-currency revolving credit facilicy
assists with liquidity and seasonal cash flow requirements.
Review of weekly cash flow forecasts covering a period of 12
weeks assists planning for short term liquidicy.

Strategic plans cover at least four future years and are reviewed
regularly to ensure sufficient financial headroom exists or
whether it needs to be created in the tuture. Ve also monitor
the impact of the plans on the covenant tests set out in the
Group's banking facilities.

Merlin maintains strong refationships with a number of lenders
and keeps the debt markets under review in order to ensure
that funding can be obtained at the right time and at the right
price to ensure the availability of funds o meet strategic growth
plans.

The Group presents constant currency figures where
appropriate to show underlying results excluding the impact of
translation differences.

Treasury policies in place and reviewed annually with regular
reviews of currency exposures.

Broad match of borrowings in the currencies of underlying
profits.

Currency exposures hedged where appropriate.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

A RESPONSIBLE
BUSINESS

Our approach

Merlin's commitment and strong social conscience drives our approach to
business responsibility and ‘being a force for good'. This 1s reflected in how we
treat, and care about, our visitors, our people, our suppliers, our planet, the
animals we look after and the communities in which we operate. We have
robust governance standards and practices that extend throughout the business.

WWe set out our approach below, including in respect of the five specific areas
required under the non-financial reporting requirements set out in the
Companies Act. Further information can also be found on Merlin's websize and
the websites of cur partner charities.

Employees

Employee engagenment

We are proud of our global team of employees who are the driving force
behind our purpose — delivering memorable experiences for our guests. Now
more than ever, employee engagement continues to be one of the key elements
of our business model.

‘The Merlin Way' is the set of values which embody everything we do, and
which provide the basis for our goals and objectives. We advocate ‘The Merlin
Way' through many of our global engagement activities such as our STAR peer-
to-peer recognition programme and via our staff wellbeing prograrmme, with a
focus during the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and the available
resources and support for our global teams. In 2020 we continued with "Your
Voice Counts’ (YVC) forums at our attractions and central locations, albeit
remotely for the majority of the year, 1o discuss matters which affect
employees’ immediate working environments and to agree changes.

With the necessary changes in working practices over 2020 we have reviewed
the ways in which we communicate with our employees and how they feed back
to us. The latest attraction news, company updates from the Executive
Committee and key business information was made more easily accessible via
the relaunched ‘MyMerln' intranet. We also launched a fortnightly company
digital newsletter ‘The Wizard's News', emailed to our employees and avadable
via SharePoint and on mobile via the SharePoint app. These two new pladforas
provide access to engaging digital content including the latest reassuring health
and safety information, video updates from senior leaders, podcasts and
celebratory content from our atwractions as they support local food banks and
testing initiatives, o help ensure our global teams continue to feel engaged and
connected with the business.

In 2020, as a result of COVID-1% related closures. many of our staff were on
furlough and therefore we did not run our annual employee engagement survey.
In 2021 we look forward to updated engagement and feedback toois being
launched. Ve intend to relaunch the employee survey through a digital
platform allowing instant feedback, personalisation and proactive points of
action for each individual.

Recruitment, training and develapment

Merlin runs a range of training and development activity across all parts of the
business. This ranges from induction training and role specific learning (for
example in heaith and safety, and animal welfare), through a range of
management and leadership programmes, and on to executive leadership
development. Qur Merlin Careers website shows avallable roles across the
business globafly as well as providing information on the apprenticeships we
offer in areas such as hospitality, engineering. management. and marketing. In
2020 we responded to the COVID-19 pandemic by creating even more online
content and self-led learning modules so that our teams could continue to
access learning opportunities remotely and whilst on furlough.
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Dwersity and inclusivity

We are proud of the inclusive envircnment we create for all the people who
worlk at Merlin and focus significant effort in driving a culture of accountability and
fairness. It's part of who we are, and we adopt several approaches to attract and
retain a diverse talent base, representative of the communities in which

we operate.

In 2020 we undertook a detailed diversity and inclusion survey. From the results
we have identified three key focus areas for 2021: gender equality, ethnic
diversity and "inclusion for alf. We have established four regional taskforces lead
by business leaders and each sponsored by an Executive Committee member.
Each tasldorce is responsible for developing a regional plan to suppore our global
diversity and inclusion goals.

We make no differentiation between able bodied persons and persons with
disability in terms of recruitment, training, and career progression, and will make
every effort to continue the employment and traming of those persons who
become disabled while employed by the Group.

At December 2020, two of our nine Directors were fermale, and one of our eight
Executive Committee members was female. Cf our senior management positions
(being attraction General Managers up to and including the Executive
Committee) |34 (38%) are fermale and 217 (62%) are male. This is consistent with
2019. The percentage of female permanent employees 1s 50% (201 7. 51 %)
wotalling 4,010 (201 9: 4815). The overall number has reduced as a result of
changes made to our organisational structures in attractions and support
funcuions, primarily in response to the COVID-19 pandemic but the even split of
male versus female employeas has been maintained.

YWWe are actively encouraging and prometing more fermales into senior roles.
Where possible, we encourage greater female participation in occupations such
as engineering where there are proportionally fewer female employees, and host
a number of initatives to educate and inspire career progression within Merlin
among female staff.

Gender pay gap

Merlin continues to produce a gender pay gap repert for UK employees under
the UK gender pay gap reporting rules which identfy differences in pay between
men and women.

for the latest available reporting peried to 5 April 2020, Mertin's mean gender
pay gap (calculated as the difference between the average hourly pay of men and
women as a percentage of the average hourly pay of men) was 4.7% (2019
i2.9%). The median gender pay gap {the difference between the hourly pay of an
employee in the middle of the range of maie wages and an employee in the
middle of the range of female wages), was 3.5% (20/9: 2 4%). The figures differed
from the prior year due to the majerity of our employees being on furlough at
reduced pay at the reporting date and therefore considered non-relevant full pay
employees for the purpose of the pay calculations. The key reasons behind our
gender pay gap continue to be lower numbers of female representation in senior.
higher paid roles; relatwely large populations of employees in traditionally male-
dominated roles (for example, engineering staff and electricians): and a large
proportion of fermales taking up roles with greater flexibility in working hours.

Risk management
For detzils of how we manage the risks of people availability and their expertise,
see page 20.
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Health, safety and security

Merlin is dedicated to delivering best in class health, safery and security (HSS)
standards that are clearly understocd and implemented across the Group and
ensure the safety and welibeing of our guests, employees and contractors. To
support this mission, Merlin sets out its core HSS strategic initiatives and how
these must direct and focus all efforts in a manner that is both systematic and
progressive. To help communicate these to our key internal and external
stakeholders, Merlin publishes an informative brochure caited ‘Protectng the
Magic — a Guide to Health, Safety and Security at Meriin Entertainments’, This
document is available via our corporate website and our dedicated HSS
‘Protectingthemagic.com’ website. Additional HSS news items and features are
also published throughout the year on Merlin's ‘Backstage’ website.

CoOVID-19

In 2020 the world was significantly impacted by the emergence and rapid spread
of the COVID-12 pandernic. Nu comity, i aspect of society within, was left
untouched by the devasting health and economic effects of this new coronavirus.
MNational governments and business leaders alike have had to battle the full
consequences of this disease and take decisive action to safeguard public health
and corporate operations. The global service sector in parocular, including
hospitality and leisure businesses, have been severely impacted by the pandemic
and the associated response poticies from governments, mast notably their
imposition of societal and economic restrictions.

From an early stage, Merlin responded proactively and comprehensively to this
new threat, in order to protect both guest and employee safety, ¥e have
developed and implemented robust COVID-19 safety protocols and procedures,
which have been enacted through comprehensive training and communications,
Regular and positive lisisons with health authorites, enforcement autherities and
sector associations have helped to ensure we reman fully connected and able to
share, or learn about, best practice safety standards.

In numerous territories we have helped government agencies to develop sector
specific COVID-19 guidance, We are therefore proud of the fact that we safely
welcomed over 22 million gucsts to our attractions in 2020 - to the best of aur
knowledge no on-site COVID-19 transmission cases were reported for any
guests that visited.

Srrategic HSS5 imuanves

The following strategic initiatives form the cornerstones te Merlin's Protecting the

Magic programme:

. Leadership and engagement — requiring our ieaders to exhibit visible,
proactive and unwavering leadership towards HSS, supported by our
pecple who are fully engaged with this shared responsibility. An example is
‘safety leadership walks” which are on-site walks, both in visitor areas and
‘back of house', by senior leaders in the business where dedicated time is
spent talking with staff about HSS matters and understanding what more
can be done.

. Competency and culture ~ fostering a positive and proactive safety culture,

with competent and talented people focused on the effective management
of HS5 risks. Rigorous training and instruction are fundamental to Merlin's
approach to HSS across the business. with mandatory new starter training
for all employees and safety leadership training for managers.
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Assessment and control of risk — identifying, understanding and controlling
HSS risks effecuvely. For example, in fire safety, fire engineering surveys of
our hotels have helped ensure that we continue to uphold the highest
physical and procedural controls at all of our hotels. With regard 1o food
safety we adopt the best practice system of Hazard Analysis and Critical
Control Points (HACCP), We ensure traceability and assurance over food
produce sources and support our guests in thelr choice of products based
on their specific dietary and allergy requirements.

Standards and procedures — developing and rigorously implementing clear
and suitable standards and procedures for safe dasign, construction,
maintenance and operation of assets and equipment.

Assets and equiprent — managing our assets and equipment to ensure
they are fit for purpose throughout their life-cycle and that no
unaccepable or uncontrolled HSS risk is created. Maintenance systems
and procedures comprise daily, weekly, monthly and annual maintenance
programmes across Merlin's rides, buildings, facilities and estates.
Morrtoring and assurance —assessing and critically reviewing our
performance. in a balanced and objective manner, to understand, improve
and sustaie our HSS performance. HSS performance, including near-miss
and incident reporting, is regularly reviewed by each attraction, each
Operating Group’s senior ieadership tzam and the HSS Committee, with
best practice learning shared throughout the HSS management community.
All attractions undergo three types of routine health and safety reviews
{annual self-audits, independent internal audits and periodic independent
external audits), n addition to pre-opening assessments and tactical ad-hoc
audits. A comprehensive food safety audit programme is also undertaken
by third party specialists.

This pracess includes the use of two types of performance metric, being;

iy Leoding indicotors — which monitor the activities we undertale as part
of our HSS governance and monitoring processes. Qur approach
includes arrangements by attractions for near-miss/unsafe condition
reporeing, trend analysis and correctwe action management. Due to
the impact of cross-border travel restrictions brought on by the
LOVIL-1Y pandemic, as well as extensive attraction temporary
closures, on-site food safety audits were not able to tzke place in
2020, Furthermore, because no employee survey tock place in
the year, the safety culture reporting normally incorporated in
that process was not caprured.

(i) Logong indicotors — which captura incident rates for both guests
and employees.

Please see overleaf for the results of cur monitoring and
assurance activities,
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Leading indicators 2020 2019  Chmate change

. o The Group has identified the following 1ssues related o climate change, which are
Safezy Inspection Ceruficates — Rides' ! H00% 100% set out below together with Merlin's approach in the relevant area.
Safe Operating Procedures — Rides 100% 100% s Energy use — the risk that using fossil fue! energy contributes to climate
Feod Safety Audits‘“ N/A 89% change. Meriin 1s investing in on-site zero to low carbon technologies such
: as sclar photovolzic.

- 4 h o
Safety Culure Survey Resules™ /A 93% . Energy price — the risk of fluctuation in the global energy price. Merlin is

HSS Committee Meetings'™ 100% 1 00% investing m energy efficient systems like LED lighting to reduce the amount
N f 3
Lagging indicators oF energy we US? .
j ) . *  Woeather — the risk of distortion in weather patterns. Merlin operates a
Medical Treamment Case Rate (Guests)™ 0cz 0.02 balance of outdoor theme park resorts and Midway attractions which are
Medical Treatment Case Rate (Employees)® 0.04 0.06 generally indoors.
s Waste, recycling, and the use of landfill - Merlin 15 diverong waste from
fandfill where possible through recycling and generating energy from waste.
For example, our four largest UK theme parks recycle and recover zll their

1 Sapety Inspection Cernfiuates ore ssued annualty ny mdependert side exanuners foilowing the rharough
wnspecoon ad 1estng of every theme pork nde o Merln This % score indicates the percentage of ides
that have @ vaid anneal Safety Inspection Certificate ssued or a format extensian gronted to such waste for energy generation.
annuol Inupectran Certficate due 1 the import of cross-border travel restrchons brought on by the
COVID- 19 pandernic . .

1Ze Eoch theme park nde i GReeanon ) Mern nist bave Safe Oberaming Procedures i place covenng the Commimert to p|F|SUC5 redugzion

ongong use of the nide These brocedures must sTare what the Decessary nsk sontals are for et nde Merlin 15 committed to being an environmenzally responsible business and has
Tius % score ncheates the percentage of ndes that nave Safe Operawng Pracedures o1 place been 2 !ong term advocare for reducing plastic pO”UtIDF'L We have already made
i3 Meddn comnussians on independent speaalst o nudt artroctons for comblgnce with s Foed Sofety great strides in our retail stores b)’ removing unnecessary packaging and plastic

Morue! This % scare represents the average comphance scate Winere apporfumtes for improverent (o . . . .
on all our branded merchandise. Additionally, in our SEA LIFF atcractions we have

local praguess are dennfied these e discussed with loodl managemen and pians mplemented 1o

address them
14y Medlia s anneol The Wizard Wents to Know emblayee servey fratwres o senes of questions relaing o
heatth and safery ond tis % score represents the overal safety FIQAZCMICTT SCONE
(50 Through the HSS Comnuttee the Board provdes stratepie directian and pedformance scrudiny of H33
naters wittin the busmess Addmonally, £ach Operamneg Group has iy own HSS Steerng Camntiee
Theze farums aie miendzd to meet quartesty and ths % scare indicates complrande with this expeciation
¢ A Medicas Treatmpnt Case TC) s defined aa an mgury which requires extemnal medecal reatment
(e omipulance quendance 1o the site or nosparal vt directly fram e sre) The rotes referenced aie the
number of MTCs relatve 1o eaher 10 000 goest vistanons or 0060 employee frours worked

o

Environmental matters

We recognise that our operations impact upon the environment and that
effective management, in line with our strategic business goals, is essential for
sustainable business success. We are committed to minimising the potentially
harmful effects of such acrivity.

The Executive Cammittee 1s responsible for setting strategy. policy, principles,
and guidance with ultimate responsibility for our sustainabrlicy strategy resting
with the Chief Executive Officer. ensuring that strategic policy is implemented
and that our sites' sustainabilicy objectives zlign to our corporate sustainability
objectives. We participate in the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme and
other applicable environmental regulanons globally. Specific budgets are made
available each year to test and implement environmentzally fecused initiatives.

Each artraction has a sustainability champion or manager who is responsible for
the delivery of oui- sustainzbility objectives at a local level. More details can be
found on the palicies and reports section of our website where our
environmental policy is published.

switched 75% of plastic contained within cur retail products 1o a type that is
recyclable, and we banned all plastic straws and retail plastic bags by the end of
2018. Other initiatives already undertaken include the remeval of plastic warter
bottles from all our offices, replacing them with water coolers or similar
refreshment devices.

We promote marine conservauon through our SEA LIFE brand, educating guests

on the dangers of plastic pollution in our oceans and actively contributing to
raising of awareness through our partner charity, the SEA LIFE Trust. Merlin's
46 SEA LIFE Centres across the world have joined forces with over 200 other
aguariums, oceanographic museums and zoos to form a global coaliton all
pledging to raise public awareness about plastic pollution with the
#BeatPlasticsPollution campaign.

We will continue to work with our global supply chain to remove unnecessary
plastic paclaging from our shops; we will pravide opportunities for all our staff
and guests to become involved at our attracions as well as helping them
consider behaviour change in cheir everyday lives, and; we will support the
SEA LIFE Trust in campaigning for greater protection over our marine
environrent and irs creatures.
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Streandined energy and carbon reporting

We set out in the table below our report on Merlin's carbon dioxide emissions and energy usage. We have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental
Reporting Guidelines. ¥ve have also used the Greenhouse Gas Protocol — Corporate Standard and have used emissions factors from I[EA CC; Emissions from Fuel
Combustion 202¢ edition for electricity by countries and the 2020 UK Government's Conversion Factors for other carbon aciivities,

Qur carbon reportng periad for 2020 is from September 2019 to August 2020. In 2020 our reported carbon intensity raue that measures the usage of CO; equivalent
(COse) as compared to revenue increased significantly; there is a significant element of our energy usage that does not flex with visitor volumes and in our SEA LIFE
Centres for example, Iife support systems for the animals in our care continue to run regardless of whether the attraction is open.

In the period cavered by the report, Merlin launched 2 series of energy efficiency initiatives. However, due to the disruption caused by COVID-19, we were only able
to complete ventilator and air conditioning optimisation projects at LEGOLAND Japan and LEGOLAND Billund which are expected to save 339,000 kWh annually,
and the installation of solar arrays at Chessington World of Adventures expected to generate approximately 44,000 kWh each year.

In this period, we purchased 46,313 MWh of renewable energy attributes through our energy procurement contract. The awributes are backed by Renewable Energy
Guarantees of Origin (REGOs).

020 2019

Globai Global

UK (excluding UK} UK {excluding UK)

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (MYVh) 84,707 217316 118266 25).142
Ermissions from combustion of natural gas, ail and LPG in t«C0Oe (Seope 1) 4627 6,125 6936 7.827
Ermissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes in tCCxe (Scope 1) 423 945 480 1,157
Enussions from use of CO? for faod and beverage purposes in tCOse {Scope 1) 17 38 28 77
Refrigerant emissions from refrigeration systems in tCO;e (Scope 1) 748 3,290 716 3,434
Emussions from purchased electricity and district heating (Scope 2, location-based) 12,837 70,771 18,778 83.144
Ermissions after applying purchaseci green emissions in tCOye (Scope 2, market-based) 1,168 70771 7 4,041 83,144

Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned vehicles where company

Il N repor -epor
15 responsible for purchasing the fuel in tCOqe (Scope 3) otreported  Not reported Not reported

Total gross in tCCze 6,994 81,169 12,201 95,639
Group total in tCOye 88,163 107,840

Group revenue (£m) 629 1,740

Intensity ratio: Group grass in tCOqe £1 million revenue 140 62

Table notes:

- Scope | refers to direct emissions (natural gos, LPG, heating o, refrigerants, diesel, petrof}

. Scope 2 refers to indwect emmsstons {purchused elearicity, purchased heat and steam)

. Scape 2 market based indude REGCs for our UK pperations.

s We recakulkated and republished our 2019 base year due to g change i our reporeng pertod from December 2018 — November 2019 to September 2018 — August 2019

L Our annudl corbon reducuon target s measived bosed on market-based emissions
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Social matters

Our strong social conscience informs how the Group operates, including with
regard to both the people and creatures connected to our business. This is
exemplified by areas such as cur ethical animal husbandry activites, our worl<
with children faced with the challenges of serious iliness, disability and adversity,
and how we approach visitor accessibilicy.

Animal consarvacon and welfare

We operate to world class weifare standards through our animal care natworlc
and support the work of our picneering marne conservation charity partner, the
SEA LIFE Trust, in its mission to protect marme life and habitats across the
world. Cur global SEA LIFE teams continue to deliver world class animal welfare
throughout cur animal care networl, as well as developing new and exciting
guest expeariences which will inspire future generations to care for cur oceans
and all marine Ife.

Whilst the doors of our attractions may have been closed for much of 2020 this
did not prevent our world class conservation and welfare acuvities continuing,
Teams across our welfare sites worked through various lockdowns to ensure
high standards of care were maintained and continued to drive engagement with
our guests. Hundreds of social-media films and live feeds reached millions across
the globe including Iive Q&A's, feeding times and a range of educational home-
schooling activities.

Merlin's strong welfare and conservation worle also continued throughout 2020,
with aver 70 grey and harbour seals rescued across the SEA LIFE and SEA LIFE
Trust seal rescue factities in northern Europe and the UK, and over 50 turtes
and one Australian sand tiger shark rescued in Australia. The team at SEA LIFE
Sydney Aquarium also launched the world's first Seahorse Hotel, part of an
important breeding and recovery project in collaboration with the NSW
Department of Primary Industries (DPI) Fisheries and the University of
Technology Sydney.

A real ‘world first’ was also seen in August 2020 when the SEA LIFE Trust and
Merlin's long held viskon came ta life as beluga whales Little White and Little
Grey moved into their new home in Klettsvik Bay, Iceland; site to the world’s
first Beluga Whale Sanctuary. We were delighted 1o have a documentary crew
following this monumental momene and the documentary, fronted by UK
celebrity John Bishop, aired on ITV in the UK in Gerober 2020, It will be aired in
other countries across the world in 2021, In early 2021 John and Melanie Bishop
became the Trust's first ever patrons.

Ve support additional ammal welfare inmiatives that are not connected to the
marine environment. Chessingtcn World of Adventures Resort in the UK and
WILD LIFE Sydney Zoc in Australia both maintaned their long-standing
commitment to animal breeding or managed species programmes.

For details of how we manage the risks regarding animal welfare, see page 20.
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Merlin's Magic Wand

Cur dedicated children’s charity partner, Merlin's Magic Wand {MMWY, is now in
its i3th year of operation. Although varicus challenges were presented as a result
of the global pandemic in 2020, the charicy was still able o deliver 21,560 Magical
Drays Cut tickets to children and their families, who are facing challenges of
serious illness, disability and adversity. We also completed the 50th Merlin's
Magic Spaces project. ready for launch in 2021, in Goshen, New York, near to
the new LEGOLAND New York resort. The charity aiso worked with our
attraction teams to reach over 5,300 children virtually through the Magic on
Tour programme.

In 2021, the charity aims to deliver on the remaining Magical Days Qut visits,
Magic Spaces project commitments, and vireual Magic on Tour offerings thacit
commitred to in 2020, as well as ‘building back betzar’ so thar more of our
beneficiaries and charity partners can look forward to a year full of magic in 2021.

Accessibiity

We remain focused on ensuring guests with disabilites can access the magic of
Merlin, including making necessary reasonable adjustments to our facilities for
guests with different requirements. We understand our obligations and we
care about continuously improving accessibility. In 2020 we were proud to
‘light up purple’ on 3 December at our attractions across the world to
celebrare nternational Day of Persons with Chsabilities, and Heide Park
Resort were delighted to be the first theme park in Germany to open a
Changing Places facility.

We also kept our disabled guests in mind as we adapted to navigate the
requirements for social distancing and face coverings, ensuring guidance was
established to centinue to provide suntable adjustments.

To support the engoing commitment to accessibility and o drive systematic
improvements across our business we have established a steering group led by
an Executive Committee member and continue to work alongside experts in
the field mncluding the UK's ‘Business Disability Forum’ and ‘Valuable500" to
inform developments.

Other areas

Anu-corruption and ana-bribery marters

Merlin's approach regarding the management of anti-bribery and corruption risks
is set out on page 2|. Merlin has a zero tolerance approach in this area, with
regular reports on whistleblowing being provided to the Audit Committee,

Ethical sourcing

We have a responsibility to the workers in our supply chain and seek to ensure
our products are made in an appropriate environment and the products we
source are produced in accordance with international laws and legislation. More
details on this area are available on our website.

Hupaan mghts

Merlin has implemented a Human Rights Policy, guded by the International
Labour Organisation Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work
together with the OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.

Further details and Merlin's Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement can
be found on Merlin's website.
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Overview

The Board continues tc believe that effective corporate governance is the
foundation of a well-run company and is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of gavernance througheut the Group. The Board recognises thata
strony governdne ramework is fundamental to the execution of Merlin's
strategic objectives, underpinned by a clear purpose and well understood
culture and values. Merlin's overriding purpose is to create truly memorable
experiences for visitors and long term value for our investors. Cur corporate
governance framework has been designed to safeguard these. The Board is
committed to ensuring that the procedures, policies and practices of the
business continue to be effective.

Following the acquisition of Merlin Entertainments in Navember 2019 by the
investor consortium, the governance principles for the MEL Group are
consistent with those of the Group headed by the ultimate parent undertaking
{Motion JVco Limited}, which was incorporated in 2019 to act as the top
company in the enlarged Group structure. These principles are set outin a
shareholder investor agreement between the investor consortium members. The
independent Chairman and the Directors that represent the investor consortium
are the same for both compamies, The Group Chief Executive Officerr and the
Group Chief Financial Officer are executive roles. They are Directars of the
Cornpany (but do not have voting rights at Board meetings), and attend Board
meetings of Motion [Vco Limited in their roles as executve management.

2020 priorities

Durmg 2020 the main areas of focus for the Board was to oversee Meriin's
response to the COVID- 19 pandemic. This required constant dialogue between
Board members and with executive management, together with an increase in
the frequency of Board meetings from the eight required by the shareholder
investor agreement to holding fortnightly mestings throughout the

summer period.

¥vhen the pandemic started to take hold and attractions were closed, these
discussions focused on ensuring the Group had sufficient liquidity. including the
raising of new debt in the form of new senior notes, and reviewing the
Company's actions to manage costs and Iquidity. The Board oversaw the
reopening of attractions following lockdown periods, including new protocols
that ensured the safety of guests and staff. They approved restructuring
programmes that re-engineered how the business operates in an environment
of social distancing, and projects to reduce the ongoing fixed cost base of the
business. They monitored the trading performance of atoractions and towards
the end of the year the Board reviewed and approved the Company’s medium
term strategic plan. This inclided considering the wider macro risks as to how
the Company anticipates further recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, for
example frem the risk of future virus variants or the impact of potentially slower
vaccine roll outs.

Corporate governance framework

Merlin applied the prowvisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code up 1o the
date of delisting from the London Stock Exchange in fate 2019. Following that
delisting, the new Board concluded the approprate approach to corporate
governance should be to adopt the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for
Large Private Companies, which in many respects follow similar principles to cthe
Code. Merlin's approach to and standard of governance therefore remains
essentially unchanged.

Durl’ng 2021, the Board will continue t& maintain the strong corporate
governance environment with particular focus around stakeholder engagement,
dwversity and inclusion, and remuneration. The Wates Principles and details of
how the Group approaches them are set out below.
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Principle One - Purpose and Leadership
An effective hoard develops and prometes the purpese of 3 company, 914 casiies that
its vajues. stretegy and culture align with that purpose

Since 1999, Merhn's strategy has been to create a high growth. high return
family enterinment company. The business is based on strong brands and a
global portfolio which is naturally balanced against the impacr of external factors.
This strategy 15 aligned with our purpose of delivering memorable experiences
to our millions of visiters and our vision of being the global leader in location
based enterrainment.

The Board continues to review and challenge Mertin's strategy, performance,
responsidility, and accountability so that every decision made is of the highest
quality, and in line with the Company's culture, as set out in "The Merdin Way'
values which are embedded throughout the business from day-to-day
management to Board reviews, The business model and the growth drivers of
the Group are outlined in pages 6 to 9.

Whilst the Board holds overall responsibility for developing and promaoting the
purpose of the Group, the Executive Comnittee ensure that the values, strategy
and culture continue to be distilled down into every aspect of the Group on their
behalf. The Board's Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of our
whistieblowing and fraud poficies.

Principle Two = Board Compaosition

Effectve boo:d composiian reguires an effeceve chow and o bolance of skefls,
backgrounds, expenence ond knowledge, with mdividual dii ectars Saving encogh
capacty to make ¢ valuoble contribution The size of a board <houid be guided by the
scale and complexity of the company.

The Board of Directors of the Company are appointed in accordance with the
shareholder investment agreement. This sets out that the Board should include
shareholder representatives, an independent Chairman (who was appointed on
7 April 2020). the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer.

tach investor has nominated suitably qualified representatives to sit on the Board.
The Directors possess a wide range of skills, baclgreunds, experience, and
knowledge across a broad range of businesses. The compasition of the Board is
considered appropriate for the size and complexity of the Company. The Board
has established an Audit Committee and Health, Safety and Security Committee
that have both been in operation throughout the year, Due cansideration has
been given in appointing the Chair of each Commuttee, with the Audit
Committee being chaired by an individual with recent and relevant financial
experience and the Health, Safety and Security Committee being chaired by an
independent heaith and safety expert. In 2021 the Remuneration Committee has
been established. The responsibilities of the Board and these Committees are
outlined on page 28 to 29.

The Board and Executive Commitree together comprise |2 men and three
women. Details of the gender mix of the Group and its senior management are
set out on page 22, together with details of our actions n the area of diversity
and inclusivity.

Details of the Board members can be found on pages 30 to 31.
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Principle Three - Directors Responsibilities

The taard and mdwdual dreciors should frave a dear undsrstanding of thew
Gecountabuity and responsibiies The boai d's polices and procedives should support
effecive deasion-making and independent chalienge

The Board is responsible for directing the affairs of the Company to best

promote the success of the Company for the benefit of shareholders and with
consideration of its stakeholders. This is done in a way which is consistent with
its ethical, legal, and regulatory responsibilities and the Company's constitution.

Following the Merlin acquisition in lace 2019, the shareholder investment
agreement and respective terms of reference of the Board and its Committees
were formally approved during the year. These give clear guidance on matters
which require Board or Committee approval. The Board meet at least eight
times a year, either in-person or by video conference calls, although the
frequency was much higher in 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Board are provided with appropriate board packs in advance of the
meetings, including trading updates. financial performance, employee
engagement and welfare, and management of key business risks. VWhen making
decisions, enly the shareholder representatives have voting righes.

The Board delegates authority for the day-to-day management of the Company
to the Executive Commictee which meets at least eight times each year. Details
of each Committee can be found en pages 28 to 29.

Principle Four - Opportunity and Risk

hoard shauld promote the fong term sustamable success of the company by
identfying opportunives to creare and preserve valus and establiching oversight for the
dentificaron and mitigation of risks

Owersight of risk management is performed on an ongoing basis through the
Board's interaction with management and by risk being a regular item on Board
agendas. As set out below, two Board Comnuttees have specific responsibilities
in the key areas of health, safety and security and wider risk management and
internal controls activities. Commercial risks are considered by Committees
chaired by exegutive management and are rapnrrod bagl ta the Board.

The Board retains overalt responsibility for risk management and approves the
risk management framework which sets out the responsibilities, oversight,
monitoring, reporting and management processes, Further details regarding the
approach 1o risk management are set out on pages 16 to 21.

Long term strategic opportunities are highlighted through the Group's strategic
planning processes that the Board oversees. Dedicated strategy review sessions
that were performed m previous years did not take place during 2020 as the
Board oversaw the Group's response to the COVID-19 pandemic, bur are
planned for 2021. Other opportunities are brought to the attention of the
Board when they arise.
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Principle Five = Remuneration

A board should promote executive remuneranon stuctures aigned 1o the iong tarm
sustainable success of a company, consdermg pay and conditions elsewaie in the
comtbaiy

Remuneration matters during the year were considered directly by the Board,
pending the creation of the Remuneration Committee at the starc of 2021. All
future matters relating to remuneration will be considered by that body and
recommended to the Board for approval, in line with the Committee’s terms of
reference that are sec out below.

Principle Six - Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement
Directars showld joster effective stakefiolder rolationshups aligned to the companys
purpose, The bourd s responaible for overseeing meaningful engagement with
stakeholders, including the workfotce, and hawrg regard to then views when
toking decisions

The Board are aware of the importance of fostering effective stakeholder
relationships to enable the long term success of the Group. Details of how Merlin
engages with stakeholders, including employees, is provided in the Section 172
statement below. The Group’s business model also focuses on our interactions
with customers, employees and investors: more mformation can be found on
page 7.

Board and Committee responsibilities
The Board
The responsibilities of the Board are detailed below:
. overseeing strategy, management and approval of major policies
. determining the capital structure
*+  maintaining the system of internal controls and risk management
. approval of the annual capial expenditure budget, major capital projects
and strategic transactions
s effective engagement with shareholders and other stakehoiders
s reviewing recommendations from Commitiees including:
- Rrard mamborchip
—  Board and senior management remuneraton
- succession planning
- diversity
- financial reports

Board Committees
The following Board Committees have been in operation during the year and
unless otherwise stated, remain.

Heatth. Safety and Secuity Commuttee

This Committee ensures that health, safety and security {HSS) matters are
managed effectively and proactively throughout the Group, by overseeing our
palicies and procedures for HSS, monitoring our processes for identifying and
managing risks and monitoring the skills, effectiveness and levels of rescurce
within our HSS teams.

The Committee membership comprises an independent chair and
representatives from each member of the investor consortium, Meetings are also
attended by the Group CEO and CFO, together with the Group Safety.
Engineering and Security Director, the Chief Operating Officer of the Midway
Artractions Cperating Group and the Managing Director of the Resort Theme
Farks Operating Group.
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Audit Commimies

This Committes assists the Board in discharging its responsibilities regarding
financial reporting by monitoring the integrity of our financial statements including
considering whether the financial statements are ‘'fair, balanced and
understandable’, It assists the Board in refation W external and internal audis,
including monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function
and overseeing the performance and independence of external auditors. It also
assists the Board in matters of risk management and internal contretls, including
monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of our whistleblowing and fraud
policies and our internal control and risk management.

The Committee membership comprises representatives from two members of
the investor consortium. one of which is a Board member.

R{-munemdﬂﬂ Cornrittes
The Remuneration Committee was created in early 2021 and the first meeting
was held in March 2021.

The Remuneration Comimittee assists the Board in determining its responsibilities
in refation to remuneration, including making recommendations on the policy on
executive remuneration, determining the individuat remuneration and benefits
package of each of the Executive Directors and recommending and monitoring the
rermuneration of senior management below Board level.

The Committee will consider all material elements of Merfin's remuneration
policy, remuneration and incentives of Executive Directors and senior
management with reference to independent remuneration research and
professional advice and maike recommendations on the framework for executive
remuneration. The Committee will also be responsible for making
recommendations for the grants of awards under any future share incentive plans.

The Remuneration Committee's membership comprises the independent
Chairman and representatives of each of the consortium of investors.

Other Commitiees

In addition to the Board Committees, there are three non-Board Cominiitiees:

*  Exeative Committee — chaired by the Chief Executive Cfficer, this
Committee is responsible for managing the Group's day-to-day operations
and the development of strategic plans for consideration by the Board.

Two operational Committees have specific areas of responsibility as follows:

s Commeraal ond Stratesic Risik Managemant Committes — maintaing oversight
and guidance on management of commerdial and strategic risk.

. Deveiopment Bodrd — appraises significant capital expenditure and
development projects.

Section |72 statement

The Board have remained consistent in their approach to stakeholder engagement
and acknowledging the need to maintain high standards of business conduct.
During the decision-making process the Board continues to have regard for the
impact of their decisions on the Company's stakehalders as required in section
172 of the Companies Act 2006, taking inte account the likely consequences of
any decision in the long term. As 1s normal for farge companies, authority for day-
to-day management in these areas 15 delegated to the Execurive Committee. with
the Board providing oversight. The Board takes their responsibility to understand
the views of stakeholders seriously and strives to build productive business
relationships with them. Merlin has engaged with stakeholders throughout the
year and the Board will look to further the inclusien of stakeholders' interests
within the Board decision-making processes.
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Employsss

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board considered how attracuon and
office closures would impact employees. Accessing government support packages
meant that the Company was able to minimise the impact on employees,

| hroughout the year, lines of communication with our employees were maintained,
ensuring that all employees, whether furloughed or working, were kept fully
updated on the business operations on a regular basis. Additional cccupational
support was made available to ail employees. Focus on employee welfare has always
been a key consideration for the Board and in response to the pandemic the Board
ensured that ahead of reopening the attractions, extensive training, using a variety
of mediums, was given to ali employees.

The Board receives regular HR updates at Board meetings, More details on
employee engagement are set out on page 22.

Business partners

Merlin believes a collaborative approach with business partners enables the most
mutually beneficial refationship. allowing us to engage on matters that affect both
Merfin's and our business partners’ key strategies.

Examples of such collaboration are set out below;

. Extensive discussions with the business partner of LEGOLAND Dubai to
ensure the continued success of the operation of the park and the hotel that
has been under construction in 2020.

. Consideration of ride suppliers as part of the new themed land at
LEGOLAND Windsor. The final choice of supplier was made based on
previous experience and ride supply at other LEGOLAND parks.

. Consideration was given to our long term relationships with multiple
landlords where detalled negouations took place.

Guests

We receive constant feedback from our guests through satisfaction surveys and
social media. The results of these are monitored by management and reported
back to the Board.

In 2020, consideration was given to how customers might feel about returning to
our atwractions ence pandemic restrictions were lifted and the Board approved the
management proposal for new propositions throughout the business to encourage
customers back, Consumer studies were conducted 1o assess customer areitudes
ta our proposed health and safety regimes and the instructive responses helped 1o
shape the implementation of appropriate measures to meert those expectations.

Following extensive consumer research which identified two potentially strong
performing concepts, the Board approved the creation of a new land at
LEGOLAND Windsor — 'LEGO MYTHICA'. Aimed at the core family market,
further research with parents and children was conducted to refine the propesiticn
before development commenced. Accessibility and sustainability were also
considered as part of the project to ensure that improvement and maintenance of
our accessibility standards were met,

COI“mUHItEES and [he environmaont
Merlin's attractions operate responsibly at the heart of their communities,
contributing to the local economy.

Merlin continues to support the work of our partner charities Merlin's Magic
Wand, that provides children around the world with memorable experiences, and
the SEA LIFE Trust, that works to protect the marine environment. More detalls
are set out on page 26.
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Merlin recognises that cur operations impact upon the enviranment and we are
committed to minimising the potentially harmful effects of our activities. We are
commuitted to being an environmentally responsible business and have been a
long term advocare for reducing plastic pollution, Further details are set out on
pages 24 ta 25.

Lenders

The Group maintans ongoing relationships with the institutions that provide
financing facilities. More details on our financing arrangements and how these
are structured are set out in the financal and operating review on pages 10
w15

In 2020, working together with the investor consortium, Merlin's parent
companies raised €500 million in senior notes on the public markets to provide
extra liquidity.

Board membership
The members of the Baard during the year and at the date of this report are set
out below.

The Group Chief Executive Officer and the Group Chief Financial Officer are
executive roles and these positions do not have voting rights at Board meetings.
The other Directors currently serving are the independent Chairman and the
members of the investor consortium, who also have the right to appoint
observers to Board and Committee meetings. Each Director from the
consortium of investors has one vote at the Board.

Nick Varney, Group Chief Executive Officer
Nick has 30 years' experience in the visitar attractions industry and was
appointed Chief Executive Officer of Merlin Entertainments in 1999.

Nick started his career in FMCG marketing, first with Rowntree and then with
Recldtt Colman. He went on to hold senior positions within The Tussauds
Group (Pearson PLC), including Marketing Director of Alton Towers and Head
of Group Marlketing. before becoming Managing Director of Vardon Attractions
and a main Board Director of Vardon ple. In 1999 Nick ted rhe managoment
buyout of Vardon Attractions o form Merlin Enterminments and, in 2005,
mitiated the process which led to its acqussiton by Blackstone,

Nick is a Board member of UK Hespitality, the trade body representing the
UK’s hospitality and tourism mdustry with a membership of over
45,000 companies.

Alistair Windybank, Group Chief Financial Officer

Alistair was appointed Chief Financial Officer in November 2020, including
responsibility for Merlin Group IT and Procurement. He was appointed a
Directer of the Company on | July 2020.

Alistair joined Merlin in 2008 and has held various semor finance roles, including
Head of Corporate Finance, Group Investor Refations Directar, Senior Finance

Director — Capitaf Projects and most recently, Deputy CFC.

Prior to Merlin, Alistair worked for Deloitte in Audit & Assurance,
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Roland Hernandez, Independent Chairman

Rotand was appointed as a Director and independent Chairman on 7 April 2020,
He is the Founding Principal and Chief Executive Officer of Hernandez Media
Ventures, a privately held company engaged in the acquisition and management of
riiediz assets. He has served in dhis capacity since January 2001,

Before founding Hernandez Media Yentures, Roland served as Chairman of
Telemundo Group, Inc., a Spanish-language television and enterainment
company, from 1998 to 2000 and as President and Chief Executive Cfficer from
1995 to 2000. He serves as a member of the Boards of US Bancorp, Fox
Corporation, MGM Resorts International, and Take-Twe Interactive Software,
Inc, He serves on the advisory board of Harvard Law Schoal and previously
served on the Board of Cirectors of Belmond Ltd, Sony Corporation, Walmart
Inc, and Vail Reserts, Inc.

Roland received an A.B. in economics from Harvard College and a |.D. from
Harvard Law Schoal.

Soren Thorup Sorensen, KIRKBI Shareholder Representative

Soren was appeinted as a Non-executive Director of Merfin in 2013, prier to
Merln's |PO, representing KIRKBY. Soren has over 25 years' experience in finance
and 15 currently the Chief Executive Officer of KIRKBI ASS and Director of
varicus endties in the KIRKEBI Group.

Soren is currently Chairman of the Board of Boston Holding A/S, Deputy
Chairman of LEGO A/S and a Non-executive Director of ISS A/S, Landis+Gyr
AG, Ole Kirls Foundation, ATTA Foundation and Koldingvej 2, Billund A/S.
Soren was formerly a Partner, Chief Financial Officer of AP, Moller — Maersk
Group and Managing Partner of KPMG Denmark,

Sidsel Marie Kristensen, KIRKB/ Shareholder Representatve

Sidsel was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019, Sidsel has almost 20
years' experience as a lawyer. Sidsel joined KIRKBI A/ in 2016 and 15 currently
Executive Vice President and General Counset at KIRKBI A/S and Director of
varicus endties in the KIRKEI Group.

Sidsel was formerly a Partner of the Danish law firm Bech-Bruun.

Jorgen Vig Knudstorp. KIRKBI Shareholder Representative

Jorgen was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019, having previously been
a Board observer while Merlin was listed. Jorgen has been a member of the
LEGO ASS Board since 2017 and has previously served as Chairman from May
2017 to February 2020,

He is the Executive Chairman of LEGO Brand Group and Deputy Chairman of
LEGO Foundation, Jargen 1s also a member of the Board of Starbucks. Jorgen
joined the LEGO Group in 2001, where he served as President and CEC from
2004 10 2016.
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Joseph Baratta, Blackstone Shareholder Representative

Joseph was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019, Joseph Barata is
Global Head of Private Equity at Blatkstone and a member of the firm's
Management Commitiee, He also serves on many of the firm's

investment committees.

Mr Baratta joined Blackstone in 1998 and in 2001 he moved w0 London to help
establish Blackstone's corporate private equity business in Europe. Since 2012,

Mr Baratta has served as the firm's Global Head of Private Equity and is located
in New York

Mr Baratta has served on the Boards of many past Blackstone portfolio
companies and currently serves as a member or observer on the Boards of First
Eagle Investmant Management, Refinitiv, and SESAC. He is alsc a member of the
Board of Trustees of Georgetown University; 1s a trustee of the Tate
Foundation; serves on the Board of Year Up, an organisation focused on youth
employment; and serves on rhe Board of Trustees of Trinity Schoul in New
York City.

Before joining Blackstone, Mr Baratta was with Timcum Incorporated and
McCown De Leeuw & Company. Mr Bararta also worked at Morgan Stanley in
its mergers and acquisitions department, Mr Barata graduated magna cum laude
fram Georgetown University.

Peter ¥Wallace, Blackstone Shareholder Representative

Peter was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019. Mr Wallace 1s a Senior

Managing Director and serves as co-head of .S, Acquisitions for Blackstone's
Prvate Equity Group. Mr Wallace leads Blackstone's private equity investments
in the business services, leisure and consumer/retail sectors.

Since jotning Blackstone in 1997, Mr Wallace has led or been involved in
Blackstone’s investments in Alight Solutions, AlliegBarton Security Services,
Allied Waste, American Axle & Manufacruring, Centennial Communications,
Centerplate (formerly Volume Services America), Michaels Stores, New Skies
Sateflites, Outerscuff, Ltd., Pinnacle Foods/Birds Eye Foods, PSAV, PSS,
SeaWorld Parls & Entertainment (formerly Busch Entertainment Corporation),
Service King, Servpro, Sirius Satellite Radio, Tradesmen International, Universal
Orfando, Viving, Vivint Solar and The Weather Channel Companies. He
currently serves on the Board of Directors of Alight Soluticns, Merlin
Enteruinments, PSAV, P35I Service King, Servpro, Tradesmen International, and
Vivine. He is a trustee of Children’s Aid Society, one of America’s oldest and
largest children's non-profit organisations. Mr Wallace received a BA from
Harvard College, where he graduated magna cum laude.
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Lori Hall-Kimim, CPPIB Shareholder Reprasentative

Lori was appointed as a Director on 4 Navember 2019, Lori 15 a Managing
Director in Direct Private Equity at CPPIB, and has been leading the Consumer
Retall team since 2048. Lori initially joined CPP tnvestments in 2016 and was
previously a Senior Principal leading Co-investments within the Seccndaries and
Co-Investments group.

Prior to CPPIB, Lort was 2 Director in Private Capital at Ontane Teachers'
Pension Plan from 2005 to 2015, where she established their London office, and
lead numerous European fund and co-investments from 2007 to 2015. Lori
previously worked in the Consumer Retail Investment Barking team at
Goldman Sachs. Lori currently serves on the Board of Nord Anglia Education,
and was previously on the Board of 9% Cents Only Stores, Gruppo Coin, and
Alexander Forbes Pry. Lori has 2 BBA from York University {Schulich School of
Business) and an MBA from Columbia University.

Anne-Francoise Nesmes, Group Chief Financial Officer
Anne-Francoise resigned on 30 June 2020,
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The Directors have pleasure in submitung their report and the audited financial
statemnents for the 52 weelc period ended 26 December 2020. Comparative
figures relate to the 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019,

I order to make our Annual Report and Accounis more accessible, we have set
out below where certain required disclosures can be found in cther areas of this
Annual Report.

Strategic Report

Nan-financial reporting

Information regarding Merlin's approach to the five topics required by the
Companies Act is set out in the Responsible Business section on pages 22 to 26,

Other informaton

Other information is set out as follows:

. Business review and future developments — see pages | 1o 26.

. Research and development — details about Merlin Magic Making are
located on page 6.

. Directors — details are on pages 30 1o 31.

. Employees — details on how we communicate with employees are on
page 22.

. Directors' responsibilities statement — see page 34.

Governance

Wates Principles

The Board has adopted the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large
Private Companies. Denails of the VWates Principles framework can be viewed
on the website of the Finanaial Reporting Coundil (www.frc.org.uk). For
maore details see pages 27 1o 28.

Other information

Other information is set out as follows:

s Corporate governance - see pages 27 to 31.
*  Section 172 statement — see pages 29 to 30.

Financial statenents

The financial statements contain information in the following areas:
«  Capmalised interest — see note 2.3.

. Financial instruments — see note 4.3.

. Financial risk mznagement - see note 4.3.

. Related parties — see note 5.3.

. Subsidiaries and joint ventures — see note 5.7,
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Directors’ Report
The Directors’ Report itself contains the sections detailed below.

Share capital and related matters

I he Articles of Association do not contain any restricuons on the wansfer of
shares i the Company other than customary restrictions applicable where any
amount is unpaid on a share (all the issued share capital of the Company as of the
date of this Annual Report and Acceunts is fully paid). Each ordinary share in the
capital of the Company ranks equally in all respects. No shareholder holds shares
carrying special rights relating 1o the control of the Company.

Amendment to the Company's Articles of Assocration
The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a special
resolution of its shareholders passed at a general meeting of its shareholders.

Appointment and removal of Directors

The Company is governed by its Articles of Association and the Companies
Act and related legislation. with regard to the appointment and replacement
of Directors.

Power of Directors i respect of share capital
The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company.

Drrectors’ indemnities and msurance

The Articles of Association of the Company permit it to indemnify the Directors
of the Company or any Group company aganst liabilities arising from or in
connection with the execution of their duties ar powers to the extent permitted
by law.

The Company has not given any specific indemnity in favour of the Directors
during the year, but the Company has purchased Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Insurance, which provides cover for liabilties incurred by Directors in the
performance of their duties or powers. No amount was paid under any
Director’s indemnity or the Directors’ and Officers’ Liabikicy Insurance during the
year other than the zpplicable insurance premiums.
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Significant contracts

There were ne contacts of significance during the year to which the Company,
or any of its subsidiary undertakings. is a party and in which a Director is or was
materially interested.

Branches outside the UK
Merlin Entertainments Limited has na branches ourside the UK.

Dmwidend
No dividends were paid during the year. A fingl dividend for the year ended
29 December 2018 of 5.5 pence per share was paid on 16 May 2019.

Garng concern
The Directors consider that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

In making this statement the Directors have satisfied (heimsetves that based on
its current base case projections, the Group has access to sufficient cash funds
and borrowing facilities and can reasonably expect those facilities to be available
to meet the Group's foreseeable cash requirements.

This assessment also takes into account an assessment of the impact of the
COVID-19 pandemic. which results in a material uncertainty o going concern.
For further details see note |.i to the financial statements.

Political donations
Na political donations were made during the year.

Auditors

As recommended by the Audit Committes, 2 resolution for the re-appointment
of KPMG LLF as auditors to the Company will be proposed. So far as the
Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. The Directors have taken all reasonable steps 1o
ascertain any relevant audit information and ensure the auditors are aware

of such informauon.

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Approval of Annual Report
The Strategic Report, Corporate Governance Report and the Directors’ Report
were approved by the Board on |5 April 2021

For and on behalt ot the Board
Matthew Jowett
Chief Corporate Officer and Company Secretary

15 April 2021

Merlin Entertainments Limited
Registered number 08700412
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RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group
and parent Company financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations,

Company law requires the Directors te prepare Group and parent Company
financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and they have elected to

prepare the parent Company financial staterments in accordance with

UK accounung standards and applicable law, including FRS 101 "Reduced
Disclosure Framework'.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's prefic or loss for that
period. In preparing cach of the Group and parent Company financial
statements, the Directors are required to:

. select suitable accounung policies and then apply them consistently;

. make judgements and estimates that are reasonable, refevant, reliable
and prudent;

»  for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006:

. for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable
UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any marerial
departures disciosed and explained in the financial statements;

. assess the Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and

. use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease Gperations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that
are sufficient to show and explain the parent Company's transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006. They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary 1o enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misscatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have
general responsibility for talking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and

other irregularities.

Under applicable iaw and regufations, the Directors are also responsible for
preparing a Strategic Report and a Directors’ Report that complies with that
law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company's webste.
Legisfation in the UK governing the preparation and dissermmarion of financial
statements may differ from legislavon in other jurisdictions.
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To the Members of Merlin Entertainments Limited

1 Qur opinion is unmodified

We have audited the financiai statements of Merlin Entertainments Limited (the
Company) for the 52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 which comprise the
consohdated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows, Company stazement of

financial position, Company statermnent of changes in equity, and the related notes,

inchuding the accounting policies in note 1.1.

In our opinion:

. the financial staternents give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 26 December 2020
and of the Group's loss for the year then ended:

. the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

. the parent Company financial statements have been properfy prepared
in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework; and

. the financial szarements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing
(UK {I5As {UK)} and applicable law. Qur responsibilities are described below.
We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the
Group i accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entities. ¥We believe that the audit evidence we have
ochrained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to note |.1 to the financial statements which indicates that
the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic mean that the Group's and the
parent Company’s ability to continue as a going concern in a severe burt plausible
downside scenario may be dependent on cash injections from the consortium of
investors in the parent Company's ultimate parent company (Moticn JVco
Limited), the confirmation {already received) that Motion |Veo Limited waill not
seek the repayment of preference shares held as debt and parent company loans
and/or the extension of further bank facilities. These events and conditions, along
with the other matters explained in note 1.1, constitute a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the parent Company’s ability
to contipue as a going CONCEIN.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

The risk: disclosure quality

The financial statements explain how the Board has formed a judgement that it is
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of preparation for the Group and
parent Company.

That judgement 1s based on an evaluation of the inherent risks to the Group's
and parent Company’s business model and how those risks might affect the
Group's and parent Company’s financial resources or ability to continue
operations over a period of at least a year from the date of approval of the
financial statements.

There 1s httle judgement involved in the Directors’ conclusion that risks and
circumstances described in note 1.1 to the financial statements represent a
material uncertainty over the abllity of the Group and parent Company to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial staternents.

However, clear and full disclesure of the facts and the Directors’ rationale for
the use of the going concern basis of preparation, including that there is a related
material uncertainty, 15 a key financial staterment disclosure and so was the focus
of our audit in this area. Auditing standards require that to be reported as a key
audit matter,

Our response:
Our procedures included:

Assessiig transparency assessing the completeness and accuracy of the matters

covered in the going concern disclosure by;

. Evaluating the processes and models used by management in its
assessment;

. Evaluating whether the assumptions are realistic and achievable and
consistent with the external and/or internal environment and ather
matters identified in the audit;

. Evaluating management’s assessment of the entity's compliance with debt
covenants: and

. Assessing the reasonableness of management’s budgetsfforecasts including
comparisons to past performance and the evaluanon of downside
sensitivities.

Our results

‘We found the going concern disclosure in note |.| with a material uncertainty
o be appropriate (28]9: appropriate).
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3 Other ley audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement
Key audit matrers are those matters that, in our professional judgement. were of most signiicance in the audit of the financial statements and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud} identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit
strategy;: the allocation of resources in the audic; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. Going concern is a significant key audic matter and is described in
section 2 of cur report. YWe suniuarise below the other key audit matters, m decreasing order ot signiticance. in arriving at our audit opinion above, together with our
key audit procedures to address those matters and our findings (our results) from those procedures in order that the Group's members, as a body, may better
understand the process by which we arrived at our audit opinion. These matters were addressed, and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context
of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinian thereon, and consequently are incidental to that opinion,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these martters.

Carryng value of goodwill
£816 million (201 9: £800 miflion)

Refer to pages 63 to 64 {accounting policy}
and pages 64 to 65 (financial disclosures)

Risk vs. 2019: increasing

The risk

Forecast based valuation:

A history of business combinations has resulted in
significant goodwall balances. Subjectivity over
recoverable amounts has mcreased since we signed the
prior year financial statements given the impact of the
COVIDC-19 pandemic on the esumate of forecast cash
flows. The effect of these macters is that, as part of our
risk assessment, we determined that the forecast future
cash flows used in calculating the value in use of each
Operating Group have a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of reasonable
outcomes greater than cur materiality for the financial
statemnents as a whole, and possibly many times that
amount. The financial statements (note 3.3) disclose the
sensitivities estimated by the Group.
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Our response

Qur procedures included:

Historical comparnsons:

. assessing five years' historical accuracy of the
Group's forecasting and building comparable
variations in forecasting accuracy inte our own
madels that were used to re-perform the
valuation;

* evaluating expected changes in site-level cash flows
{from activities such as new promaotions, customer
experience improvements and trends from
previous post-lockdown openings) and the planned
cost base, in light of the past results of similar
activities carried out by the Group as well as
recovery of the sites post-closure;

Sensitivity analysis: assessing the reasonableness of
management's sensitivity analysis, including calculating the
impact of changes in key assumptions, performing
brealkeven analysis of the forecast cash flows, and
muodelling the cash flows of a base case scenario;

Comparing valuations: comparing the sum of the
discounted cash flows across the Group to an adjusted
expeacted purchase price of the Group, driven by the
previous acquisition price of the Group adjusted for
changes in market value of industry competitors; and

Assessing transparency: assessing whether the Group's
sensitivity disclosures regarding the impairment testing
adequately reflect the risks inherent in the valuation of
goodwill.

Our results
We found the resulting estimate of the recoverable
amount of goodwill to be acceptable (2019 accepiable).

U
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Visitor and accommodation revenue

recognition

£593 million (2019 £1,672 milion)
Deferred income £18% miillion (2019:
£183 million)

Refer to page 50 {accounting policy) and
pages 49 to 50 (financial disclosures).

Risk vs 2019: stable

The risk

Processing error;

Meilin's revenues come from a number of different
channels, locations and sysieims, sometimes featuring
manual processes to match past purchases to
redemptions or to ransfer data to the finance systems.

The low value of individual transactions means individual
errors would be insignificant, however the high volume
of transactions mean systemic failure could lead to
difficulty in detecting errors that, in aggregate. may have
a material impact.

AMNNIAL REPORT ANDG 4CCOUNTS 2020

Our response

QOur procedures included:

Control design and operaucn: testing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of manual
controls supporting revenue recognition, including
reconciliations of till records to cash banked and to
revenue journal entries in the accounting records;

IT controls: at certain sites, where we anticipated being
able to rely on such systems, testing of the general {T
control environment of the systems used to record
revenue and evaluating controls over the revenue
process including their operating effectiveness;

Expectation vs outcome: forming an expectation for
revenue by analysing total cash received per bank
statements as adjusted for non-revenue transactions,
sales taxes collected and balance sheet movements and
comparing this expectation to revenue recognised; and

Tests of decail:

. agreeng a sample of revenue transactions to bank
statements or other supporting documentation.

. testing deferred revenue balances through
agreament to ticketing system records and re-
performing specific manual calculations. The extent
of this tesung refiected the cutcome of our
controls testing at each location.

Our results
We found the revenue amounts recognised to be
acceptable {201 - acceptable).

Recoverabitity of the parent Company's
investment in and amounts owed by Group
undertakings

Investments in subsidiaries £3,160 million
(2019 £3,160 million).

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
£114 million current, £3,866 million non-
current (2019, £46 million current,

£3.843 milfion non-current)

Refer to pages 94 1o 96 (accounting policy
and financial disclosures).

Risk vs 2019: stabfe

Low risk. high value:

The carrying amount of the parent Company’s
investment in and amounts owed by Group undertakings
represents 99.9% (2019 100%) of the parent Company's
otal assets. Their recoverability does not lead to a high
risk of significant misstatement, nor is it subject to
significant judgement, However, due to their materiality
in the context of the parent Company financial
stataments, this is considered to be the area that has had
the greatest effect on our overall parent Company audit.

We performed the tests below rather than seeking to
rely on any of the Company's contrels because the
nature of the balance is such that we would expect o
obrtain audic evidence primarily through the detailed
procedures described:

Comparing valuations: comparing the carrying amount of
the investment with the expected value of the business
based on a recently observable sale of the Group,
adjusted for market trends.

Assessing compenent audits: the work performed by the
component team on those components and considering
the results of that work on those components’ profics
and nec assets.

Our resules

We found the Group's assessment of the recoverability
of the investment in and amounts owed by Group
undertakings to be acceptable (2019: acceptable).
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4 Qur application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our
audit

Materiality for the Group finandial statements as a whole was set at £10,400.000
{2019: £12,250,000), determined with reference to a benchmark of Total Group
revenues averaged over a four year period, of which it represencs |.7% (2019
5.2% of Group underlfying brofit before tax). This is a change in the benchmark from
previous years to reflect the business in a private market. Materiality for the
parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £2,000,000 (201 %:
£2,500,000), determined by reference to component macerslicy. This 1s lower
than the materiality we would otherwise have determined by reference to total
assets, and represents 0.02% of the parent Company's total assets (2019 0.04%).

We agreed to report to the Audit Committes any corrected or uncorrected
identified misstaterments affecting profic exceeding £520,000 (2019: £608,000) or
otherwise exceeding £2,000,000 (2019 £2,000 000}, in addition to other
identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the percentages
illustrated opposite. Total profits and losses coverage is cakculated by considering
absolute profits and losses before @x, after eliminating inter-group interest
income and expense. foreign exchange movements on inter-group loans and
inter-group dividends. This also includes procedures on finance costs and assets
established on consolidation: the total of these balances were audited at Group
level. Full scope audits for Group reporting purposes were performed at 30
{2019 31} components in the following countries: Australia, China (including
Hong Keng), Denmark, Germany, ltaly, Japan, Thailand, UK, South Korea

and USA.

The 22 (2019 21} components for which we performed specified risk-focused
audit procedures or analysis at an aggregated Group level were not individualty
significant but were included in the scope of our Group reporting work to
provide further coverage. We select these components on a rotational basis,
setting a financial threshold on each of the Group loss before tax, Group revenue
and Group property, plant and equipment and using our assessment of risk to
select a sample of sites from those that meet at least one of these thresholds.

The remaining 10% (2019: 8%} of total Group loss before tax, 20% (2019 15%)
of Group revenue and |5% (2019, 5%} of Group property, plant and equipment
is represented by a large number of smaller reporting components, none of
which individually represented more than 0.3% (2019, 2.7%) of any of the total
profits or losses that made up Group loss before tax, total Group revenue or
total Group property, plant and equipment. For these residual components, we
performed amalysis at an aggregated Group level to 1-e-examine our assessment
that there were no significant risks of material misstaterment within these.

The Group team instructed component auditors as to the significant areas to be
covered, mcluding the relevant risks detailed above and the informaticn to be
reported back. The Group team approved each component materiality, which
ranged from £225,000 to £3.600,000 {201 9: £500,000 to £6,000,000), having
regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the sub-group across the
components. The Group audit team carried out audits for Group reporting
purposes of the financia! information of components covering 35% (2019: 41 %}
of the total profits and losses that made up total loss before tax. The Group
audit team also undertock all audit procedures of certain total Group account
baiances as mentioned above, covering a further 1% (2019 %) of toul profis
and losses that made up sub-group loss before tax,

We performed inspection of the work cavering the key audit matters at all
component audit teams performing audits for Group reporting purposes. Video
conference meetings were held with all component auditors. At these meetings,
the Group audit team provided further input into audit risk and surategy. and the
findings reported to the Group team were discussed in more detail. Any

further work required by the Group team was then performed by the
component auditor.

The Group audit team had planned to visit component locations: however, these
visits were prevented by movement restrictions relating to the COVID-19
pandemic. Instead, the Group audit team conducted remore file reviews by
senior members of the audit team to evaluate whether work performed over
significant risk areas was sufficient. In additon, the Group audit team attended
local final audic closing meetings via conference call. Due to regulatory
restrictions, a remote file review was not possible for the Chinese component;
therefore, the Group audit team had obtained extended reporting and held an
expanded closing meeting with the Chinese component audit team to
understand, assess and challenge the audit approach and findings.
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5 Going concern basis of preparation

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis
as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or the Company, or to cease their
cperations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the Company's
hinancial position means chat this is realistic for at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements (the going concern period}. As stated in
section 2 of our report, they have also concluded that there 1s a material
uncertainty related ta going concern.

An explanation of how we evaluated management’s assessment of going concern
is set out section 2 of our report,

Qur conclusions based on this worl:
¢ we consider that the Directors use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

é Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations ~ ability to detect

Idenufying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

Te identify risks of material missztement due to fraud (“fraud risks’) we assessed

events or conditions that could indicate an incentve or pressure to commit fraud

or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures
included:

®  enguiring of management, those charged with governance, internal audit
and the Audic Committee as to the Group's high-leve! policies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit
function. and the Group's channe! for ‘whistleblowing', as well as
whether they have lknowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud.

. reading Board/Audit Committee/Health, Safety and Security Committee,
Executive Committee, Commercial and Strategic Risk Management
Committee and Development Board minutes.

. considering the remuneration incentive schemes and performance
targets for management and Directors.

& using analytical procedures to identify any usual o unexpected
relationships.

We communicated idenufied fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained
alert to any indications of fraud throughout the audit. This included
communication from the Group o component audit teams of relevanr fraud
risks identified at the Group level and request to full scope component audit
teams to report to the Group audit team any instances of fraud that could give
rise to a material misstazement at Group.

As required by auditing standards, and raking into account possible pressures to
meet profit targets and our overall knowledge of the control environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in
particular the risk that Group and coniponent management may be in a position
to make inappropriate accounting entries, On this audit we do not believe there
is a fraud risk refated to revenue recognition because based en the disaggregated
nzture of revenue transactions as described in section 3 of our report. we do not
consider fraudulent revenue recognition could accumulate into material errors in
the Group financial statements.

We did not identify any additioral fraud risks.

We performed procedures including:

. denufying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope
compenents based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries
to supperting documentation. These inctuded unusual postings to
revenue and unusual postings to refated cash accounts.

ldenufying and responding to risks of materal musstatement due to non-
compliance with faws and regelanans

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to
have a material effect on the financiaf statements from our general commercial
and sector experience and through discussion with the Directors and other
ranagement (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with management
the polcies and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

We communicated idenufied laws and regulations threughourt cur team and
remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. This
included communication from the Group to component audit teams of relevant
laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request for full scope
component auditors to report to the Group team any instances of nen-
compliance with laws and regulations that could give rise to a material
misstatement at Group.

The potental effect of these laws and regulations on the financial stataments
varies considerably.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the
financial statements including financial reporting legislation (including related
companies legislation), distributable profits legisiation, taxation legislation and
pension legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement itemns,

Secondly. the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the
consequences of non-compliance could have a materia! effect on amounts or
disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of
fines or liugation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have
such an effect; health and safety, recognising the nature of the Group’s activities.
Auditing standards fimit the required audit procedures to identify non-
compl@nce with these laws and regulations te enquiry of the Direccors and
other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach,

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of faw or
regutation

Qwing to the inherent limications of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk thar
we may not have detected some material misstatements in the financial
statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audic in
accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions
reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherentiy limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detecuon of
fraud, as these may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures
are designed to detect material misstatement. VWe are not responsible for
preventing non-compliance or fraud and canhot be expected 1o detect non-
compliance with all taws and regulations.
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7 We have nathing to report on the other information in the Annual
Report and Accounts

The Directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual
Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial
statements Jues nut cover the othel informaton and, accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other informaton and, in deing so. consider
whether, based on our financial statements audit worl, the information therein is
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
lnowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Strategic Report and Directors’ Repart

Based solely on our work on the other information:

*  we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report
and the Directors’ Report;

. in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial
year is consistent with the financial statements; and

. in our opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

8 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are

required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our

opinion:

s adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
Company. or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent Company financial statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

s certain disclosures of Rirectors’ renmuneration specified by law are not
made; or

*  wehave not recerved all the information and explanations we require
for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

% Respective responsibilities

O ectors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 34, the Directors are
responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view: such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the
Group and parent Campany’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing. as
applicable, matzers related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations, or have no realstic alternatve but to do so.

Auditor's responsibilities

OCur objectives are 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered matertal i, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected 10 influence tha economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibiiitias 1s provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.ulkfauditorsresponsibilities.

10 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our
responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and the terms of our
engagement by the Company. Qur audrt work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company's members those matters we are reguired 1o state
to them in an auditor's report, and the further matters we are required to state
them in agcordance with the terms agreed witch the Company, and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's
members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions

we have formed.

Andrew Campbell-Orde (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for ard on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

Gateway House

Tollgace

Chandlers Ford

Southampton

SO53 3TG

15 April 2021
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2020 2019
Underlying  Exceptional ) Underlying ExcePtionaIn_n ) o
trading items ©! Total trading items ! Total
Note £m m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 2.1 619 - 629 [.740 - 1,740
Cost of sales 2.1 (132) . (132) (317) . (317)
Gross profit 497 - 497 1,423 - 1,423
Staff expenses 2. {289) (14) (303) (459) (23) (482}
Marketing (30) - (30) (990) - {90)
Cther operating expenses (254) I (253) (305) {50) (355)
EBITDA!" 2. (76) (13} (89) 569 (73) 496
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3.1,32.44 (243) (94) (337) (227) {38) {265)
Operating (loss)/profit (319) (107) (426) 342 (I 231
Finance income 23 4 - 4 5 47 52
Finance costs 23 (226) - {226) {13} (37) (150)
(Loss)/profit before tax (541) (107) (648) 234 (1o1) 133
Taxation 2.4 96 28 124 (67) 14 (53)
(Lossy/profic for the year from continuing operations (445) {79) {524) 167 (87) 80
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 25 - - - - 42 42
(Loss)/profit for the year™ (445) (79) (524) 167 (45) 122

EBITDA — this 15 defined os profit before finance mcgme and costs, taxation, deprecration, omartisation and impairment and 15 after taking account of attributable profit after tax of jomnt

controlfed emmies

{Loss)iprofit for the year for 2020 and 2019 1 whotly antribuzable 1o the owners of the Company
Detarls of exceptional sems cre provided in nete 2 2
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2020 2019
Note £m £m
{Loss)/profit for the year (524) 122
Other comprehensive income
ltems thot cannot be reclassified to the consolidated income statement
Equity investments at FYOCI - net change in fair value 5.1 (42) 3
Defined benefit plan remeasurement josses 5.2 (4) (2)
Income tax an werrs relating to compenents of other comprehensive income 24 8 |
(38) 2
Items that may be reclossified to the consolidated income statement
Exchange differences on the retranslation of net assets of foreign operations (5) (81)
Exchange differences relating to the net investment in foreign operations - 20
Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit and loss 23 - (2)
(5) (63)
Other comprehensive income for the year net of income tax o (43) (61)
Total comprehensive income for the year!" {567) 61
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations (567) 8
Discontinued operations - 43
(567) 61

Total comprehensive come for the year for 20280 and 2019 is wholly attnbutable to the owners of the Company

42



MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS LIMITED

F1ARY STATEMENTS

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION

at 26 Deacember 2020 (2019: 28 December 2019)

ANMNUAL REPORT AMD ACCOUNTS 2020

2020 2019
Note £m im
Property, plant and equipment 3f 2,353 2263
Right-of-use assels 44 250 976
Goodwill and intangible assets 32 1,038 1012
Investments 5.1 19 63
Other receivables 34 |5 12
Deferred tax assets 24 103 60
Non-current assets 4478 4386
Inventories 34 54 54
Trade and other receivables 34 34 124
Derivative financial assets 4 2
Tax receivable 26 -
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 155 160
Current assets 323 340
Total assets 4,801 4726
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 4.2 20 2
Lease liabilities 44 49 39
Amaunts owed to parent undertaking 42 73 té
Derivative financial liabilities I 2
Trade and other payables 34 471 443
Tax payable - 53
Provisions 35 9 5
Current liabilities 643 560
Interest-bearing loans and bomrowings 42 304 310
Lease liabilicies 4.4 1,134 1,119
Parent company loans 4.2 1311 758
Preference shares ssued to parent company treated as liabiities 42 2,132 2,120
Cther payables 34 24 24
Provisions 35 95 92
Employee benefits 5.2 Il 7
Deferred tax liabilities 24 135 157
Non-current liabilities 5,146 4,587
TFotal liabilities 5,789 5,147
Net liabilities (988) (421)
Issued capital and reserves actributable to owners of the Company o 7992)- o ('4275")
Non-controlling inzerest 4 4
Total equity 45 (988) - (421)
The financizl statemeants were approved by the Board of Directors on [5 April 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:
Nick Varney B Alicrair Windyhanl
Chief Executive:_ ijr;/’e.i’/ Chief Financial Offi
/&
A iyt
) 43
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MERLIN EMTERTAINMINTS L MITED ANMUAL RFPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020
PRIMARY STATEMENTS
For the 52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 ¢2019: 57 weeks ended 28 Decemnber 2019)
Tortal Non-
Share Share Translation Hedging Retaned parent  controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve earnings equity interest equicy
MNote £im £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 30 December 2018 10 16 {12} 2 1618 1,634 5 1,639
Profit for the year - - - - 122 122 - 122
Other comprehensive mcome for
the year net of Income tax - - (61) (2) 2 (61} - (61)
-'I:otal comprehensive income for the year E - - (61) T (2) 124 6! - 41
Shares issued - 30 - - - 30 - 30
Bonus issue of preference shares - - - - {2.1i7) (20117} - (2117}
Equity dividends 45 - - - - (56) (56} - (56)
Equity-settled share-based payments 4.6 - - - - 23 23 - 23
Dividends to non-controlling nterest - - - - - - (N ()
Ac 28 December 2019 10 46 (73) . (408) (425) 4 (421)
Loss for the year - - - - (524} {524) - (524)
Other comprehensive income for
the year net of income tax - - {5) - (38) (43) - (43)
Total comprehensive income for the year T - - (5) - '.'—..—”--—(—_’:62) (567) S (567)
At 26 December 2020 45 10 Py N (970) (992) 4 (988)
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202G 2019
Note im £m
Cash flows from operating activities
(Loss)/profit for the year (524) 122
Adjustments for
Depreciation, amortisation and imparment 31,32, 44 337 265
Finance income 23 4 {52)
Finance costs 23 226 150
Taxation 2.4 (124) 53
Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax 25 - (42}
(89 496
Loss on sale of property. plant and equipment 2 -
Movements in working capital 45 22
Changes n provisions and other non-current liabilities 3 i5
(30 533
Tax pad (16) (73)
MNet cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activites (55) 460
Cash flows from investing activities T
Interest received 2 |
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (306} (379)
Disposal of discontinued operations, net of cash disposed of 5 - 92
Disposal of property, plant and equipment | 8
Grants received 53 - 41
Net cash outflow from investing activities (303) {237)
Cash flows from financing activities
Procceds from issue of share capital 30
Equity dividends paid 45 - (56)
Proceeds from borrowings 42 7 -
Repayment of borrowings - (791)
Proceeds from parent company loans 519 800
Capital repayment of lease liabilities {16) (48)
Interest pad {165) (195)
Financing costs - (2)
Sertlement of interest rate swaps - 7
Dividends paid to non-controlling interest - (1]
Net cash inflow/{outflow} from financing activities 345 (166)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents h (3 S 57
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4.1 160 110
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 8 (7)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4. 155 t60
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SECTION |
BASIS OF PREPARATION

52 weels ended 26 December 2020 12019: 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2018

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Merlin Entertainments Limited (the Company) is a private company limited by shares which 1s incorporated in the United Kingdom and its registered office is Link
House, 25 VWest Streer, Poole, Uorset, BHIS 1LD.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accerdance with international accounting standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

The Company continues to prepare its parent Company financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework
(FRS 101},

This section sets out the Group’s accounting policies that relate to the financial statements as a whole. VWhere an accounting policy is specific to one note, the policy
is described in the note to which it relates. The accounting polictes have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial staterments and have been applied consistently by all subsidiaries and joint ventures.

The Group prepares its annual consclidated financial statements on a 52 or 53 weelc basis. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared for the
52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 {201 9: 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019). The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except
for derivative financial instruments and certain investments which are measured at their fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling.
All values are stated in £ millicn (£m) except where otherwsse indicated.

Going concern

The Group reported a loss for the year of £524 million {2019: profit of £122 million} and generated operating cash outflows of £55 million {2019 inflows of

£460 million}. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £988 million as at 26 December 2020, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. The Directors consider this to be appropriate for the reasons as set out below.

Corenavuus (COVID-19) pandemic
As zt the darte of approving these financial statements, the impact of COVID-19 on the Group's trading is continually being assessed and subject to rapid changes
outside of our control.

Currently approximately 60% of our attractions are open reflecting the gradual easing of governmental restrictions as vaccine roll outs progress and virus transmission
rates reduce. While regional variations are anticipated, our 'base case’ forecast is based on what we believe is a balanced approach that anticipates a gradual recovery
to more normalised trading conditions.

in this base case, extending up to the end of Q3 2022, we have made certain key assumptions. Ye have assumed that the rell out of corenavirus vaccines will not
aliminate the need for socia! distancing to remain for a substantial part of the review period, thereby reducing the capacity of some of our attractions during peak
periods, While we assume there are no further global fackdowns, we expect the ability of people to travel across borders will remain restricted.

In this situation engeing Group revenyes are projected to recover to approximately 80% of normal levels by the end of 2021, and 85-30% of normal levels by mid
2022. As a result of the restructuring and business re-engineering activities undertaken in 2020, the impact of reduced revenues on Merlin's EBITDA and cash
generation 1s less marked, with a greater ability to adjust the cost base in line with the level of wrading. We continue 1o take appropriate measures to maximise
available liguidity, for example by accessing government support where it is available.

Qur New Business Development capital expenditure plans include the completion of LEGOLAND New York and LEGOLAND Korea. Capital projects in respect of
new Midway attractions and new featres at existing attractions had been progressing towards completion when the COVID- !9 pandemic caused our attractions to
close or not reopen at the start of the 2020 trading season. These projects are now substantally complete and accordingly we expect to see the commercial benefit
of these as the attractions open. Essential capital expenditure to ensure the health and safety of our guests and staff at existing attractions wilt continue,

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period from the date of approval of these financial statements up to the end of Q3 2022 which indicate that,
under the base case, the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Group continues to have access te a revolving credit facility (RCF)
under the Motion JVeo Limited Group's financing facilities {see below). YWe have seen cash outflows since the end of 2020 reflecting the normal seasonality of wading
combined with ongoing capital investment and the impact of certain attractions being closed as a result of COVID-19.

In this base case. there would be no breach of lending facilities taking into account the terms of the covenant calculations. There are no significant restrictions on the

ability of the Company 1o move cash around the Group, and no material capitat repayments of debt falling due within the forecast period, with the next maturity of
facilities being in respect of €500 million of 7.0% senior secured notes (issued by a Motien [Vco Limited Group company) due 2025,
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1.} BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

D:)wnsid’: Bt sl
It remmains vary difficult o assess how the COVID-19 sitvation will evolve, The Directors beleve the base case scenaro above is reasonable, assuming as it does the
continuation of certain restrictions in the near term, both on the ability of citizens to move freely and also on the capacity of our artractions.

Hawever. it 1s possible that existing site closures may continue for a fonger period. that attractions currently open may be forced to close again, and/or that the
recovery profile is slower than in the base case.

The Directors have therefore prepared a more severe downside scenario that models all attractions in the UK and Furope being closed throughout April and May
2021 and an even slower recovery is experienced in the London division of the Midway Attractions Operating Group. In this situation, alchough the Group’s
currently available liquidity would remain positive throughout the review period, the Group's liquidity headroom would be significantly reduced. Were the Group to
then require access to further liqurdity, this could be sought through cash injections from the censortium of investors in the Company's ultimate parent company
Motion JVco Limited, andfor the extensicn of further lending facilities. Given Merlin's history of cash generation and the successful issue of debt securities during the
COVID-19 pandemic, we would expect to be able to raise such funds as were necessary, However, there is no guarantee that such funds will be available.

Consistent with the base case, under this scenario there would be no breach of lending facilities taking into account the terms of the covenant calculanons.

As noted above, the sitration is constantly changing and subject to unforeseeable developments. Therefore, it remains possible that further significant negative
developments may arise, over and above the scenarios that have been maodelled.

Acress to wider Croup faol ues

The base case forecasts and downside sensitivities noted above partly depend on the ultimate parent company, Motion J¥co Limited, not seelong repayment of the
preference shares held as debt and parent company loans. which at 26 December 2020 amounted 1o £2,132 millon and £1,311 million respectively, and making
available £150 million of cash currently invested in its name. Motion |Vco Limited has indicated its intention not to seek repayment of the amounts due at the balance
sheet date for the period covered by the forecasts, and if needed make available £150 million of cash. Motion [Vco Limited has also indicated that the £400 million
RCF noted above 15 solely available for the Group and will not be used for any other purpose. As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for
financial support, the Directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty thac this support will continue aithough, at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe chat it will not do so. Reflecting the possibility of further significant negative developments as noted above, Motion [Veo
Limited itself also discloses a material uncertainty in relation to going concern in its consolidated 2020 financial statements.

Based on these indications the Directors believe that 1t remains appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

However. the circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandermc represent  continuing material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Group and
Company's ability to continue as a going cancern and, therefore, to conunue realising its assets and discharging its liabilities in the normal course of business. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fimancial statements comprise the financial statements of Merlin Entertainments Limited and its subsidiaries at the end of each reporting period znd
include its share of its joint ventures’ results using the equity method.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns through its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

All intercompany balances and transactions, mcluding unrealised profits arising from intra-group wansacticns, have been eliminated.

Where subsidiaries enter into finandial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within the Group, these are considered 1o be
insurance arrangements and accounted for as such. In this respect, the subsidiary concerned treats the guarantee contract as a contingent liability untd such time as 1t
becomes probable that it will be reguired to make a payment under the guarantee.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are transfated using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the wransactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the wanslation at year end exchange rates of menetary assets and liabilives denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying net investment hedges.

The resules and financial position of those Group companies that do not have a Sterling functional currency are transhted into Sterling as follows:
*  Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reperting period,

*  Income znd expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the period.

* Al resulting exchange differences are recogrused i equity in the translation reserve.

The reporung date foreign exchange rates by major currency are provided in note 4.3.
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[ BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of tinancizl position when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. | he
accounting policy for each type of financial instrument is included within the relevant note.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, unless otherwise noted, and are subsequently measured at amorused cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or the Group
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, plus, in the case of other financial liabilities, directly attributable transaction costs. Other financial labilities,
primarily the Group’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings and parent company ioans and preference shares, are measured at amortised cost. Financial labilities are
measured at fair value through profit or loss and are held on the statement of financial positon at fair value. A financial liability is derecognised when the Group's
cbligations are discharged, expire or are cancelled. Finance payments associated with financial habilities are dealt with as part of finance costs.

An equity instrument is any contract that has a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly 1in equity.

Where financial instruments consist of a combination of debt and equity, the Group will assess the substance of the arrangement in place and decide how to attribute
values to each taking into constderation the policy definitions above.

Fudgements and estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets. liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Judzements

Management considers the following areas to be the judgements that have the most significant effect on the amouncs recognised in the financial statements. They are

explzined in more detail in che related notes:

*  Uscfoiife of Lunds rote 3 20 - where brands have been recognised as part of an acquisition, they have been assessed as having indefinite useful lives and
management have considered that this judgement remains appropriate.

e rovnus (este 3 2 - the tevel at which goodwill is initially allocated and thereafter monitored.

¢ Goodwid ampa

e Legse obhigations inote 4.4, - IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with the options to extend or terminate a fease,
the lessee were reasonably certain to exercise that option. Yvhere a lease includes the option for the Group to extend the lease term, the Group makes a
judgement as to whether 1t 1s reasonably certain that the option will be taken.

Estimates
Management considers the following areas to involve a degree of estimation uncertainty:
ipert oange 3 30 - estimation of discounted cash flows when calculating the value in use of assets.

«  Valugnon of grieis God

* Taranon aate 241 - recognition of deferred tax balances and accounting for tax risks.

* Provuan - estimated outflow to settie the obligation and, where relevant, the appropriate discount and inflation rates to apply.

wings irnre 4.21 - expected period of borrowings when calculating the effective interest rate on those borrowings.

- estimation of the discount rate used in the calculation of certain lease habilities.

7]

511 - earnings multiple when calculating the fair value of investments,
iart= § 1 - assumed discount rate, inflation rate and morwlity when valuing defined benefit lizbilities.

While these areas do not present a significant risk resulting in a material adjustment, they are areas of focus for management.
New standards and interpretations

A full list of new accounting standards and interpretations that have been implemented in the year, including those which have had ne significant impact, can be found
in note 5.5.
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2.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Segmental information

ANPIUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2028

An operating segment, as defined by IFRS 8 'Operating segments’, s a component of the Group that engages in business actwvities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses. The Group is managed through its three Operating Groups, which form the operating segments on which the information shown below is
prepared. The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided intermally o the Chief Executive Officer (CEO), who is
the Group's chief operating decision maker, and the Board. An operating segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by the CEQ 1o make decisions about
resources to be allocated to the segment and assess its performance.

Resort
Midway  LEGOLAND Theme Segment Other Exceptional

Attractions Parks Parks resutts items items © Total
Contnuing operations !/ £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
2020
Visitor revenue 216 149 128 493 - - 493
Accommodation revenue - 62 38 100 - - 100
Cther revenue 12 i7 3 32 4 - 36
Revenue!? 228 228 169 625 4 - 629
EBITDA®Y (8} 1) 8 an (55) (13) (89)
Depreciation and amortisation (112 (64} {54) (230 (13} - (243)
Impairment - - - - - 94) (94)
Operaung loss™ (120} (85} {46) {251} (68) {107) {426}
2019
Visitor revenue 652 479 304 1,435 - - 1435
Accommedation revenue - 164 73 237 - - 237
Gther revenue 22 26 I 59 9 - 68
Revenue'™ 674 869 388 1,731 9 - 1,740
EBITDAY 240 243 128 611 {(42) (73) 496
Depreciation and amortisation (103) (60) (52) (215} (12) - {227}
Impairment - - - - - (38) (38)
Operating profit”' 137 183 76 396 (54) (1 231

The segmental informovon excludes the ocvites of the Australian ski resorts winch have been dossified as discononued operations {note 2 5}

Revenue 15 disoggregated mto the three categones described below

Other nems mclude Merhn Magic Making, head office cests and various other costs, whwch cannot be directly atinbuted to the reportable segments

!
12 Performance is measured based on segment EBITDA, as included m internal manogement reports Segment operating profit/{loss) is induded for informouon purposes,
"
!

Details of exceptonal iiems are provided in nore 2 2,
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2.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (cONTINUED)

Geographical areas
White each Operating Group is managed on 2 woridwide basis, part of our strategy 15 to diversify geographically acrass the four regions shown below. The
information presented is based on the geographical locations ef the visitor attractions concerned.

Geogozehical informanen

Non-current Non-current
Revenues assets Revenues assets

2020 2020 2019 2019
£m £m £m £m

United Kingdom 122 1410 560 1,450
Continental Europe 169 1,095 429 1.062
Nerth America 129 1,031 479 974
Asia Pacific 109 820 272 777
629 4356 1,740 4263

Deferred tax (note 2.4) - 103 60
Investments (note 5.1) 19 43
4,478 4386

Revenuc

Revenue represents the amounts receved {excluding VAT and similar taxes) in the areas set out below and which have been disaggregated in the segmental
information presented above. YWhen accounung for revenue, Merlin makes an assessment, considering the control principles of IFRS 15, as to whether parties
involved in providing goods or services to a customer are acting as a principal (if they contro! delivery to the customer) or. if they are arranging for those goods or
services to be provided by the other party, as an agent.

*  Visitor revenue - represents admissions tickets, retail, food and beverage sales and other commercial offerings such as photos and games experiences inside a
Merlin attraction. Tickets, annual passes and other services can be bought in advance, generally anline, in which case these advanced revenues are held in
deferred revenue until the visitor uses those tickets or services. Visitor revenue is therefore recognised when the visitor enters the attraction. Revenue from
anmal passes anrt other tickets rhat enritle a rustomer to continued visits over 3 period of time 1s deferred and then recognised over the period that the pass s
valid. Rerail and food and beverage revenue, along with other similar commercial offerings, 1s recogmised at point of sale,

*  Accommodation revenue - represents overnight stay and conference room revenue along with food and beverage revenue earned within our hotels and other
accommodation offerings. Accommodation revenue is recognised at the time when a customer stays at Merln accommodation,

*  Cther revenue - represents sponsorship, function. management and service contract revenue along with other sundry items. Sponsorship revenue 1s recognised
over the relevant contract term. Function revenue is recognised at the time of the event. From time to time, the Group also enters into contracts for attraction
development, which is recagnised as performance obligations under the contract are met. Service contract revenue in 2020 and 2019 is not material.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales of £132 mullion (2019 £317 miflion} represents variable expenses (excluding YAT and similar taxes) incurred from revenue generating acuvities. Recail
inventory. food and beverage consumables and costs associated with the delivery of accommedation are the principal expenses included within this category.

Operating expenses
Swaff nunthars and coscs
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows:

Continuing operations 2020 2019
Operztions 11509 19.106
Artraction management and Central administration 2090 2,196

) T 13599 21302
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2.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (coNTINUED)

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

LM MUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

020 2019
Continuing operations £m £m
Wages and salaries 304 393
Share-based payments (note 4.6) - 23
Social security costs 37 33
Other pension costs 11 13
Govemment support (49) -

303 482

The Group has accessed government support measures in the geographies in which it operates, including employee furlough schemes. This funding meets the

definition of a government grant and the income recognised in the period in relation to these schemes was £4% million, primarify in the UK, Australia, and Germany.
The grants are recognised at fair value when the Group has reasonable assurance that it wilt comply with any conditions attached to the grant and thar the grant wiil

be received. The funding received is included within the cash flows frem operating actwities in the consclidated statement of cash flows.

Dracrors’ remruneranon

n 2020 the employment costs of the Directors of the Company have been borne by Motion Acguisition Limited (the parent company) and Merlin Entertainments

Group Limited for their services to the Group as a whole (2019 Merlin Entertainments Group Limited).

2020 2019
im £m
Directors' remuneration 1.1 23
Amounts receivable under long rerm ncentive schemes - 52
Contributions to money purchase pension schemes 02 02
Compensation for loss of office - 02
1.3 79

The aggregate of remuneration and amounts recevable under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid Director was £0.6 million {201 9: £4.4 million), and

Company pension contributions of £0.1 million (201 9. £0.1 milfion),

2020 2019
Number of Directors with retirement benefits accruing in respect of money purchase schemes ! t
Number of Directors who exercised share options - 2
Number of Directors in respect of whose qualifying services were received or receivable under
long term incentive schemes . 7
Rz ated party wransacuons with key management personnct
The remuneration of key management, comprising the members of the Executive Committes, was as follows:
2020 2019
£m £m
Key management emoluments including socml security costs 54 226
Contributions to money purchase pension schemes 02 02
Share-based payments and other related payments - 68
i o 56 296
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1.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

,:'.LIO‘ITCH“S Leiuneration
2020 2019
im £m
Audit of these financial statements 1.7 i.5
Audic of financial statements of subsidiaries 04 o4
Other assurance services 0.1 03
Services relating to corporate finance transactions 0.2 02
24 24

Orher operating expenses

In addstion to the employee furlough schemes noted above, governments worldwide introduced a number of other suppert measures that the Group accessed,
These totalled £8 million and were offset against other operating expenses in the income statement. The largest of these, totalling £4 million, related to arrangements
whereby the government funding provided support for an element of the fixed costs of the relevant business. The funding recewved is included within the cash fows
fram operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

2.2 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Accounting policy
Due to their nature, certain one-off and non-trading items can be classified separately as exceptional stems in order to draw them to the artention of the reader. In
the judgement of the Directors this presentation shows the underlying performance of the Group more accurately.

Exceptional feems
The following items are exceptional and have been shown separately on the face of the consolidated income statement.

2020 2019
£m f£m

Within staff expenses:
Productivity and ellicency dactivities'" 14 -
Transaction costs”' - 23
Within other cberating expenses’
Productivity and efficiency activities'! | 7
Transaction costs™' (2 43
Exceptional items included within EBITDA 13 73
Within deprediation, amartisation and impairment:
Impairment charges"' 94 38
Exceptional items included within operating (loss)/profit 107 1l
Within finance income and costs
Foreign exchange gain™! - (47}
Charges incurred on the transaction in respect of the €700/$40¢ milkon notes"™' - 37
Exceptional items before income tax BT o)
Income tax credit on exceptional items above W(EB) (14)
Exceptional items included within continuing operations T 9 87
Exceptional tems included within discontinued operations (note 2.5) o . (42)
Exceptional items for the year T m;9ﬁh——__25u
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2.2 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (CONTINUED)

" Certain one-off operational cosis have been mcurred m respect of productvity and efficiency related activities They mainly relate to changes made to our organisational struclures 1 GLracons
and support funcuons, primanly n response to the COVID-1 9 pandenc in 2020, ngether with the completion of long term productivity imtictives commenced in previous years They are
separately presented as they are not part of the Group’s underfying operating expenses

Transaction costs within siaff expenses i 20/ 9 represented share-based poyment and benus costs that were erther accelerated or otherwise specifically incurred in connecuon with the safe of the

Company to the myestor consortium in November 2019 Within other operating expenses the costs refote ta the sale of the MEL Group to the mvesior consorpum i late 2019 in 2020 a net

credit of £2 miflion hos been recognised os final costs were calculgred

Imparment charges have been made n the year of £78 milon (2019 £32 muhony m property, plont and equipment and £16 mufhon (2019, £6 millon} wn nght-of-use ossers, n respect of certan

of the Group's atttactions The discounted cash flows that underpin cur volue in use calcwlawons reflect our corrent business plans which have been updated for factors incuding the short term

impart of COVID-19. In perdcular, this indudes consideration of LEGOLAND New York where the opeming hos been deigyed ond where we are expecting shorter term heodwinds, g our
abiity to Jlaunch the attroction and build momentum in an environment where socral distanang may well be i operction and an uncertain econonic environment wil preval They are separately
bresented as they are not part of the Group’s underlying deprecation charge

Exceptional foreign exchange goins m 2019 resulted from foreign exchange exposures on certam finanang arrangements with parent companies entered inte os o result of the transachan in

Novernber 2019, untl such foreign exchange exposures eould be hedged Ordinartly the Group's structure is set-up 1o munirmise foreign exchange exposures and therefare there woufd not be

similar exbasures in the fiture that cowuld resuft in such mavements, They were therefore separately presented 05 they were not part of the Group's underlying finance costs.

- Charges incurred in 2019 prmanly related to @ one-off charge of £36 mulhon n order to repay the €700 millon seven year notes shortly after the transoction in November 2019, As a result of
the vansacvon the Group wos required o repay bonds that were otherwise expected to be long term financing and therefore early sertiement of this bond was o one-off matrer refating to the
transaction The Gioup dues nul frove o trock record of incurning matenal costs associated with early settlernent of bonds as part of its nermal financing arrangements. This charge was therefore
separately presented os it was not port of the Group’s underlying finance costs

1.3 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Accounting policies

Income and costs

Finance income comprises interest income from financial assets and investments, applicable foreign exchange gains and gains on hadging instruments that are
recognised in the ncome statement. Finance costs comprise interest expense, finance charges on finance leases, applicable foreign exchange losses and losses
on hedging instruments that are recognised in the income statement. Interest income and interest expense are recognised as they accrue, using the effective
interest method.

Capitalisanion of borrowing costs
Where assets take a substantial tme to complete, the Group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable te the acquisition, construction or production of

those assets.

Finance income

2020 2019
Continuing operations im £m
Underlying trading
in respect of assets not held at fair value
Interest income 4 |
in respect of assets held at fair value
Cash flow hedges — reclassified to profit and loss"™' - 2
Cther
Net foreign exchange gain - 2
4 5
Exceptional items
Other
Net foreign exchange gain (note 2.2) . 47
4 52

" As part of the refinancing undertoken during 2018, the Gioup restructured its interest rate swaps ond was paid o net £5 imillion to cash-settle certain swaps The swaps had previously been hedge
occounted through equity and £2 mullion was recycled thraugh the income stotement in the period 10 28 December 2019
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2.3 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS (CONTINUED)

Finance costs

2020 2019
Continuing cperations £m £m
Underlying trading
In respect of liabilities not held ot fair value
Interest expense on lease liabilities 61 6l
Interest expense on financial fabilities measured at amortised cost 22 42
Interest expense on parent company loans 60 3
Interest expense on preference shares treated as debt 95 13
Captalised borrowing costs (18) (9)
Other interest expense 2 3
Other
Net foreign exchange loss 4 -
226 13
Exceptional items
In respect of habilities not held at fair value
Charges incurred on the transaction in respect of the €700/$400 million notes (note 2.2) - 37
226 150

Capralised borrowing costs amounted to £18 million in 2020 (20! 9: £9 mitlion), with a capitalisation rate of 44% (201 9: 3.8%). Tax relef on capitalised borrowing
costs amounted to £5 million in 2020 (2019, £2 million),

2.4 TAXATION

Accounting policies
The tax charge for the year is recognised in the income statement and the statement of comarehensive income, according to the accounting treatment of the related
wransacrion. The tax charge comprises both current and deferred tax.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided on certain temporary differences between the carryng amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purpeses and taxation purposes
respectively. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of gaodwil!; the initial recognition of assets or liabilives thar affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided 1s based on the expected manner of realisation or settfement of the carrying amaunt
of assets and habilities, using tax rates enacred or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting peried.

After considering forecast future profits, deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which those assets
can be utilised. This assessment is made after considering a number of factors, including the Group's future trading expectations.

Provisions for uncertain tax positions are recognised when the Group has 2 present obligation as a result of a past event and management judge that it is probable that
there will be a future outflow of economic benefits to settle that obligation. Uncertain tax positions are assessed and measured on an issue by issue basis within the
jursdictions that we operate using management’s estimate of the most likely outcome. A combination of in-house tax experts, previous experience and professional firms
is used when assessing uncertain tax positions.
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2.4 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Recognised in the income statement

2020 2019

Continuing operations £m £m
Current tax
Current year (56) 62
Adjustment for pricr periods (10} 2
Total currenc mcome ax - (66} 64
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (56} {10}
Changes in tax rate (2} (2)
Adjustment for prior pericds - |
Total deferred tax o (58} {1 I)_
Total tax {credit)/expense in income statement (124) 53
Reconalhauen of effzcuve wax rate

2020 2020 2019 2019
Continuing operations % £m % £m
{Loss)/profit before tax (648) 133
income tax using the UK domestic corporation tax rate 19.0% (123} 19.0% 25
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (30) 4
Non-deductible expenses 6 21
Income not subject to tax (2) (12)
Effect of changes in tax rate (2) (2)
Unrecognised temporary differences 7 14
Adjustment for prior periods {10) 3
Total tax (credit)expense in inCome statement 19.1% (124) 398% 53

The effective tax rate (ETR) reflects updates to the headline UK rate, including the effect on the measurement of deferred tax.

The difference between the reported ETR of 19.1% and the UK standard tax rate of 19.0% is largely auribuzable to the Group’s geographic mix of profits and the
benefic derived from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act in the USA, offset by the Group’s inability to obtain relief for interest
expenses and the impact of non-deductible preference share dividends. The Group's geographic mix of profits includes the effect of the exceptional impairment of
assers held by overseas Group companies, When the effect of the exceptional items is removed the underlying ETR 15 17.7%.

The Group has benefited from cermain reliefs availzbie in the CARES Act in the US. This allows operating losses generated in 2020 to be carried back five years. As
the corporate tax rate was higher in the earlier years the Group has obtained 2 permanent benefit from the carry back.

Stgrificant factors impacting the Group's future ETR include the Group’s geographic mix of profits, the ability to obtain effective relief for the interest expense and
changes to local or internaticnal tax laws. Revisions to the allocation of taxing rights, as envisaged in the OECD's proposals in refation to Pillar One and Pillar Two

could have a material impact on the Group's ETR.

The impact of the European Commission’s finding relating to the UK's Controfled Ferergn Company rules is further deailed in note 5.4,
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2.4 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Recegnised directly in equity through the statement of other comprehiensive income

AP JAL REPORT AND ACCOUMNTE 2020

2020 2019
£m m
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value {7} -
Remeasurement fosses on defined benefit plans {n {n
Total tax credit in statement of other comprehensive income (8) {h
Deferred tax assets and liabitities
R=cognised deferred tax assets and habiluies
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
Assets Liabilities Net
2020 2019 2020 2009 2020 2019
£m fm £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment 45 24 (133 (13 (88) {(F07)
Right-of-use assets / lease labilities 31 31 (3) (3) 28 28
Other short term temporary differences 34 27 (2) (2) 32 25
Intangible assets - (49) (46) (49) (46)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 45 3 - 45 3
Tax assers/(liabilities) 155 85 (187) {182) {32) (97}
Set-off rax {52) {15) 52 25 - -
Net tax assets/{liabilities) 103 60 (135) {157} {32) (97)

COther short term temporary differences primarily relate to financial assets and liabilities and various accruals and prepayments,

Set-off tax is separately prescnted to show defen ed Lax assets and liabilies by category before the effect of offsetting these amounts in the statement of financial

position where the Greup has the right and intention to offset these amounts.

Maovement in deferred ax during the currenr yes

Recognised Effect of

29 Disposal of in other MovEements 26

December subsidiary Recognised  comprehensive in foreign December

2019  undertakings in inceme income exchange 2020

£m fm £m £m £m fm

Property, plant and equipment {107} - 19 - - (88)
Right-of-use assets / lease liabliities 28 - - - - 28
Other short term temporary differences 25 - 7 - . 32
Intangible assets (46) - (2) - (" (49)
Tax value of loss cany-forwards 3 - 34 8 - 45
Net tax assets/(liabilities) (97) - 58 8 {n (32)

In 2020 movements recognised in the income statement were principally due to the exceptional impairment of assets held by overseas group companies and an

increase in losses recegnised for deferred tax,
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24 TAXATION (coONTINUED)

Movement v cefarred tax gurng the plasnus yaar

Recognised Effect of
30 Disposal of in other movements 28
December subsidiary Recognised  comprehensive in foreign December
2018  undertakings in income income exchange 2019
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Property, ptant and equipment (131 | 18 - 5 (107)
Right-of-use assets / lease liabilities 41 - (13) - - 28
Other short term temporary differences 23 - 4 | (3) 25
Intangible assets 19 - \ - 2 {46)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 2 - - - 3
Net tax assets{(liabilities) (114) ] 1 | 4 (97)
In 201% movements recognised in the income statement were principally due to depreciation in the UK and the USA exceeding tax allowances utilisec, This was
partally offset by a reduction in the lease liabilines recognised for deferred tax.
Uarecognsed deferred rax assors
2020 2019
£m £m
Property, plant and equpment 2 2
Right-of-use assets ! lease liabilities 19 -
Other short term temporary differences 40 3!
Tax value of oss carry-forwards 82 66
N 143 99

Net unrecognised tax assets

The unrecognised deferved tax assers refating 10 Inss carry-forwards include L5 walliun (2019, £2 milllion) expiring in U-5 years and £20 million 20/ 9: £9 mittion)
expiring in 6-10 years. The remaining losses and other timing differences do not expire under current tax legislation.

The nature and location of the tax losses carried forward are such that there Is currently no expectation that the majority of the losses will be utilised.
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25 DISCONTINUED OQPERATIONS

At the start of 2019 the Company progressed negotiations to sell its Australian ski resorts at Mount Hotham and Falls Creek ro Vail Resorts Inc. {Vail).
On 21 February 2019 the Company entered into an agreement to sell the resarts to Vail for a cash consideration of A$174 million. The transaction was subject
to the completion of relevant regulatory filings and completed on 5 April 2019,

The tables below show the resuits of the discontinued operatons which are included in the Group income statement and Group cash flow statement respectively.

Incame statement

2019
im
Costs to sell (1)
Profit after tax on disposa! of Australian sid resorts 43
Total profit after tax of discontinued operations 42
The profit after tax on disposai of the Group's Australian ski resorts 1s made up as follows:
£m
Net book value of assecs disposed 29
Consideration received in cash 93
Taxation (21)
Profit after tax on disposal of Australian ski resorts 43
Cash flow statement
2019
£m
Net cash flow from investing activities 92
92
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52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 12019: 57 weeks ended 28 Cecernher 2015}
EN | PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment (PPE} are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Where components of an item of PPE have different useful lives, they are accounted for separately.

The initial cost of PPE includes all costs incurred in bringing the asset inte use and includes external costs for the acquisition, construction and commissioning of
the asset, internal project costs {primarily staff expenses) and capitalised borrowing costs.

Assets atguired through business combimarions

At the time of a business combination PPE is separately recognised and valued. Given the specialised nature of the PPE acquired, fair values are calculated on a
depreciated replacement cost basis. The key estimates are the replacement cost, where industry specific indices are used to restate original historic cost: and
depreciation, where the total and remaining economic useful lives are considered. together with the residual vatue of each asset. The total estimated lives applied
are consistent with those set out below. Residual vaiues are based on industry specific indices.

MNow sites
Capital expenditure on new actractions includes all the casts of bringing the items of PPE within that ateraction into use ready for the opening of the attraction.
Pre-opening costs are only capitalised to the extent chey are required to bring PPE into its working condition. Other pre-cpening costs are expensed as incurred.

Exisung sites

Subsequent expenditure on items of PPE in cur existing estate can be broadly split into two categories;

*  Capital expenditure which adds new items of PPE to an attraction or which extends the operational life, or enhances existing items, of PPE is accounted for as
an addition to PPE. Examples of such expenditure include new rides or displays and enhancements to rides or displays, which increase the appeal of our
attractions to visitors.

*  Expenditure which is incurred to maintain che items of PPE in a safe and useable state and to maintain the useful life of items of PPE is charged to the income
statement as incurred. Examples of such expenditure include regular servicing and maintenance of buildings, rides and displays and ongoing repairs to items
of PPE.

Deprecizuion

Land 15 not depreciated. Assers under construction are not depreciated until they come into use, when they are wransferred to buitdings or plant and equipment as
appropriate. Depreciation is then charged to the income statement on a suraight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of PPE. Asset lives
for plant and equipment vary depending on the nawre of the asset, from short [ife assets such as IT assets, up to long term infrastructure assets. No residual values
are typically considered.

The estimated useful hives aie as follows:

Asset class Depreciaton pohcy

Freehold/long leasehold buddings 50 years

Leasehold buildings 7 20 - 50 years {dependent on life of lease)
Plant and equipment 5 — 30 years
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52 weaks ended 26 December 2020 (201 9; 52 weeks ended 28 December 2014

3.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment

Land and Plant and Under
buildings equipment  construction Total
fm £m £m £m

Cost
Ar 30 December 2018 1421 16!l 225 3257
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (16) (35) (n (52)
Additions 25 24 362 411
Disposals (1 (43) [ {(55%)
Transfers 71 106 (177) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (48) (43) {13) (104}
Balance at 28 December 2019 1,442 1,620 395 3457
Additions - 13 328 341
Disposals (17) (75) () {94}
Transfers 31 44 (75) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 13 14 {12 |5
Balance at 26 December 2020 1,469 L6106 634 3719
Depreciation
At 30 December 2018 334 754 - 1.088
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (3) (14) - (17)
Depreciation for the year 48 121 - 16%
{impairment 13 13 6 32
Disposals {1 (38) - {47)
Effect of movemenrs in frreign evchangs (10) 2h} - (313
Balance at 28 December 2019 B 371 817 6 L194
Depreciation for the year 49 129 - 178
Impairment 12 I 55 78
Disposals (16) {75) - {(95)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange - 7 - 7
Balance at 26 December 2020 416 889 61 1,366
Carrying amounts i o
At 29 December 2018 1,087 857 225 2,169
At 28 Decerber 2019 1071 803 389 2263
At 26 December 2020 B 1,053 727 573 2353

Substantially all of the disposals in 2020 relate 1o the original cost of property, plant and equipment that was no longer in use.
Depreciavon is calculated in line with the policy stated previously.

During the year the Group reviews useful economic lives and tests PPE for impairment in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, as referred to in note 3.3
Impairment charges have been made in the year of £78 million {2019 £32 miflion). The discounted cash flows that underpin our value in use calculations reflect our
current business plans which have been updated for factors including the short term impact of COYID-19. In particular, this includes consideration of LEGOLAND
New York where the opening has been delayed and where we are expecting shorter term headwinds. limiting our ability to launch the attraction and build
momentum in an enviranment where social distancing may well be in operaton and an uncertain economic envirenment will prevail.
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3.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)

Capital commitnients

At the year end the Group has a number of outstanding capital commitments in respect of capital expenditure at its existing attractions {including accommodaunon},
as welt as for Midway attractions and LEGOLAND parks that are under construction. These commitments are expected to be settled within two financial years of
the reporting date. These amount to £143 million (2019: £220 nfiion) for which no provision has been made.

3.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policies

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired less any contingent irabiliuies

assumed. Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumutated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to groups of cash-generating units and is not amortised but is
tested annually for impairmenc. In respect of joint ventures, the carrying amaount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the joint venture.

Where they arise on acquisition, brands have been valued based on discounted future cash fiows using the relief from royalty mechod, inciuding amounts into
perpetuity. Currently all such brands held are assessed as having indefinite useful economic lives. This assessment is based upen the strong historical performance of
the brands over a number of economic cycles, the ability to roll out cur brands, and the Directors’ intentions regarding the future use of brands. The Directors feel
this is a suitable policy for a brands business which invests in and maintains the brands, and foresee no technelogical developments or competitor actions which
would put a finite life on the brands. The brands are tested annually for impairment.

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recogrused in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Qrther intangible assets comprise software licences, sponsorship rights and other contract based intangible assets. They are amortised on a straight-fine basis from the
date they are available for use. They are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment lasses.

The estimated useful lives of other intangible assets are as follows:

Asset class Estimated useful life
Licences Life of licence (up to |5 years)
Other intangible assets Relevant contractual period {up to 30 years)
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3.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED,

Goodwill and intangible assers

AbhUS RERCET AMD ACCTOUNTS 2020

Intangible assets

Goodwil Brands Other Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
Ar 30 December 2018 1,002 200 37 1,239
Disposal of subsidary undertakings N - (n
Additions - - 14 14
Disposals - - (43 (1)
Effect of movements in foregn exchange (25) (5) 1) (31
Balance at 28 December 2019 976 195 49 1,220
Additions - - 9 9
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 18 4 - 22
Balance at 26 December 2020 994 199 58 1251
Amortisation
At 30 December 2018 179 13 19 211
Amortisation for the year - - 2 2
Disposals - - h {1
Effects of movements in foreign exchange {3) - (1 {4)
Balance at 28 December 2019 176 I3 19 208
Armortisation for the year . . 4 4
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 2 - (4B |
Balance at 26 December 2020 178 13 22 213
Carrying amounts
At 29 December 2018 823 187 18 1,028
At 28 December 2019 860 182 30 1012
At 26 December 2020 816 lse 36 1038

intangible assers are tested for impairment in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, as referred to in note 3.3. As a result of these tests. no impairment

charges have been made in the year (2019 £nif).

Goodwil

Goodwill is allocated 1o the Group's operating segments which represent the lowest level at which it is monitored and tested for impairment. It 1s denominated in

the relevant local currencies and therefore the carrying value is subject to movements in foreign exchange rates.

Midway Attractions
LEGCLAND Parks

Resort Theme Parks

2020 2019
im £m
562 557
42 4]
212 202
816 800
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3.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Brands
The Group has valued the fullowing biandy ac dhie dme of those brands belng acquired. They all have indefinite useful economic fives. | hey are all denominated in
their relevant local currencies and therefore the carrying value is subject to movements in foreign exchange rates.

2020 2019
fm £m
Midway Attractions

Madame Tussauds 28 28
SEA LIFE 17 16
Londen Eye 10 10
Other 8 8
63 62

Resort Theme Parks
Gardaland Resort 52 49
Alton Towers Resort 32 32
THORPE PARK 15 15
Hewde Park 12 12
Qrther 12 12
o 123 120
186 182

The Madame Tussauds brand value is predominantly related to the London attraction but ncludes value identified with the other Madame Tussauds attractions that
existed when the brand was acquired. Similarly the SEA LIFE brand relates to the portfolio of SEA LIFE atcractions chat existed when the brand was acquired, The
London Eye, Gardaland Resort, Alton Towers Resort, THORPE PARK and Heide Park brands all arise from those specific visitor attractions.

33 IMPAIRMENT TESTING

Accounting policies
The carrying amounts of the Group’s goodwill, intangible assets, PPE and right-of-use (ROU) assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether
there is any indication of imparrment. If 2ny such indication exists or if the asset has an indefinite |fe. the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

The process of impairment testing 1s to estimate the recoverable amount of the assets concerned, and recognise an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount
of those assets exceeds the recoverable amount. Impairment testing is performed first at the individual CGU level without goodwill, with any impairment loss

recognised as required. Impairment testing for goodwill is then applied to the collection of CGUs o which the goodwill relates.

The leve! at which the assets concerned are reviewed varies as follows:

Asset

Goodwill Goadwill is reviewed at an Operating Group {evel, being the relevant grouping of cash-generating units (CGUs) at which the benefit of such
goodwill arises. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates largely independent cash inflows, being the Group's
individval attractions.

Brands Brands are reviewed at an individual CGU level.

PPE PPLis reviewed at an indvidual CGU level, being the Group's individual attractions.

ROU assets ROU assets are reviewed at an individual CGU level, being the Group's individual atzractions. In doing so, the associated lease liability is

considered against the value of the ROU asset as a sale of a CGU would necessitate that a buyer takes on the lease liability.
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3.2 IMPAIRMENT TESTING (CONTINUED)

For assets that are in continuing use but do not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the CGU to which the
assets belong.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement, They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill. and then to reduce the carrying
amount of other intangible assets and other assets on a pro rata basis.

Calculation of recoverable amount

In accordance with accounting standards the recoverabie amount of an asset 15 the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. To assess value in use,
estimated future cash flows are discounted ta their present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate, derived from a post-tax weighted average cost of
capital. The Group uses a multiple of EBITDA to estimate fair value which is based on the Group's average market capitalisation as a multiple of the Group's
underlying EBITDA. The Group's internally approved five year business plans, being the current year and four future years, are used as the basis for these
caleulations, with cash flows beyond the four year outlook pericd then extrapolated using a leng term growth rate.

Comman assumptions have been adopted for the purpose of testing goodwill across the business and for testing brand values where their risk profiles are simiar,
The key assumptions and estimates used when calculatng the net present value of future cash flows from the Group's businesses are as follows:

Estimate

Future cash flows Assumed to be equivalent to the operating cash flows of the businesses less the cash flows in respect of capital expenditure
and repayments of lease liabilities. The Group uses EBITDA less an allocation of central costs, in line with other recharges
which occur in the business, as a proxy for the operating cash flows of 1ts attractions as they are not significantly impacred
by movements in working capital.

Growth in EBITDA EBITDA is forecast by an analysis of both projected revenues and costs. Visitor numbers and revenue projections are
based on market analysis, ncluding the total available market. historic wrends, competition and site development activity,
both in terms of capital expenditure on rides and attractions as well as marketing activity.

Projections of operating costs are based on historical data, adjusted for variations in visitor numbers and planned expansion
of site activities as well 2s general market conditions,

Timing and quantum of future Projections are based on the attractions’ long term development plans, wking into account the capital investment necessary

capital and maintenance 0 maintain and sustain the performance of the attractions’ assets.

expenditure

Long term growth rate A growth rate of 2.5% (2019, 2.5%} was determined based on management's long term expectations, raking account of
historical averages and future expected trends in both market development and market share growth.

Discount rates to reflect the risks Based on the estimated weighted average cost of capitzl of a ‘market participant’ within the masn geographical regions

involved where the Group operates, these are drawn from market data and businesses in similar sectors, and adjusted for asset
specific risks. The key assumpticns of the ‘market participant’ include the ratio of debt to equity financing, risk free rates
and the medium term risks associated with equity investments. Net present values are calculated using pre-tax discount
rates derived from this post-tax weighted average cost of capital.

When considering the impact of IFRS 16, there was insufficient observable market dara to determine a market participant
discount rate that included leases. Therefore the Group used discount rates and cash flows on an unadjusted pre-IFRS 16
basts, then adjusting for the market movement in lease discount rates since inception by adjusting for the difference in the
carrying value and fair value of the lease liability.

Pre-tax discount rates Post-tax discount rates

2020 2019 2020 2009

Midway Attractions 8.8% 8.5% 7.4% 7.0%
LEGOLAND Parks 8.9% 8.6% 70% 6.9%
Resort Theme Parks 9.4% 1% 7.7% 7.4%
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3.3 IMPAIRMENT TESTING (CONTINUED)

Sensitivity analysis

Impairment reviews are often sensitive to changes in key assumptions. At the reporting date the Directors consider that the forecasts used reflect the best estimate
of future trading. It 1s noted, however, that the calculations are inherently sensitive to the level of growth as the business recovers from the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic, As set out in note |.1, this can depend on a number of factors. These can include when attractions can open, the lavel of any social distancing or other
governmental restrictions, customer demand, people’s ability to travel across borders, the pace and caverage of vaccine rolt outs, and the wider economic trading
environment. Other more normal factors such as weather patterns can also affect trading. While in the short term slower growth would be highly unlikely to affect
vafuations by a substantial amount, longer term shortfalls that affect the outlack for the fourth year of the plan (which drives the terminal value} would have a more
significant impact.

The goodwill attributed to the Midway Attractions, LEGOLAND Parks and Resort Theme Parks Operating Groups, as well as individual brands, show considerable
headroom and are nor sensitive to even significant changes in any of the key assumprions.

Indvidual site assets could have different outcomes for their impairment reviews in future periods, though the cnly site with impawrment triggers identified this year
where this could be material 1o the Group would be LEGOLAND New York. While the current environment with COVID- |9 places greater uncertainty over the
short term trading performance of LEGOLAND New York with regard to consumer confidence, the wider economic envircnment, and the potential impact of sociaf
distancing measures, the Directors do not envisage these having an impact on the longer term prospects for the park, which would be the only factor that could give
rise to material future impairment.

34 WORKING CAPITAL

Accounting policies

nventoles

inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost is measured using the first-in first-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring the inventories and bringing them to then present location and condition.

Trade ard other receivables

Trade and ather receivahies are recogmised and carried at the orginal invoice amount less a loss allowance calculated using the simplified expected credit loss {ECL)
model approach. Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Other receivabies are stated at their amortised cost less any
impairment losses. Estimated ECLs are calculated using both actal credit loss experience and forward looking projections.

Inventories

2020 2019

£m £m

Maintenance inventory 13 14
Gocds for resale 41 40
- N o - o

Trade and sther receivables
Current assets Non-current assets

2020 2019 2020 2019

£m £m im £m
Trade receivables 20 37 - -
Other receivables 38 42 5 2
Prepayments and contract assets 26 45 10 i0

P [ e e ” = " *MI,Z
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3.4 WORKING CAPITAL [CONTINUED)

Ageng of trade receivables

| he ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of aliowance for non-recoverable amounts, is as follows:

2020 2019
£m £m
MNerther past due nor impaired Il 20
Up to 30 days overdue 2 5
Between 30 and 60 days overdue ! 4
Between 60 and 90 days overdue I 2
QOver 90 days overdue 5 [
B 20 37
Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk is included in note 4.3.
Trade and other payables
Currenz liabilities Non-current liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m £m £m
Trade payables 11 73 - -
Accruals 151 164 - -
Deferred income 189 183 - -
Other payables 20 23 24 24
471 443 24 24
Accruzls

Accruals comprise balaaces in relation to bath operating and capital costs incurred at the reporting date but for which an inveice has not been received and payment
has not yet been made,

Deferred incomsz
Deferred income comprises revenues received or inveiced at the reporting date which relate to future periods. The main components of deferred income relate to
advanced ticket revenues in respect of online bookings and annual pass purchases; pre-booked accommodation; and certain sponsorship and similar arrangements. In

2020, at year end exchange rates, this also includes £54 millon {2019 £52 million) received in respect of the development of LEGOLAND Korea, which is described
further in note 5.3.
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35 PROVISIONS

Accounting policy
Provisions are recognised when the Group has legal or constructive obligations as a result of past events and it is probable that expenditure wili be required to settle
those obligations. They are measured at the Direcrors’ best estimates, after taking account of information available and different possible outcomes.

If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the
dme vafue of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific wo the fiability.

Provisions

Asset
retirement
provisions Other Total
£m {m £m
Balance at 29 December 2019 79 8 97
Provisions made during the year 2 18 20
Utilised during the year - () (rn
Unused amounts reversed - (4) (4)
Unwinding of discount 2 - 2
Balance at 26 December 2020 B 83 21 104
2020
Current - 9 9
Nen-current 83 12 95
83 21 104
2019
Current - 5 5
Non-current 79 13 92
79 18 97

ASSEL IEtiremant provisics
Cerrain aturactions operate on leasehold sites and these provisions relate to the anticipated costs of removing assets and restoring the sites concerned at the end of
the lease term. These leases are typically of a duracion of between 10 and &0 years.

They are established on inception and reviewed annually. The provisions are discounted back te present value with the discount then being unwound through the
income statement as part of finance costs. The cost of establishing these provisions together with the impact of any changes in the discount rate is capitalised within

the cost of the related asset.

Other
Cther provisions largely relate o the esomated cost arising from open insurance clims, tax matrers and legal issues.

There are no anticipated future events that would be expected to cause a marerial change in the timing or amount of cutflows associated with the pravisions.
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52 weeles ended 26 December 2020 (2019 52 weeks ended 28 December 201 9)
4.} MNET DEBT

Analysis of nec debt

Net debt s the total amount of cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearmg loans and borrowings, lease liabilities and amounts owed to the Company’s parent
undertaking. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and other short term liquid investments such as money market funds which are subject
to an insignificant risk of a change i vaive.

Effect of

29 Net movements 26

December cash Non-cash in foreign December

2019 flows "' movements @ exchange ™' 2020

£m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 160 (13) - 8 155

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (312) 15 (37) 10 (324)

Lease liabilities (1,158) 57 {93) ) )

Net debt {excluding amounts owed to parent company) (1.3t0) 59 {130} 9 )
Amaounts owed to parent company (2.894) (417) (157} (48)
Net debt (including amounts owed to parent company) (4204) (358) (287) 39)

Net cash flows include the drawdown and repayment of loans and borrowngs, interest paid relovng to loens and borrowings ond interest pad and copral repayments 1elaung to leases
Non-cash movements nclude the finance costs relotng to leans and borrowmgs and leases from the income statement, together with lease addimons and disposals
A substantial proporion of the Croup's net debt 15 denorminated in non Sterling currentres

4.2 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Accounting policy

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less attributable fees. These fees are then amortised through the income statement on an
effective interest rate basis over the expected life of the loan {or over the contractual term where there is no clear indication that a sherter life is appropriate). If the
Group's estimate of the expected life based on repayment subsequently changes. the resulting adjustment to the effective interest rate calculation is recognised as a
gain or loss on re-measurement and presented separately in the income statement. In accordance with IFRS 9,

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current liabilities Non-current {abilicies Toral

2020 2019 202¢ 2019 2020 2019

£m £ £m £m £m £m

$400 milhon fixed rate notes due 2026 - - 299 310 299 3i0
Other loans 17 - 5 - 22 -
Interest payable 3 2 - - 3 2
20 2 304 T 300 324 312
Parent company loans - - 1311 758 1301 758
Preference shares treated as liabilities - - 2,132 2,120 2,132 2120
Interest payable to parent company 73 16 - - 73 16

o i 73 6 3443 2878 3506 2894

_ 93 8 3747 1188 3840 3206
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4.2 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group's facilities are:

*  Abond in the form of $400 mition eight year notes with a coupon rate of 5.75% to mature in june 2026.
*  Access to a £400 million revolving credit facility to mature in May 2026,

*  Loans from the Company’s parent company, being Mation Acquisition Limited.

¢ Preference shares issued to the Company’s parent company, being Motion Acquisition Limited.

Cther loans inciude £15 million relating to funding from KIRKBI Invest A/S for the deferral of certain payments which is being repaid during 2021, together with
£7 million of other borrowings taken out in respect of spearfic capital projects.

Interest-bearing loans and berrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount 1s amortised through the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fixed rare borrawings, which have been hedged to floating rates, are measured at amartised cost adjusted forr changes in the value
arrributable to the hedged risk arising from the changes in underlying market interest rates.

The $400 million notes are unsecured but guaranteed by the Company and certain of s subsidiaries. The Group is required to comply with certain non-financial
covenants in these notes. All covenant requirements were satisfied throughout the year.

4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would not have sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations as they falt due. The Group's Treasury department produces
short term and long term cash forecasts to identfy liquidity requirements and headroom, which are reviewed by the Group's Chief Financial Cfficer. Surplus cash is
actively managed across Group bank accounts to cover local shortfalls or invested in bank deposits or other short term liquid investments such as money market
funds. fn some countries bank cash pooling arrangements are in place to eptimise the use of cash.

As at the reporting date the Group had £155 million of cash and cash equivalents (201 9: £/ 60 million), access to a £400 million revalving credst facility, of which £nil
was drawn down (2019 £nif) in order to meet its obligations and commitments that will fall due.

The following table sets out the contractual marurities of financial liabilities, including interest payments. This analysis assumes that interest rates prevalling at the
reporting date remain constant.

0o =l b o <2 2z0<5 5 years Contractual
year years years and over cash flows
£m £m £m £m £m

2020
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 (17) (17) {52) (304) (399)
Other loans (19) (2) {1 - (22)
Lease liabilities (128) (tol) (291) (1.51%9) {2,039)
Parent company loans (59) (59) {611) (895) {1.624)
Preference shares treated as liabilicies (85) (85) {255) (2.257) {2,682)
Trade payables (iil} - - - (i
o (419) 264) (1200} {4975) (6.868)
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4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

0 to <t | to<2 210<5 5 years Contractual
year years years and over cash flows
fm £m £m £m £m

2019
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 (18) (18) (54) {332} (422)
Lease llabities (98) (ron (267) {1573) {2039)
Parent cempany loans (27) (27) (80) (812) {946
Preference shares treated as labilities (1ot (99} (296) (2.351) {2.847)
Trade payables (73) - - - (73}
(316) (245} (697) (5.069) {6327}

Interest rate risk
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk on both interest-bearing assers and liabilities. The Group has a policy of actively managing its interest rate risk exposure

using a combination of fixed rate debt and interest rare swaps.

At 26 December 2020 the Group had £1,379 million of fixed rate debt comprising:
* 3400 million of 5.75% notes to mature in 2026;
* %410 million and €370 million of preference shares;

* €500 million of parent company loans;

In aggregate 37% (2019 48%) of the year end interest-bearing loans and borrawings is at 2 fixed rate for a weighted average period of & years {2019: 7 yeors). Ta
achieve the desired balance of fixed and floating interest rates across currencies, the Group uses both floating to fixed interest rate swaps (which are part of cash
flow hedging relationships) and fixed to floating interest rate swaps (which are part of fair value hedging relationships).

Interest rate swaps are recognised at fairr value which is determined by reference to market rates. The fair value is the esumated amount that the Group would
receive or pay to exit the swap, taking into account current interest rates, credit risks and bid/ask spreads. Following imtiaf recognition, changes in fair value are
recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where the Group adopts hedge accounting.

When hadge arcnunring. the Group formally documents the relationship berween the hedging insuruments and hedged items. It makes an assessment, at inception
and on an ongoing basis, as to whether the hedging instruments are expected to be ‘highly effective” in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash fiows of the
respective hedged items during the life of the hedge.

Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in
the hedging reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in fair value is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses would remain
in equity until either the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, or until the hedged transaction cccurs, at which point they will be reclassified to profit
or loss.

Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are ateributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the
fair value adjustment to the carrying value of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to prefit and loss from that date.

At 26 December 2020 the Group had no fair value interest rates swaps (20! 9 nilj.
Sensitivity analysis
Based on the net debt position as at 26 December 2020 2 100 basis points rise in market interest rates would resultin an increase in net interest paid of £22 million

{2019 £15 million) and a 100 basis points fall in market interest rates would result in a decrease in net interest paid of £1 million (209 £12 millionj. This has been
calculated by applying the interest rate change to the Group's variable rate cash, borrowings and derivacives.
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4.2 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Fareign currency risk
As the Group operates internationally the performance of the business is sensiuve to movements in foreign exchange rates, The Group's porenual currency
exposures comprise transaction and translation exposures.

The Group ensures that its net exposure to foreign currency balances is kept to a minimal level by using foreign currency swaps to exchange balances back into
Sterling or by buying and selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary. The fair value of foreign exchange contracts is the present value of future cash flows
and is determined by reference to mariket rates.

At 26 December 2020 the fair value of foreign currency swap assets was £4 millon (201 9: £2 million) and of foreign currency swap liabilites was £1 million (2019
£2 million), none of which are hedge accounted.

Tranziction exposurs
The revenue and costs of the Group’s operations are denominated primarily in the currencies of the relevant local territories. Any significant cross-border trading
exposures would be hedged by the use of forward foreign exchange contracts.

Translanon exposures

The Group's results, as presented in Sterling. are subject te fluctuations as a resuit of exchange rate movements. The Group does not hedge this translation
exposure to its earnings but, where material, may carry out net asset hedging by borrowing in the same currencies as the currencies of its operating units or by using
forward foreign exchange conrracts. The Group's debt (excluding lease liabilties} is therefore denominated in Euros, US Dollars and Sterling and at 26 December
2020 consisted of €2,360 million and 32,193 million and there are forward foreign exchange contracts in place in respect of JPY 15,825 million.

Gains or losses arise on the retranslation of the net assets of foreign operations at different reporting dates and are recognised within the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. They will predominantly relate to the retranslacion of opening net assets at closing foreign exchange rates, together with the retranslation of
retained foreign profits for the year (that have been accounted for in cthe consolidated income statement at average rates) at closing rates. Exchange rates for major
currencies are set out below.

Gains or losses also arise on the retranstation of foreign currency denominated borrowings designated as effective net investment hedges of overseas ner assets.
These are offset in equity by corresponding gains or losses arising on the retranslation of the related hedged foreign currency net assets. The Group also treats
specific intercompany loan balances, which are net intended to be repaid in the foreseeable future, as part of its net investment. in the event of a foreign entity being
sold or a hedging item being extinguished, such exchange differences would be recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

The following exchange rates have been used in the translation of the results of foreign operations:

Weighted Weighted
Closing average Closing average Closing
rate for rate for rate for rate for rate for
2018 2019 2019 2020 2020
US Dollar 127 128 131 1.29 .36
Euro b b3 117 111 1.1
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4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

The Sterbing equivabents of financial assets and liabiditias denarminared in foreign currencies were:

AN AL

Carrying value

FERCAT AND ACCOUNTS 2070

Sterling Euro US Dollar Other Total
£m £m fm £m fm

2020
Cash and cash equivalents 90 8 17 40 155
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 - - (299) - {299)
Other loans - (22) - - 22
Lease habilicies (693) {127) (79} (304) {1.203)
Parent company loans - {1,080) {231} - (1.311})
Preference shares treated as liabilites - {1.041) (1.091) - (2.132)
(603) (2.262) (1.683) (264) (4812)

2019
Cash and cash equivalents 49 12 13 86 160
$400 mithon fixed rate notes due 2026 - (310) - {(310)
Lease habilities {671) {113} (82) (292) (1,158)
Parent company loans (49 (601} {108) - {758)
Preferance shares treated as liabilities - {989) (1.131) - (2,120)
(671) {1.6%91) (1.618) (206) (4.186)

Sensivvity analys's on forargn currency nisk

A 10% strengthening of all currencies against Sterling would increase net debt by £37% million (2019, £313 million). As described above. gains or losses in the income

statement and equity are offset by the retranslation of the related foreign currency net assets or specific intercompany loan balances.

A 10% strengthening of all currencies against Sterling would reduce the fair value of foreign exchange contracts and result in a charge to the income statement of

£21 million (2019, £9 million).

Credit rislk

Credit risk is the risk of financial foss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet s contractual obligations. Credit risk is
limited to the carrying value of the Group’s monetary assets. The Group has limited credit risk with its customers, the vast majority of whom pay in advance or at
the time of their visit. There are credit policies in place with regard to its trade recevables with credit evaluations performed on customers requiring credit over a

certain amount,

The Group manages credit exposures in connection with financing and weasury activities including expesures arising from bank deposits, cash held at banks and
dervative transactions, by appraisal, formal approval and ongeing monitoring of the credit position of counterparties. Counterparty exposures are measured against a

formal transaction limit appropriate to that counterparty’s credit position.

The Group robustly appraises nvestments before they are made to ensure the associated credit risk is acceptable. Performance of investments are closely

monitored, in some cases through Board participation, to ensure returns are In line with expectations and credit risk remains acceptable. There were no overdue

amounts in respect of investments and no impairments have been recorded (28] 9: £nil).

Fair values
Fair value hwerarchy
The Gn oup analyses financial instruments in the following ways:

*  Level I: uses unadjusted quoted prices in active markets.

*  Level 2: uses inputs that are derived directly or indirectly from observable prices (other than quoted prices}).

*  Level 3! uses inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cONTINUED)

Far valle versus Carlyirg dinouis

The fair values of financial assets and habilivies are presented in the table below, together with the carrying amounts shown in the scatement of financial position.
Short term receivables, payables and cash and cash eguivalents have been excluded from the following disclosuras on the basis that their carrying amount is a
reasonable approximation to fair value.

2020 2019
Fair value Carrying Carrying
hierarchy amount Fair value amoung Fair value
£m £m £m £m
Held ot amortised cost
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 Level | (299) (309) (310) {338)
Other loans Level 3 (22) (22) - -
Lease labilicies Level 3 (£.203) (1.375) (1,158) (13323
Parent company loans Level 3 (130 (1.297) {758) (758)
Preference shares treated as habilives Level 3 (2.132) {2043) (2,120) (2.120)
Held at fair value
Derivative financial instruments Level 2 3 3 - -
Investments Level 3 19 19 63 63
(4.945) (5024) (4,283) {4.483)

The fair values shown above for the bank facilities and fixed rate notes have been calculated using market values. The fair value of leases are determined by reference
to similar lease agreements, There is no difference between the carrying value and the fair value of investments that are estimated by reference to EBITDA multples

or discounted cash flows. There have been ro transfers between levels in 2020 or 2019.

4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Accounting policy

Where a contract provides the right to control the use of an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, the contract is accounted for as a lease. In

order for lease accounting to apply, an assessment is made at the inception of the conwract that considers whether;

¢ the Group has the use of an identified asset, which entitles it to the right to obtamn substantially all of the econemic benefits that arise from the use of the
asset, and;

*  the right to direct the use of the asset, either through the right to operate the asset or by predetermining how the asset is used.

Measurement at lease inception

At the lease commencement date the Group, as the lessee, will recognise;

¢ alease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments, and:

¢ an asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset {(ROU asset}.

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of future lease payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or if not available an
incremental borrowing rate. Future lease payments will include fixed payments, varable lease payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured at the
rate at the commencement date) and amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.

The ROU asset is initially measured at cost. which comprises the amount mitiafly recognised as the lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives recewved, instial direct costs incurred, and the estimated costs to be incurred at the end of the lease to restore the
site to the required conditon stipulated in the lease. On inception of a lease far a new site, where required, the estimated cost of decommissicning any additions
is included within ROU assets and depreciated over the lease term. A corresponding provision is set up as discfosed in note 3.5.

Depreciation (and any subsequent impairment) on the ROU asset, interest on the lease liability and any variable lease payments are all recognised mn the
income statement.
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4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CoNTINUED)

Ungnlng measdrement
The lease liability is adjusted for interest on the Yiability, adjustments to the lease payments and any reassessment of the lease as a result of a contract modification.

After the commencement date the Group measures the ROU asset using a cost model, reducing the cost through depreciation and any impairment losses.
Adjustments will be made to the ROU asset to reflect the changes in the lease liability as a result of changes to lease payments or modifications to the lease.

Short term and low-value leases
The Group has taken the recognition exemptions for short term leases and leases of low-value items. Leases which fall within the Group's defined parameters for
these exemptions are excluded from the IFRS 16 lease accounting requirements and are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rent reductions and deferrals

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the International Accounting Standards Board issued amendments to IFRS 16 Leases to allow lessees not to account for
rent concessions as lease modifications if they are a direct consequence of COVID-19 and meet cerain conditions. As a lessee we have applied the practical
expedient and are not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions are lease modifications. Accerdingly. where the Group has agreed concessions in the
form of a one-off reduction in rent, they have been accounted for as a variabie lease payment and have been recognised in profit or loss.

Lease arrangements

The Group's most signficant lease arrangements refate to a sale and leaseback transaction undertaken during 2007, involving the PPE of certain atrractions wichin the
Midway Actractions and Resort Theme Parks Operating Groups. Historically the leases were accounted for as finance or operating leases depending on the specific
circumstances of each lease and the nature of the attraction. For certain of the sites an individual lease agreement was spiit for accounting purposes as a combination
of finance and operaring leases, reflecung the varied nature of assets at the attracuon. This led to differing treatments on the adopuion of IFRS (6. Each of these sale
and leaseback agreements runs for a period of 35 years from inception and allows for annual rent increases based on the inflationary index in the United Kingdom
and tixed increases in Continental Europe. The Greup has the option, but is not cantractually required, 1o extend each of the lease agreements individually for two
further terms of 35 years, subject to an adjustment to market rates at that time.

LEGOLAND Japan was opened during 2017. The park was developed under the Group's ‘operated and leased’ model whereby the Group's local operating company
jeases the site and park infrastructure from a development parter. The development partners are related parties, being KIRKB! invest A/S and L1 Investco KK, a
subsidiary of KIRKBI Invest A/S (note 5.3). KIRKBI Invest A/S is a shareholder of Moticn JVeo Limited, the ultimate parent company. The lease is for a period of 50
years and previously was accounted for partly as a finance lease and partly as an operating lease depending on the nature of the underlying assets concerned. Land
and longer life assets, for example core elements of the park’s infrastructure, were accounted for as operating leases. Finance lease assets were those elements that
will be substantially or entirely consumed over the lease term. This accounting judgement was underpinned by a review of the cost of construction by asser type
together with estmates of the lives of the assets concerned.

The Group also enters into leases for sites within the Midway Attractions Cperating Group and central areas. These are typically of a duration between 10 and 60
years, with rent increases determined based on local market practice. In addition to a fixed rental element, rents within the Midway Actracticns Operating Group can
also contain a performance related element, typically based on turnover ac the site concerned. Options to renew leases exist at these sites in line with local market
practice in the territories concerned.

The key contractual terms in refation to each lease are considered when calculating the rental charge over the lease term. The potential impact on rent charges of
future performance or increases based on inflationary indices are each excluded from these calculations.

There are no significant operating restrictions placed on the Group as a result of its lease arrangements.

Judgemanits and csumiies

Discount rates used to calculate the lease lability are calculated on a lease by lease basis. For the property leases that make up substantially all of the Group's lease
portiolio this results in two approaches. For the majority of leases the rate used is based on estimates of incrementa! borrowing costs. These will depend on the
territory of the relevant fease and hence the currency used; the date of lease inception; and the lease term, As a result, reflecting the breadth of the Group's lease
portfolic; the transition approach adopted which has required estimation of historic discount rates; and estimations as to lease lives, there are a large number of
discount rates used within a wide range. For a small volume of high value leases, the rate implicit in the lease can be calculated and is therefore adopted.

IFRS 15 defines the lease term as the non-canceliable period of a lease together with the cptions to extend or terminate a lease, if the lessee were reasonably certain
to exercise that option. Where a lease includes the option for the Group to extend the lease term, the Group makes a judgement as to whether it is reasonzbly
certain that the option will be taken. This will take into account the length of tme remaining before the option is exercisable; current trading: future trading forecases
as to the ongoing profitability of the attraction; and the level and type of planned future capital investrnenc. A smail number of lzrge leases held by the Group came
into effect as part of a sale and leaseback transaction that occurred in 2007. These leases have an initial lease period of 35 years, with an option to extend for two
further periods of 35 years, subject to an adjustment to market rates at that time. At this point it is not reasonably certain that these leases will be renewed, taking
into account the factors noted above. This judgement is reassessed at each reporting period. A reassessment of the remaining life of the lease could result in a
recalculation of the lease lability and a matenial adjustment to the associated balances.
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4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assers

ANMNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Land and Plant and
buildings equipment Total
fm £m £m

Cost
At 30 December 2018 1,338 8l 1419
Dispesal of subsidiary undertakings (8) - (8)
Additions 47 2 49
Movements in asset retirement provisions 8 9 I/
Disposals (2) (3) (5)
Effect of movermnents in foreign exchange (22) - (22)
Balance at 28 December 2019 1361 89 | 450
Additions 43 2 45
Movements in asset retirement provisions {note 3.5) 2 - 2
Disposals (3) {2) (5)
Cffect of movements in forcign cxchange 9 ¢ 10
Balance at 26 December 2020 1412 90 1.502
Deprecdiation
At 30 December 2018 392 34 126
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (2) - (2)
Depreciation for the year 51 5 56
Impairment ] - 6
Disposals (2) 3) (5}
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (8) | (7}
Balance at 28 December 2019 437 37 474
Depreciation for the year 56 5 6l
Impairment 16 - 16
Disposals (1) (2} (3)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 3 | 4
Balance at 26 December 2020 511 41 552
Carrying amounts
At 29 December 2018 946 47 993
At 28 December 2019 924 52 976
At 26 December 2020 901 49 950

During the year the Group reviews useful economic lives and tests ROU assets for impairment in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, as referred wo in
note 3.3. Impairment charges have been made in the year of £16 million {2019 £6 million), primarily in respect of certain of the Group’s Midway artractions, arising

from a review of market and economic conditions at those locations.
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4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS \CONTINUED)

Lease iiabilicies

2020 2049
£m £m
Current 69 39
Non-current 1,134 L1119
1,203 1158
The maturity analysis of lease liabilines is disclosed within note 4.3. The cash outflow for leases is disclosed within note 4.1.
Amounts recognised in the income statement
2020 2019
£m £m
Expense relating to variable lease payments 6 22
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 61 56
Interest expense on lease liabilities 61 &t
128 139

4.5 EQUITY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capiral management

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity. The Group's objective when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base so as to ensure
shareholder and creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business; to provide returns for shareholders: and to optimise the capital structure to
reduce the cost of capital. There are no externally imposed capital requirements on the Group.

Tu enable the Group to mect its objective, the Mirertars monitor returns on capital through constant review of earnings generated from the Group's capical
investment programme and through regular budgeting and planning processes, manage capital in a manner so as to ensure that sufticrent tunds for ¢apltal invesument
and working capital are available, and ensure that the requirements of the Group's debt covenants are met.

The Group does not routinely make additional issues of capital, other than for the purpose of raising finance to fund significant acquisitions or developments intended
to increase the overall value of the Group.

Share plans were created to allow employees of the Group to parucipate in the ownership of the Group's equity instruments, when the Company was fisted on the
London Stock Exchange, in order to ensure employees’ focus on growing the value of the Group to achieve the aims of ali the shareholders. The Group's equity-
settled share plans were settled either by the issue of shares by Merlin Entertainments plc or by the purchase of shares in the market. These share plans all vested at
the time of the acquisition of the Company in November 2019 when the Group de-listed from the London Stock Exchange.

Share capital and reserves
Share capital

2020 2020 2019 2019
MNumber £m Number £m
Ordinary shares of £0.01 each
On issue and fully paid at beginning of year 1,036,594,358 10 1022072449 10
Issued in the year - - 14521909 -
"On issue and fully paid at end of year " 1036594358 10 1036594358 0
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4.5 EQUITY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Oirdinary charos
The halders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to tme and are entitled to one vote per share at general meetings of
the Company.

Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company ranks equally in all respects and no shareholder helds shares carrying special rights relating to the control of
the Company.

The nominal value of shares in issue Is shown in share capital, with any addinonal consideration for those shares shown in share premium.

Preference shares

The preference shares earn interest in the form of dividends and will be redeemed as follows;

*  Apreference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the £370,000,000 senior notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Motion Bondco DAC
and any other Senior Parent Liabilities denominated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which ail or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earfier date 2s the holder of the A preference shares or the Company may notify ta the other in the event thar the notes are repaid
early (in full or in part);

* B preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the $410,000,000 serior notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Motion Bondco DAC
and any other Senior Parent Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which afl or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the B preference shares or the Company may notufy to the other in the event that the notes are repaid
early (in full or m part}:

¢ C preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the Euro Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities denominated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the Euro Serior Debt becomes repayable, or
any earlier date as the holder of the C preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the Eure Senior Debt is repaid early {in full
or in part); and

* D preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the USD Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the USD Senior Debt
becomes repayable, or any earlier date as the hoider of the D preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the USD Senior Debt
is repaid early (in full or in part).

The preference shares rank ahead of the ordinary shares for all purpeses and no dividend, distribution, return of capital and/or reduction of capital shall be paid on
the ordinary shares whilst there are any unpaid amounts of preference dividends which constitute a debt from and payable by the Company. The preference shares
carry na voting rights.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised through equity on the earlier of their approval by the Company's shareholders or their payment.

2020 2019

tm £m

Final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 29 December 2018 of 5.5 pence per share ) 56
Total dividends paid U 7 -

The Directors of the Company have declared their intention not to pay a dividend for the year ended 26 December 2020 (201 9: £nil).

Translauon reserve

The translation reserve of £{78) million (2049 £{73) milion) comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations, primarily relating to the statement of position at reporting dates. The reporting date foreign exchange rates by major currency are provided in
note 4.3.

Hadging rescive

The hedging reserve of £nil (201 %: £nil) comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in interest rate swaps related to hedged transacuions chat have
not yet occurred.

77



MERUN ENTZRTAINIMENTS (IMITED ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUMNTS 2070

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SECTION 4
CAPITAL STRUCTURE
AND FINANCING coxmum

52 weelks ended 26 December 2020 (2019 52 weaks ended 28 December 2019

4.6 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Arrannting paicy

The fair value of the share plans is recognised as an expense over the expected vesting period with a correspanding entry to retined earnings, net of deferred tax.
The fair value of the share plans is determined at the date of grant. Non-market based vesting conditions {i.e. 2arnings per share and return on capital employed
targets} are taken into account in estimating the number of awards likely to vest. which is reviewed at each accounting date up to the vesting date, at which poinc the
estimate is adjusted to reflect the acrual awards issued. No adjustment is made after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited or are not exercised.

The Group cperated cash-settled versions of the employee incentive plans for employees in certain territories, The 1ssues and resulting charges of these plans were
not material to the financial statements.

Equity-settied plans

Until the acquisition of the Company in November 2019 and its subsequent de-listing from the Londen Stock Exchange, the Group operated four employee share
incentive plans; the Performance Share Plan {P5P), the Deferred Bonus Plan (D8P), the Company Share Option Plan (CSOP) and the All Employee Sharesave Plan
(AESP), as set out in the tables below. Awards under the PSP vested three years after grant date, upon satisfaction of earnings per share and return on capita
employed performance conditions, and continued employment. Awards under the CSOP, the DBP and the AESP vested three years after grant date subject to
cantinued employment. All awards under the PSP and DBP were grantad for nil consideration. These share plans all vested at the time of the acquisition of the
Company in November 2019 when the Group de-listed from the London 5tock Exchange.

Anzlye s of sh

e-based payment charge

2020 2009

£m fm

PSP - 8
CsSOpP - 3
AESP - 2
- e RN - -

Analysis of awards
Average

remaining Number Number

Exercise Period when contractual of shares of shares

Date of grant price (£) exercisable life (years) 2020 2019
AESP April 2017 - April 2019 283-396 2020- 2022 - - 49,603

Totat . 49603
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4.6 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

The weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) over the year were as follows:

ANNIAL REPGRT AMD ACCOUNTS 202G

CSOP AESP
psp DBp B WAEP \WAEP
Number Number Number (£) Number (£)
At 30 December 2018 8,152,505 34296 5808839 4.00 6,615,393 o
Granted during the year 4037434 51,781 2038750 343 2939,07¢ 288
Forfeited during the year (488.632) (B04) (790.627) 391 (1,275406} 319
Exercised during the year (6.554271) (85.273) {5.110.475) 353 (3918026} 310
Lapsed durning the year (5,147,039) - (1.912567) 4.68 (4,232,927 289
Expired duning the year - - (33.920) 461 (78.502) 385
At 28 December 2019 - - 49,603 338
Exercised during the year - - - - {16,783} 283
Lapsed during the year - - - - (32.820) 366
At 26 December 2020 - - - - - -
Exercisable at end of year
At 28 December 2019 - - - - 45603 338
At 26 December 2020 - - - - -
Ni-cost opons
The fair value per award granted and the assumptions used in the calculations for the significant grants in 2013 were as follows:
Share price Fair
Exercise at grant value per Expected
price date award dividend Expected Award life Risk free
Scheme Date of grant (£) (£} {f) yield volatility (years) rate
PSP % April 2019 - 344 341 nfz nfa 30 nfa
csor 9 April 2019 343 341 0.66 2.3% 24% 4.4 0.8%
AESP 9 April 2019 288 341 071 2.3% 24% 32 3.8%
AESP 9 April 2019 3.07 341 .59 2.3% 26% 2. 0.7%

The key assumptions used in calculating the share-based payments were as follows:
*  The binomial valuation methodology is used for the PSP, CSOP and DBP. The Black-Scholes model 1s used to value the AESP.
*  The expected volatility 1s based on the historical volatility of the Company’s shares.
*  The risk free rate is equal to the prevailing UK Gitts rate at grant date, which is commensurate with the expected term.

*  Expected forfeiture rates are based on recent experience of staff turnover levels.

*  Behavioural expectavons have been taken into account in estimating the award life of the CSOP.

*  The charge is spread over the vesting period on a straight-line basis.
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52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2015 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2019}

5.1 INVESTMENTS

Accounting policy
The Group holds investments in two forms. Minority equity investments are accounted for as fair value through other comprehensive income’ (FYQCI), having taken

the election available under IFRS 9. This applies to the investments in IDR Resorts Sdn. Bhd., LL Developments and Big Bus Tours Group Holdings Limited.

Associates and jaint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control ar significant influence. established by contractual agreement, The
consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the total recognised income and expenses on an equity accounted basis, from the date that joint
control or influence commences until the date that it ceases.

LL Big Bus LL

IDR Resorts  Developments Tours Dubai Hotel Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Balance at 29 December 201% 8 3 40 12 63
Net change in fair value - included in OCI (3) - (39) - (42)
Share of reserves in joint ventures - - - (n (N
Effects of movement in foreign exchange - - {1 - (n
At 26 December 2020 T ' 5 3 - Il 19

Minority equity investments

DR Resarty

The Group has a minority equity investment in IDR Resorts Sdn. Bhd. {IDR}. IDR and its subsidiaries are deemed to be related parties as together they own
LEGOLAND Malaysia (see note 5.3).

LL Developments
The Group has a minority equity investment in LL Developments, the local company providing funding and infrastructure support to the development of
LEGOLAND Korea (see note 5.3).

3ig 3us Tours

The Group has an investment in Big Bus Tours Group Holdings Limited (BIG 8US), the leading global owner-operator of Hop On Hop Off City Tours, held
substantiafly all in the form of loan notes, The investment 1s valued adopting a market-based approach (based on EBITDA multiples). The BIG BUS business s heavily
reliant on incernational tourists visiting city centre locations, and therefore has been severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result. BIG BUS rajsed
further funding and completed a capital restructuring exercise during the period whereby the priority of Merlin's investment reduced compared to other investors.
Accordingly a negative adjustment of £39 million to the fair value has been reflected in the year (2019 increase of £3 mullion}. Should the business prove successful in
its planned recovery, positive value adjustments could occur in the future.

Merlin also holds a minority equity investment valued at £nil {2019; £nil).

Investments in associates and joint ventures

LL Daber Horel

The Group holds a 40% equity interest in LL Dubar Hotel LLC, which is the cempany developing the hotel at LEGOLAND Dubai. The negauve share of reserves
reflects pre-opening costs for the hotel,

5.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Accounting policies

Cefined contrbunon pension schemes

in the case of defined contribution schemes, the Group pays fixed contributions inte a separate fund on behalf of the employee and has no further obligations to
them. The risks and rewards associated with this type of scheme are assumed by the members rather than the employer. Obligations for contributions to defined
contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Dafined benefit ponsion scaemes

A defined benefit scheme is a pest-employment benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme. The Giroup's net obligation 15 calculared for each scheme
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for thair service in the current and prior perieds. That benefit is discounted to
determine its present value and offset by the fair value of any scheme assets. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credrt
method. All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the period they occur directly in equity through other comprehensive inceme.
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5.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED;

Cefined contribution pension schemes
The Group operates a number of defined contribution pension schemes and the total expense relating to those schemes in the current year was £11 miflion
{2019 £13 million}.

Defined benefit pensicn schemes

The principal scheme that the Group operates is a closed scheme for certain former UK employees of The Tussauds Group, which was acquired in 2007. The
scheme entitles retired employees to receive an annual payment based on a percentage of final salary for each year of service that the employee provided. The
pension schemes have not directly invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments or in properties or other assets used by the Group.

The most recent fult actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 December 2018. As a result, the Group agreed to pay annual deficit reduction
contributions of £497,800, increasing at 3% per annuim, payable monthly for a period of 4 years and 8 months from | January 2020 to 31 August 2024,

The Group expects £1 millicn in ongoing contributions to be paid to s defined benefit schemes in 2021, The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obiigation at 26 December 2020 was |7 years (2019 {7 years;.

The assets and liabilities of the schemes are:

2020 20149
£m £m
Equites 17 20
Corporate bonds and cash 13 10
Pooled investment funds (property) 5 5
Fair value of scheme assets 35 35
Present value of defined benefit obligations {46) (42}
Net pension liability {1y (7)
Maovement o the net pension labily
Present
Present value of
value of defined Net
scheme benefit pension
assets obligations liabilicy
£m m £m
At 30 December 2018 32 (38} (&)
Met interest | (1}
Contributions by employer | - f
Benefits paid (1) | -
Remeasurement loss 3 (5) {2)
Assers distributed on settlement () - (i)
Liabilities extinguished on settlement - | |
At 28 December 2019 35 (42) 7
Net interest i (N -
Benefits paid (n i -
Remeasurement loss - (4 (4)
At 26 December 2020 o D (46) (1
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5.2 EMFPLOYEE BENEFITS \CONTINUED:

The amount recognised in the income statement was £nil {2019 £nil). The amount recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income was a loss of
L4 miillicn {2019, luss of £2 yniffion).

During 2017 certain members were given the option to wansfer their benefits out of the scheme by way of either a Flexibility at Retirement exercise or an Enhanced
Transfer Value exercise. The settlement loss arising from this was £nil (2019 £nil),

Acruarial assumprons
Principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages) at the year end were:

2020 2019
Discount rate 1.5% 20%
Rate of price inflation 3.0% 29%

The scheme closed to future accrual for active members on 31 May 2018, therefore the link to future salary increases has been severed.

Assumpuons regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and mertality tables, For the Tussauds Group scheme the actuarial table used is S2PxA. The
mortality assumprion adopted predicts that a current 65 year old male would have a life expectancy to age 87 and a female would have a life expectancy o age 89.

5.3 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Identity of refated parties

The Group has related party relationships with its parent company; its ultimate parent company; the investor consortium (and connected parties) that together
control the ultimate parent company: key management personnel; joint ventures; and other co-investors.

The defined benefit pension scheme for certain former UK employees of The Tussauds Group is also a related party {see note 5.2).

All dealings with refated parties are conducted on an arm's length basis.

Transactions with parent company
Details of interest paid on loans from the parent company and the period end loan balances are given in notes 2.3 and 4.2 respectively.

Transactiors with shareholders

Transactions entered intc with the consortium and connected parties, including the purchase and sale of goods, payment of fees, royalties and rent, and trading
balances outstanding at 26 December 2020 and 28 December 2019, were as follows:

Goods and services

Amount Purchases, Amount
owed by royalties owed to
Sales  related party and rent  related party
£m £m £m £m

1020
KIRKB! fnvest A/S I - 6 2
LEGO Group - 40 3
11 Investco K.K. - - 6 2
o ) 52 7

2019
KIRKBI Invest A/S | - 14 2
LEGC Group i [ 66 4
L Investco KK, - \ 9 -
2 _‘_‘20 89 6
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53 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (cONTINUED)

Included in interest-bearing loans and borrowings are loans of £15 million relating to funding from KIRKBI Invest A/S for the deferral of certain payments which are
being repaid during 2021,

Included in deferred income is £10 million received from a KIRKBI Group company (LEGO Juris A/S) to support certain development activities being undertaken in
future periods.

The Group leases land and buildings from KIRKBI Invest A/S (a shareholder in the Group's ultimate parent company). The term of this lease is 25 years, with

19 years remaining at the reporting date. The Group's obligations come in the form of fixed rental payments of less than £1 million per year in addition to turnover
rent, service charges and ongoing repair obligations. The amount in the table above includes the rental payment incurred during the period. The total commitment
relating to fixed rental payments 15 £5 million over the remaining lease term (2019: £5 milfion).

As set out in note 4.4 the Group has entered into a 50 year lease with LL| Investco KK (a subsidiary of KIRKBI invest A/S). There are 46 years remaining at the
reparting date. The Group's obligations come in the form of fixed rental payments of £6 million per year in addition to turnover rent and ongoing repair obligadons
under the terms of the lease. The amount in the table zbove represents the rental payment incurred during the period. The total commitment relating to fixed rental
payments s £203 million over the remaning lease term (201 9: £202 million).

The Group leases land and buildings from Koldingvej 2 Billund A/S (which has a 25% shareholding in the LEGO Group}. The term cof this lease is 2% years, with
2} years remaining at the reporting date. The total commitmenc is £5 million over the remaining lease term (201 9 £5 milflion).

The Group has also entered into lease agreements with parties that are related partes of the Blackstone Investment Funds that are shareholders in the ultimate
parent company. The parties are Multi Corporation B.V. in relation to SEA LIFE and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre istanbul, Network Rail Infrastructure Limited for
an area associated with the London Eye site, Shopcore in relation to LEGOLAND Discovery Cenue Chicago and NEC Group Led, relating to The Bear Grylls
Adventure and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre attractions in Birmingham. In aggregate the total rent paid in 2020 was £1 million (2019, £nil for the period following the
acquisition of the Group). Total commitments in respect of these leases are £20 millicn over the remaining lease term (2019 £/6 nftion).

The Group also has lease agreements with CPPIB, who purchased the Trafford Centre in Manchester in December 2020, with whom we have leases relating to SEA
LIFE and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Manchester. [n aggregate, the total rent paid in 2020 following this acquisition was £nil. Total commitments in respect of
these leases are £6 million over the remaining lease terms.

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management of the Group, being the Directors of the Board, the members of the Executive Commuttee and their immediate relatives control nil% (2019 nif%) of
the voting shares of the Company. The remuneration of key management is disclosed in note 2.1,

Transactions with other relared parties

LEGCLAND Malaysia

As part of the agreement for the development and cperation of LEGOLAND Malaysia, the Group subscribed for share capital in IDR Resorts $dn. Bhd. (IDR) which
together with its subsidiaries owns the park {see note 5.1}. On this basis. IDR and its subsidiaries are deemed 1o be related parties.

Transactions entered into, including the purchase and sale of goods, payment of fees and trading balances outstanding at 26 December 2020 and 28 Decernber 2015,
are as follows:

2020 2019

£m £m

Sales to relared party 2 4
Amounts owed by related party 2 4

LEGOLAND Keres

The Group has a minority equity investment in and has entered into transactions with LL Developments. a Korean company which acts under the direction of the
Gangwon Province and is providing funding and infrastructure support of KRVY 80 billion to the development of LEGOLAND Korea, which the Group has
committed to spend on costs associated with the project. All of these funds had been received by 26 December 2020 and are recorded within deferred income.
Upen the opening of the park, the funding and infrastructure support wili be accounted for as a capital grant and offset against the totaf project costs within prapercy,
plant and equipment, The conditions of the funding require that Merlin completes the park’s construction and operates the park for a period of nme post-opening.
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5.4 CONTINGENT LEABILITIES

In April 2019 the European Commission (EC) announced its final decision that certain elements of the UK's Controlled Foreign Company rules partially represent
State Aid. The UK Government has made an annulment application against this decision. Separately, Merlin has made its own application. If the applications are
ultimately unsuccessful then this could result in an increase in the Group’s future effective tax rate. The Group considers the maximum potential liability, not
separately provided for and excluding interest. to be up to £36 million, depending on the basis of calculation. In February 2021, the Group received charging notices
from HMRC for £28 million.

5.5 NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Amendments to IFRS 16 'COVID- 19 - related rent concessions’ was implemented in the year, the impact of which is covered in note 4.4.

The following amendments to standards and interpretations have been implemented in the year with no significant impact to the Group:
* Amendments to ‘References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards’

+  Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Definiton of a business’

*  Amendments to IAS | and |AS 8§ ‘Definition of material’

*  Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7 *Interest rate benchmark reform’

The 1458 has also 1ssued the following amendments to standards that will be effective for the Group as from i January 2021. The Group does not expect any
significant impact on its consolidaced financial scatemencs from these amendments.

¢ Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16 ‘Interest rate benchmark reform — Phase 2

5.6 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION

The ulumate parent company it Moton |Veo Limited, 2 company incorperated in the United Kingdom. This company prepares group financial staterents. The parent
company is Motion Acquisition Limited,

The consclidated financial statements of Motion |Veo Limited and its subsidiaries are available to the public and may be obtained from Link House, 25 West Street.
Poole, Dorset BHIS ILD.
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS

The Group has the following investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures:

Subsidiary undertaking

AAE Unit Trust

AQDEVY Pty Limited

lllawarra Tree Topps Pty Ltd

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Melbourne Pty Ltd
Living and Leisure Australia Limited

Living and Leisure Australia Management Limred
Living and Leisure Australia Trust

living and L eisure Finance Trust

LLA Aquarums Pry Limited

Melbourne Underwater Waorld Pey Lid
Melbourne Underwater Werld Trust

ME LoanCo (Australia) Pry Limited

Merlin Entertainments {Australia) Pry Ltd

MUW Hoeldings Pty Lid

Northbani Development Trust

Northbanik Place (Vic) Pry Ltd

Oceanis Australia Py Ltd

Oceanis Australia Unit Trust

Oceanis Developments Pry Lid

Oceanis Foundation Pty Ltd

Oceanis Holdings Limited

Oceanis Korea Unit Truse

Oceanis NB Pty Ltd

Oceanis Northbank Tryst

Oceanis Unit Trust

Sydney Attractions Group Pey Ltd

Sydney Tower Cbservatory Pty Limited

Sydney Wildlife World Pry Limited

The Otway Fly Pty Lud

The Orway Fly Unit Truyst

The Sydney Aquarium Company Pty Limited
Underwater World Sunshine Coast Pry Lid

US Fly Trust

Madame Tussauds Austria GmbH

MT Austria Holdings GmbH

SEA LIFE Centre Belgum N.V.

Christchurch Investment Company Limited
Merlin Entertainments (Canada) Inc

Madame Tussauds Exhibition (Besjing) Company Limited
Madame Tussauds Exhibition (Shanghai) Company Limited
Madame Tussauds Exhibition (Wuhan) Company Limited

Country of
incorporaticn

Australia '

Australia "'

Australia *'"

Australia "

Australia’

Australia
Awustralia ’
Australia
Australia
Australia
Australa '
Australia '
Australia
Australia’
Australia *
Australia
Australia
Australia®
Australia !
Auwstralia
Australia!
Australia '
Australia '

Australia

Australia !

Auscralia

Austrahia
i

Australia "'

i

Australa "

Australia

Ausrtralia "

v

Australia *
Australia "
Austria ¥
Austria

Belgium **!

British Virgin Islands '
Canada '
China '™
China '®
China '

ANPUAL REPOR™ ARD ACCOUNTS 2020

Class of
share held

Ordinary
Ovrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Qrdinaiy
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Qwnership
2020
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
t00.0%
+00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
50.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
2019

100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

50.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
{00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
180.0%
100.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments Hong Kong Limited

Merlin Entertainments (Shanghat) Company Limited
Merlin Exhibition (Chongqing) Company Limited
Merlin Exhibiticn (Shenyang) Company Limited
Merlin Indoor Chitdren's Playground (Shanghai) Company Limited
Shanghai Chang Feng Oceanworld Co. Lid
LEGOLAND ApS

Merlin Entertainments Group Denmark Holdings ApS
SEA LIFE Helsinki Oy

SEA LIFE France SARL

Dungeon Deutschland GmbH

Heide-Park Scltau GmbH

LEGOLAND Deutschland Freizeitpark GmbH
LEGOLAND Deutschland GmbH

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Deutschland GmbH
LEGOLAND Holidays Deutschland GmbH

LLD Share Beteiligungs GmbH

LLD Share GmbH & Co. KG

Madame Tussauds Deutschland GmbH

Merlin Entertzinments Group Deutschland GmbH
SEA LIFE Deutschland GmbH

SEA LIFE Konstanz GmbH

Tussauds Deutschland GmbH

Tussauds Heide Meu opole GmbH

Merlin Entertainments India Private Limited

Merlin Entertainments Ireland | Limited

Merlin Entertainments Ireland 2 Limited

SEA LIFE Centre Biray Limited

Gardaland S.r.l.

Gardatand Holidays S.r.l.

Merhin Artractions {ealy S.r.l.

Merlin Enterainments Group ltaly S.r.

Merlin Water Parks Su.l.

Ronchi del Garda S.p.A,

Ronchi S.p.A.

LEGOLAND Japan Limited

Merlin Entertainments {Japan} Limited

Merlin Entertainments Group Luxembourg 3 Sarl. ™
Merlin Lux Finco | 5.4 r.h

Mertin Lux Finco 2 5.a r.l.

LEGOLAND Malaysia Hotel Sdn. Bhd

Merlin Entertainments Group (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd
Meriin Entertainments Studios (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd

9)

Country of
incorporation

China 1'%
China """
China "'*
China ¥
China '
China >
Denmark ''®
Denmark "¢
Finland '
France i'®
Germany ' 7
Germany "%
Germany '
Germany "
Germany ¥
Germany 2"
Germany 2"
Germany '? '

Germany ¥

Germany ™

Germany "™

Germany *'*
Germany '™

Germany *%

India 2%
Ireland 2%
Ireland '
ireland "2

124

fraly
faly =
fraly =

1241

ltaly
jraly 12

[taly 4

14

ltaty
Japan '*"

28

Japan*
Luxembourg ‘2

Luxembourg **
Luxembourg =¥
Malaysia
Malaysia "

3

Malaysia

AMMUIAL REPGRT AND ACCOUNTE 2070

Class of
share held
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ovrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ovrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
99.9%
59.9%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
49 4%
90.4%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
2019

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
H00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
99.9%
99.9%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
“149.4%
90.4%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
H00.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT YENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED!

Subsidiary undertaking

Amsterdarm Dungeon B.V.

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Scheveningen B.V.
Madame Tussauds Amsterdam B.V,

Merlin Entertainments Holdings Nederland B.V.
SEA LIFE Centre Scheveningen B.Y.

Auckland Aquarium Limited

Merlin Entertainments {New Zealand) Limited

Merflin Entertainments (SEA LIFE PORTQO) Unipessoal Lda

Merlin Entertainments Singapore Pre. Ltd
Busan Aquaria Twenty One Co. Ltd
LEGOLAND Korea LLC

Merlin Entertainments Korea Company Limited
SLCS SEA LIFE Centre Spain S.A.

Merlin Entertainments {Thaland) Limited

Siam Ocean World Bangkok Co Ltd

Istanbul Sualti Dunyasi Turizm Ticaret AS
Madame Tussauds Museum LLC

Merlin Holdings Limited

Alton Towers Limited

Alfton Towers Resort Operations Limited
Charcoal CLG | Limited {company fimited by guagrantee)
Charcoal CLG 2 Limited {company limited by guarantee)
Charcoal Holdco Limited

Charceal Mideo | Limited

Charcoal Newco | Limited

Charceoal Newce |a Limited

Chessington Hetel Limited

Chessington World of Adventures Limited
Chessington World of Adventures Operations Limicad
Chessington Zoo Limited

CWA PropCo Limited

LEGOLAND US Holdings Limited
LEGOLAND Windsor Park Limited

London Aquarium (Scuth Bank) Limited
London Dungeon Limited

London Eye Holdings Linuted

London Eye Management Services Limited
Madame Tussaud’s Limited

Madame Tussauds Touring Exhibition Limitad
Merlin Attractions Operauons Limited

Merlin Magic Making Limited

Merlin Entertainments {Asia Pacific) Limited

Merlin Entertainments (Blackpool) Limited

Couantry of
incorporation
Netherlands '
Netherlands #*

Netherlands %%

Netherlands %
Netherlands '*%
New Zealand '*™
New Zealand 7
Portugal '

Singapore ¥

South Korea #™

South Korea "#"

South Korea "

Spain **
Thailand **
Thailand “**
Turkey “*
UAE 1w
UAE 7
UK e
K
uK e
UK 18
UK
UK
UK #8
UK
UK
UK
UK
UK &
UK 481
UK &
UK 1481
UK
UK &
UK &
UK
UK 18|
UK =@
UK
UK #8
UK
UK 48

ARNJAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Class of
share held

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
60.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1 48.0%
@1 0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Cwnership
2019

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
60.0%
100.0%
100.0%
(00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
' 48.0%
o 1.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
t00.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT YENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments (Dungeons) Limited
Merlin Enteraainments (NBD) Limited

Merlin Entertainments {SEA LIFE) Limited

Merlin Entertainments Crown (UK} Limited
Merlin Enterainments Developments Limited '
Merlin Entertainments Group Employee Benefit Trustees Limited
Merlin Entertainments Group Holdings Linited
Merlin Entertainments Group Limited

Merlin Entertainments Group Operations Limited
Merlin’s Magic Wand Trustees Limited

Merlin UK Finance A Limited

Merlin UK Finance 2A Limited

Merlin UK Finco i Limited

Merlin UK Finco 2 Limited

Merlin US Holdings Limited

SEA LIFE Centre {Blackpoel) Limited

SEA LIFE Centres Limited

SEA LIFE Trustees Limited

The London Planemarium Company Limited

The Millennium Wheel Company Limited

The Seal Sanctuary Limited

The Tussauds Group Limited

Thorpe Park Operations Limited

Tussauds Attractions Limired

Tussauds Group {UK) Pension Plan Trustee Limited
Tussauds Limited

Warwick Castle Limited

Lake George Fly LLC

LEGOLAND California LLC

LEGOLAND Discovery Center Arizona LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Boston LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Columbus LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre {Dallas) LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre (Meadowlands) LLC
LEGOLAND Discavery Center Michigan LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Philadelphia LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center San Antonic LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center San Jose LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre US LLC
LEGOLAND New York LLC

Madame Tussauds Hollywood LLC

Madame Tussaud Las Vegas LLC

Country of
incorporation

UK
UK
UK
UK
UK i52)
UK
UK
UK =
UK
UK 481
UK
UK =
UK
UK 4
UK e
UK @
UK o
UK 1
Ui
UK
UK 1
UK
UK
UK 48
UK 48
UK @@
UK
USA =
UsA
USA
USA
UsA =
USA 5@
USA
USA 0
Usa
USA
USA 5
USA
UsA 5
USA
USA ©

ANBIUAL REPOAT AND ACCOJMNTS 2020

Class of
share held

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
COrdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
1G0.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
$00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
106.0%
100.0%
1G0.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
2019

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

AMNMUAL RFPORT AND ACCQOUNTS 2026

Country of Class of Ownership Ownership
Subsidiary underraking incorporation share held 2020 2019
Madame Tussauds Nashville LLC USA 2 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussaud's New York LLC USA =2 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds Orlande LLC USA 150 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds San Francisco LLC USA, =& - 100.0% 100.0%
Madarne Tussauds Washington LLC USA B0 - [00.0% 100.0%
Merlin Enterainments Chicago LLC USA, 150 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Crown (US) Inc USA, = Ovdinary 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Group Florida LLC USA, 5o - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Group US Holdings Inc USA 15 Ordinary 100.0% 100.0%
Meriin Entertainments Group US LLC USA =0 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Enterrainments Group Wheel LLC USA = - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments North America L.LC USA =8 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Short Breaks LLC UsA 5 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments US NewCo LLC USA 50 - 100.0% 100.0%
San Francisce Dungeon LLC USA 50 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Center San Antonio LLC USA, 5 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Charlotte LLC USA 5% - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Meadowlands LLC UsSA 50 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Michigan LLC Usa s - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Minnescta LLC LSA, & - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Orlando LLC USA 5 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE US LLC USA 30 100.0% 100.0%
The Tussauds Group LLC USA 5% 100.0% 100.0%

Country of Class of Cwnership Ownership
joint venture undertaking incorporation share held 2020 2019
LL Dubai Hotel LLC LAE 5" Ordinary 40.0% 40.0%

" Merfin Entertmnments Limited hos control over this entity vig controf of the immediate porent entity ond the conniol that the immediate parent ety hos over the subsidiory entty

Merhn Ementainments Group Luxembourg 3 Sd ri 15 held by the Company All other subsidiaries are held by intermediate subsidiaries

Mertin Entertainments Limmted has {00% of the beneficot ownership of these entties
Merlin Entertammients Developments Limited is 1n the process of being liquidated
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT YVENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Registered offices

" Level 16, 201 Ehzabeth Street, Sydney, NSW 21 60, Australia

i Unit 501, 370 5t Kilda Road, Melbourne, Victoria, Austraha

L Riesenradplarz 5-6. F02¢ Wien, Vienna, Austria

il Koning Albert | Laan |16, 8370. Blankenberge. Belgium

5 P.O. Box 3340, Raad Tawn, Tortela, British Virgin Tslands

161 Suite 5300 Commerce Court West, 199 Bay Sereet, Toronta, ON, M5L 1B%, Canada

el No. 4, 6,8, 10, 12, 14. 14, 18 Quanmen Avenue, Dongcheng District, Begqing. China

a 10/F Mew World Buillding, No 2-68 Nanping Xi Road, Shangha 200003, China

- 21, Han Street, Wuchang District, (Shops 40/41/42) Buillding 5, Lot |2, Wuhan, China

do Shops 8131, BI32 & BI33 of Level Bl, KI1 MUSEA, Victoria Dockside, 12 Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kawloon, Hong Kong
ih Room Na. 3F-IbE&32EK L. L3 Floar, Zhihupahui Plaza, No.1-2 of 238% Alley, Zhangyang Road, Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zone, China
A 4-11, Fu 9, No. 133, Nanpin Road, Nan'an Dustrict, Chongqing, China

dh Na. 2 Jiz-1, Bolan Road, Heping District, Shenyang, China

14 L2-25, 2F, 3F Parkside Plaza, Putua Districe, Shangha, China

AR 189, Daduhe Road, Py Tua Distict, Shanghan, 200062, China

e Aastvej 10, 7190 Billund, Denmark

" Twehtie 10, Helsinki 00510, Finland

& Cenrre Commaercial Val dEurope, Espace 502, {4 cours du Danube, Servis, 7711 Marne-La-Vailéa, France
i Kehrwieder 5, 20457 Hamburg, Gerntany

0 teidenhof 1, 296! 4 Soltau, Germany

izh Legoland Allee, 83312, Gunzburg, Germany

(PN No. 46, Aradhana, R. K. Puram, Sector -1 3. New Delt- | 10046, india

g &t Floor, 2 Grand Canal Square, Dublin 2, frefand

2491 Via Derna 4, Casteinuovo del Garda, 3701 4, Verona, ltaly

T Via Vivaldl 0.7, Castelnuove del Garda Vergna, 37014, Verona, lraly

26 Loc Ronchi. Castel del Garda Verona, 37014, Verona, ltaly

h 2-2-1, Kinjoufutou Minato-ku, Nagoya-shi, Japan

128 tsland Malt, Decks Takyo Beach, 1-6-1 Daba, Minato-ku, Tokyo. Japan

el 20, Rye Fugéne Ruppert, L-2453, Luxembourg

3 Suite 19-1 Level 19, Tower Block, Menara Milermum, fatan Damanlefa, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Kuala Lumpur, 53450, Malaysia
i3h Na. 7. jalan LEGOLAND, Bandar Medini Iskandar Malaysia, 79250 Iskandar Puter), Johor, Malaysia

i34 Surte 2-4, Level 2, Tower Block, Menera Milenium, Jalan Damanlela. Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
23 Rokin 78, 1012 KW Amsterdam, Netherlands

i Gevers Deynootweg 970, 2586 BW Den Haag, Netherlands

it Dam 20 GEBCOUW P&C, 1012 NP Amsterdam, Netherlands

e Scrandweg 13. 2586 JK Den Haag. Netherlands

i3 Level 11, 41 Shortiand Street. Auckland 1010, New Zealand

3 No. | Rua Particular do Castelo de Queijo, 4100-379. Porco, Portugal

It 10, Chang! Business Park Central 2, #05-01. HansaPoint@CBP, 486030, Singapore

AL 266 Haeundaehasbyun-ro, Haenudee-Gu, Busan, Repubkc of Korea

Al Yosean-dong, 8F Maorim Bulding, |6 Joongang-ra, Chunchaon-si, Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea

S Puerto Marina, Bemalmadena-Costa. 29630 Benalmadena, Mafaga, Spain

4t 989 Siam Discovery, 2401 4 FIr, 5501 5 Flr, %601 6 Fir, #701 7 Flr., Rama | Road, Pathumwan, Bangkolc 18330, Thaland
B B1-B2 Flocr Siam Paragon, 931 Rama | Road, Khweng Patumwan, Bangkok 10330, Thaland

v Kocatepe Mah. Pasa Cad. Forum Iscanbul AVM Mo, 5/5, Bayrampasa, Turkey

w8 Office 1601, 48 Bury Gate, Bur] Khalifa. Dubm, United Arab Emirates

[Eae] Emaar Square, Building 3, Level 5, P.O. Bex 37172, Dubal, Umted Arah Emirates

148 Link House, 25 West Street, Poole, Dorset, BH15 ILD, United Kingdom

e 80 State Street Albany, New York 12207-2543, United States

0 1208 Orange Street. Wikmingron, New Castle County, Delaware, 19801, United States

= 201-0f Emaar Square, PQ Box £23311, Dubai. United Arab Emirates

15l 30 Finsbury Square, London, EC2A 1 AG, United Kingdom

90



MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS LIMITED

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SECTION 5

OTHER NOTES covmue

52 weels ended 26 December 2020 (2019: 52 weeks endad 28 December 2019

ANMNJAL REFORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

UH registered subsidiaries exernipl Irunn audit

The following subsidiaries are taking advantage of an exemption from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006. Merlm Entertainments Limited is
providing a statutery guarantee for any outstanding liabilidies of these subsidiaries. All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the consolidated financial
statermnents of Merlin Entertainments Limited as at 26 December 2020.

Subsidiary undertaking

Alton Towers Resort Operations Limited
Charcoal CLG | Limited

Charceal Midco | Limited

Charcoal Newco | Limited

Charcoal Newco la Limited

Chessington Hotel Limited

Chessington World of Adventures Operations Limited
LEGOLAND US Holdings Linited
LEGOLAND Windsor Park Limited
London Aguarium (South Bank) Limited
London Eye Holdings Limited

London Eye Management Services Limited

Merlin Entertaimiments (Asia Pacific) Limited

Company
number

06127441
06128422
06125930
06128686
06130062
05686193
06128521
06273037
02721728
06553877
05686179
02896849
03767102

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments (Blackpocl) Limited
Merlin Entertainments {(MBD) Limited
Merlin Entertainments Crown (UK) Limited
Merlin Entertinments Group Limited
Merlin Entertainments Group Operations Limited
Meriin UK Finance | A Limited

Merhin UK Finance 2A Limited

Merlin UK Finco | Limited

Merlin UK Finco 2 Limited

Merlin US Holdings Limited

SEA LIFE Cenrre (Blackpool) Limited
Thorpe Park Operations Lirmited

Company
number

02429776
05010879
09679586
05022287
03671093
11094850
11094942
08753258
08753263
06273035
02407713
06127478
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PIERLRTENTERTAINMENTS LY 4T

COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Cormpany statemient of flaandal position at 26 Decernber 2020 (2019 28 L=

2020 2019
Note £m £m
Non-current assets
Investments iii 3,160 3,160
Ameunts owed by Greup undertakings v 3.846 3843
Deferred tax assets 5 -
7.031 7,003
Current assets
Amounts owed by Group undertakings iv 14 46
Total assets 7,145 7.04%
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings i 3 2
Amounts owed to parent company vi 46 15
Amounts owed to Group undertakings v 154 6
Accruals | t
204 24
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings vi 193 303
Parent company loans vi 636 604
Preference shares treated as liabilities vi 2,132 2,120
Amounts o\;ved to Group undertaldngs v 2,502 2881
5963 5908
Total liabilities 6,167 5932
Net assets 373 l,l?‘f
Issied capital and reser ves aruibutable Lo owners of the Company Vil 978 - Li 17
Total equity 9738 ELEF?

The notes on pages 94 to 98 form part of these financial statements.
The parent Company financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 15 Aprit 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

hicic Yarney Aligcatr Windyhank
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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Company statement of changes in equity at 26 December 2020 (2019 28 Decemnber 2019)

AMBMUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2620

Share Share Retained Total
capital premium earnings equity
MNote £m £m £m £m
At 30 December 2018 10 16 3217 3243
Loss for the year T - T (6) (6)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - {6) (6)
Shares issued - 30 - 30
Bonus issue - - (2,1t7) (2.117)
Equuty dividends vii - {56) (56)
Share incentive schemes
- movement in reserves for employes share schemes i - - 23 23
At 28 December 2019 10 46 1,061 L7
Loss for the year - - {139) {139)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (139) (139)
At 26 December 2020 vii 10 46 922 978
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NOTES TO MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS LIMITED

COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

52 weelts ended 26 December 2020 (2019: 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2019}

i ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 "Reduced Disclosure Framework’ (FRS 101).

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, but makes amendments where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set
out below where advantage of the FRS [0 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The consolidated financial statements of Merlin Entertainments Limited are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and are available
to the public and may be obtained from Link House, 25 West Street, Poole, Dorset, BHIS 1LD. Company financial statements have been prepared and approved by
the Directors in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS {01 in respect of the following disclosures:
*  Cash flow statement and related notes;

*  Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

* Disclosures in respect of capital management;

*  The effects of new but not yet effective [FRSs:

*  Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel.

As the consalidated financial statements of Merlin Entertainments Linuted include the equivalent disclosures, the Company has also taken the exemptions under
FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

* IFRS 2 *‘Share-based payment’ in respect of Group settled share-based payments;

*  Certan disclosures required by IFRS |3 ‘Fair value measurement’ and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 *Financial instrument disclosures’.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.
These financial statements have been prepared for the 52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (201 9: 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019},

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not presented a profit and loss account of
the Company.

A summary of the Company's significant accounting policies is set out below.

Investments in subsidiaries

investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment. The carrying amount of the Company's investments in subsidiaries 1s reviewed annually to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the investment's recoverable amount is estimated. If the carrying value of the
investment exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment is considered to be impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss i
recognised in the income statement.

Fareign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resuiting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translaticn at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement unless it relates to items recognised directly 1n
equity, when it 1s recognised directly in equity, or when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, when it is recognised through the statement
of comprehensive income.

Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year. using tax rates substantively enacred at the end of the reperting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided on certain temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilives for financial reporting purposes and taxation purposes
respectively. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the inital recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assers or liabilities thar affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating o investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisanon or settlement of the carying amount
of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

After considering forecast future profits, deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which those assets
can be utilised,
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52 weeits ended 26 December 2020 (2016: 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2019

i ACCOUNTING POLICIES |CONTINUED}

Share-hased payments
The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at
grant date and charged as the employees become unconditionally entitled to the rights.

The Group's equity-settled share plans were settled either by the issue of shares by Merlin Entertainments plc or by the purchase of shares in the market. These
share plans all vested at the time of the acquisition of the Company in November 2819 when the Graup de-listed from the Landon Stock Exchange.

The fair value of the share plans 1s recognised as an expense over the expected vesting pericd net of deferred tax with a corresponding entry to retained earnings.
The fair value of the share plans is determined at the date of grant. Non-market based vesting conditions (i.e. earnings per share and return on capital employed
targets) are taken into account in estimating the number of awards likely to vest. The estimate of the number of awards hkely to vest is reviewed at each accounting
date up to the vesting date, at which point the estimate 1s adjusted to reflect the actual awards issued. No adjustment 1s made after the vesting date even if the
awards are forfeited or are not exercised.

The Group operated cash-settled versions of the employee incentive schemes for employees in certain territories. The issues and resulting charges of these schemes
were not material to the financial statements.

Loans to Group undertakings
Loans to Group undertakings are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision
for impar ment.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financizl position when the Company becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
accounting policy for each type of financial instrument is included within the relevant note,

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, unless otherwise noted, and are subseguently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset 1s derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or the Company
transfers the financial asset and substantially ail the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Financial liabilities are mitially measured at fair value, plus, in the case of other finangial liabilities. directly attributable wransaction cests. Other financiat liabilities.
primarity the Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss
and are held on the statement of financial position at fair value. A financial liability s derecognised when the Company's obligations are discharged. expire or are
cancelied. Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are dealt with as part of finance costs.

An equity instrument is any contract that has a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilivies. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly in equity.

Where financial instruments censist of a combination of debt and equity, the Company will assess the substance of the arrangement in place and decide how to
attribute values to each taking into consideration the policy definitions above.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
These are initially recognised at the principal value of the loan concerned, less any related fees. These fees are then amertised through the income statement on an
effective interest rate basis over the expected life of the loan (or over the contractual term where there is no dear indication that a shorter life 15 appropriate).

If the Company's estimate of the expected life based on repayment subsequently changes, the resulting adjustment to the effective interest rate calculaton is
recognised as a gan or |oss on re-measurement and presented separately in the income statement.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised through equity on the earbier of their approval by the Company's shareholders or their payment.

ii OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff numbers and costs

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was nine (201 9" nine). All employees were Directors of the Company. The employment
costs of the Directors of the Company have been borne by Mouon Acquisition Limited and Merln Entertainments Group Limited for their services to the Group as
a whole {20! 9 Merlin Entertoinments Group Umited). One Director accrued benefits under defined contribution schemes during the year (2019, one).

Auditgr's ramuneration

Fees paid to KPMG for audit and other services to the Company are not disclosed in its individual accounts as the Group accounts are required to disclose such fees
on a consolidated basis (note 2.1 of the consolidated financial statements).
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57 weels ended 26 Decernber 2020 (20149 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019

iii INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING

Shares in
subsidiary
undertaking
£m
Cost and carrying value
At 30 December 2018 3137
Capital contributions to subsidiaries 23
Ar 28 December 2019 i 3,160
Capital contributicns to subsidiares -
At 26 December 2020 3.160

Where subsidiary undertakings incur charges for share-based payments in respect of share options and awards granted by the Company. a capital contribution of the
same amount is recognised as an investment in subsidiary undertakings with a corresponding credit to shareholders’ equity.

The subsidiary undertaking at the year end is as follows:

Country of Description of
Company Acrivity incorporation Sharehelding shares held
Merlin Entertainments Group Luxembourg 3 Sa r.l. Holding company Luxembourg 100.0% Ordinary

A full list of Group companies is included in note 5.7 of the consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 91.

iv AMOUNTS OCWED BY GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

Current assets Non-current assets
2020 2019 2020 2019
im m £m £m
Amounts owed by Group undertakings 114 46 3.866 33843

Amounts owed by Group undertakings comprise funds loaned by the Company to fellow Group undertakings. The non-current loans carry mterest rates that are
based on the costs of servicing equivalent external bank facilities and loan notes. Most of these loans have maturities of 2026 and 2027.

v AMOUNTS OYWED TO GROUFP UNDERTAKINGS

Current liabilities Non-current liabilities
2020 019 2020 2019
£m £m £m £m
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 154 6 2902 2881

Amounts owed to Group undertakings comprise funds loaned to the Company by feflow Group undertakings. The non-current {oans carry interest rates that are
based on the costs of servicing equivalent external bank facitities and loan notes. Most of these lcans have maturities of 2026 and 2027.
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57 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2019 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2016}

vi INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Current liabilities Non-current abilities Tortal

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m £m £m £m £m

$400 millicn fixed rate notes due 2026 - - 293 303 293 303
Interest payable 3 2 - - 3 2
3 2 293 o303 296 305

Parent company loans - 636 604 636 604
Preference shares treated as labilicies - 2,132 2,120 2,132 2,120
Interest payable to parent company 46 15 - - 46 i5
46 15 2768 2,724 2814 2,739

49 7 3061 3,027 3,110 3.044

The Group's facilities are:

A bend in the form of $400 million eight year notes with a coupon rate of 5.75% to mature in june 2026.
*  Access to a £400 million revelving credit facility to mature in May 2026,

Loans from the Company's parent company, being Mation Acquisition Lemited.

Preference shares issued to the Company’s parent company, being Mortion Acquisition Limited.

Interest-bearing toans and berrowings are initially recogrised at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds {net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is amortised through the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fixed rate borrowings, which have been hedged to floating rates, are measured at amortised cost adjusted for changes in the value
attributable to the hedged risk arising from the changes in undertying market interest rates.

The $400 million notes are unsecured but guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Group is required to comply with certain non-financial
covenants in these notes. All covenant requirements were satisfied throughout the year,

vii EQUITY

Share capital

2020 2020 2019 2019
Number £m Number £m
Ordinary shares of £0.0] each
At beginning of the year 1.036,594,358 F0 1022,072.449 G
Shares issued - - 14521909 -
At end of the year 1,036594.358 [0 1036594358 10
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vii EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Crdinary shares
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at general meeungs of
the Company.

Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company ranks equally in all respects and no shareholder holds shares carrying special rights relating to the concrol of
the Company.

The naminal value of shares in issue is shown in share capital, with any additional consideration for those shares shown in share premium.

Preference shares

The preference shares earn interest in the form of dividends and will be redeemed as follows;

* A preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the €370,000,000 senior notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Mortion Bondco DAC
and any other Senior Parent Liabilities denominated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the A preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the notes are repaid
early (in full or in parc);

* B preference shares - at the rate of default interast payable pursuant to the $410,000,000 senior notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Motion Bendco DAC
and any other Semior Parent Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earfier date as the holder of the B preference shares or the Company may nctify to the other in the event that the notes are repaid
early (in full or in part):

*  C preference shares - at the rate of default iterest payable pursuant to the Euro Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabitities denominated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the Euro Senior Debt becomes repayable, or
any earler date as the holder of the C preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the Eurc Senior Debt is repaid early {in ful
or in part): and

* D preference shares - at the rate of default interest payzble pursuant o the USD Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities denominated in LSD. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the USD Semor Debt
becomes repayatle, or any earlier date as the holder of the D preference shares or the Company may notify to the sther in the event that the USD Senior Debt
is repaid early (in full or in part).

The preference shares rank ahead of the ordinary shares for ail purposes and no dividend, distribution, return of capital and/or reduction of capital shal! be paid on
the ordinary shares whilst there are any unpaid amounts of preference dividends which constitute a debt from and payable by the Company. The preference shares
carry no voting rights.

Rerained earnings
The loss after tax for the year in the accounts of Merlin Entertainments Limited is £139 million {2019 Joss after tox of £6 miflion). All of the Company's retained
earnings are distributable (with the exception of those movements in reserves for employee share schemes}).

Dividends
2020 2019
fm £m
Final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 29 December 2018 of 5.5 pence per share - 56
TFotal dividends paid - 56

When making dividend proposals the Directors consider the resources available to the Company and its subsidiaries. Specifically they take account of the Company’s
significant distributable profits, as nored above, as well as the position and liquidity of the Group disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial pesition.

The Directors of the Company have declared their intention not to pay a dividend for the year ended 26 December 2020 (201 9: £nif).

viii RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with subsidiary undertakings, which principally relate to the provision of funding within the Group, are carried out on an arm’s length basis. Outstanding
balances are placed on intercompany accounts {notes iv, v and vi).

For full details of transactions and arrangements with the Company's ultimate shareholders, see note 5.3 of the consolidated financial statements.
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GLOSSARY

Capex
Cluster

CWE

DreamWorks Tours ~ Shrek’s
Adventure!

EBITDA

Exceptional items

Existing estate (EE)
GDPR

IP

IPO

KPt

LBC

LCA

LDC

Like for like {LFL)

Listing
LLP
Merlin Magic Making (MMM)

Merlin's Magic Wand (MMW)

Midway or Midway attractions

MT

‘Met Promoter’ score

New Business Development (NBD)

MNon-core

Capital expenditure.
A group of attracuons located in a city close te one another.

Conservation, Welfare and Engagement. The SEA LIFE team that focuses on delivering worlg class animal welfare
throughout cur animal care retwork and developing new guest experiences.

This attraction is part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.

Profit before finance income and costs, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and mmpairment and after taking account
of attributable profic after tax of joint ventures.

Due to their nature, certain one-off and non-trading items can be classified as exceptional in order to draw them to
the attention of the reader and to show the underlying business performance more accurately.

EE comprises all attracticns other than new apenings.

General Data Protection Regulation.

Intellectual Property.

Initial Public Offering,

Key Performance Indicator,

Little BIG City attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.

Licence and Co-operation agreement. This agreement sets cut the rights granted to the Group to use the LEGO
and LEGOLAND brands.

LEGOLAND Discovery Cenure attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.

2020 LFL growth refers to the growth between 2019 and 2020 on a constant currency basis using 2019 exchange
rates and includes all businesses cwned and operated before the start of 2019,

Lisung on the London Stock Exchange,
LEGOLAND Parks Operating Group.

MMM is the unique resource that sits at the heart of everything Merlin does. It is our specialist in-house site-search
and business development; creative design: production; and project managerent team. MMM also pursues
acquisition and investrent opportunities.

MMW forms a key element of Merlin's Corporate Social Responsibility commitment. Our partner children’s charity
delivers magical experiences around the world to children who are facing challenges of serious illness, disability
or adversity.

The Midway Attractions Cperating Group and/or the Midway attractions within it. Midway attractions are typically
smaller, indoor attractions located in city centres, resorts or shopping malls.

Madame Tussauds attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.
How we measure the propensity of cur customers to recommend our attractions.

NBD relates to atrractions that are newly opened or under development for future opening, together with the
addition of new accommedation at existing sites. New openings can include both Midway attractions and new theme
parks. NBDY combines with the existing estate to give the full estate of attractions.

Arwractions which Merlin has ceased the operation of during the period.
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GLOSSARY

Operating free cash flow
Rooms

RPC

RTP

Second gate

SLC

The Code

The Merlin Way
Top Box
Underlying

Visitors

Wizard Wants to Know (WWTK)

Terms used

Unless otherwise stated, the terms '‘Meriin’, "Merlin Entertainments’, ‘the Group', "We' and 'Us’ refer to the Company (Merlin Entertainments Limited) and, as applicable,

Underlying EBITDA less existing estate capex.

A single accommodation unit at one of our theme parks, for example a hotel room, lodge or glamping tent.
Revenue per capita. defined as visitor revenue drvided by number of visitors.

Resort Theme Parks Operating Group.

A visitor attraction at an existing resort with a separate entrance and for which additional admission fees are
charged.

SEA LIFE Centre aguarium attractions. These are part of the Midway Artractions Cperating Group,
UK Corporate Governance Code.

The culture of the Group which encompasses our vision and values.

The highest level of customer satisfaction that we record in our customer surveys.

Underlying information presented excludes exceptional items that are classified separately within the
financial statements.

Represents all individual visits to Merlin owned or operated attracvons.

WWTK is our annual onaline employee survey.

its subsicharies and/or ntarests in joint ventures,

Percentages are calculated based on figures before rounding and are then rounded to one decimal place.
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Foreign exchange rate sensitivity
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The Group's income staterent is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates principally on the translation of our non Sterfing earnings. The tables below
show the impact on 2020 revenues and EBITDA of re-translating them at 2019 foreign exchange (FX) rates. The weighted average exchange rates are calculated by
reference to the foreign currency revenue and EBITDA for the period as 2 whole, compared to the Sterling balance that results following thew wranslatdon each month
within the Group conselidation. The calculated ERITDA FX rates may therefore be affected where foreign currency earnings move beeween months from being posiuve

or negative.
2019 2020 %age Revenue
average average movement impact
Currency FX rates FX rates in FX rates £m
UsD 128 1.29 1.3% b
EUR .13 il {1.3)% -
AUD 1.83 1.87 1.8% |
Other -
Increase in 2020 revenues at 2019 FX rates 2
2019 2020 %age EBITDA
average average maovement impact
Currency FX rates FX rates in FX rates £m
uso 1.28 1.26 {(1.7)% |
EUR 112 091 (189)% -
AUD |84 1.83 {0.3)% -
Crther |
Increase in 2020 EBITDA at 2019 FX rates 2
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